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NOTE

In three earlier books of mine there were in-
cluded, together with shorter articles, the detailed
stories of certain murders. The Borden case had a
long chapter, with two postscripts. The crimes of
Louis Wagner on the island of Smutty Nose; the
curious circumstances of the death of Mrs. Meser-
vey at Tenants Harbor; and the Patrick trial, were
all described at length. It often seems more satis-
factory to tell them so, with attention to back-
ground and minor incident.

In magazine publication this is impossible. The
editor of Vanity Fair asked me to write about a
few murders, and these articles, of course, had to
be brief. Some readers probably found them ac-
ceptable, since the series, planned to be five or six
in number, has continued until there are now be-
tween forty and fifty. The chapters in this book
are from this series. To most of them additions
have been made—half a page, or four or five
pages.

It is easy to repeat oneself in such a book, and,

looking it over, I notice four or five references to
xi



xii NOTE

Miss Lizzie Borden and her adventures in Fall
River. To leave these is to run the dreadful risk
of being compared to Mr. Dick with King Charles’s
head. Or, even worse, to have some one say that I
am suffering from a complex or an obsession.
Nevertheless, it seems best to let them remain.

My reason is that there is still a fair amount of
interest in the lady. Hardly does a month pass
when I do not get some inquiry about her. More
remarkable than this was an incident of a little
over a year ago.

The barn, behind the old Borden house, was be-
ing taken down by the present owners of the prem-
ises. The object, it is said, was to put up a brick
building to be used as a manufactory of stuffed
cotton rabbits, for the Easter trade. Some news-
paper reporters were present at the demolition,
and, by an odd coincidence, there fell out from the
rafters a rusty implement, described as an “axe”
or a “hatchet.”

As a matter of fact, it was neither of these, but a
“cooper’s hammer.”

Its real name and description were seldom
printed in the items which appeared throughout
the country for the next six months—and which
will continue to appear. It was usually described
as “‘perhaps, the missing Borden axe.”



NOTE xiii

The hatchet actually used in the murders was
probably produced at the trial, but this was now
ignored. Also was it ignored that there was clear
testimony at the trial that the murders were done
with a sharp-edged weapon, having a blade three
or four inches long. This newly discovered object
had a dull edge, about one and one-half inches long.
The question whether it bore blood stains was
about as important as whether there were blood
stains on the spire of the Central Congregational
Church.

Yet the question of blood, or no blood, was sol-
emnly debated for months; and the local govern-
ment actually paid (not without some loud, public
groans) two or three hundred dollars, to an
analytical chemist, in order to get a report which
divulged—nothing of importance.

It recalls a remark made at the end of one of Mr.
Anthony Berkeley’s novels. Said the Inspector
from Scotland Yard to the amateur detective:

“Do you know what’s the matter with you, sir?
You've been reading too many of these detective

Y]
stories. EDpMUND PEARSON.
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I
MRS. WHARTON’S HOUSE-PARTY

One cheerful Saturday in June, nearly sixty
years ago, General William Scott Ketchum left
his home in Washington for a week-end visit at
the house of his old friend, Mrs. Elizabeth
Wharton of Baltimore. He was a retired offi-
cer of the Army, both hale and hearty after his
Western campaigns. But he was now on a more
dangerous expedition than any foray against
the Indians or the Mormons. Like Doctor Park-
man of Boston, he was bent on collecting a debt.

The General had lent the widow of a brother
officer, the late Major Wharton, the sum of
$2,600, and taken her note. He told his friends
that he was going to get the money, and also
wish Mrs. Wharton a pleasant voyage to Eu-
rope. She was preparing to sail in a week or
two.

Something has been said about a number of
very fatiguing business affairs attended to by
General Ketchum on that warm morning be-
fore he took the train. There is also a rumor
about a slice of water-melon which he ate. (Peo-
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4 INSTIGATION OF THE DEVIL

ple always love to blame water-melons.) Noth-
ing, however, really appears about this, and it
is a matter of historical record that there is al-
ways much loose talk about the dietary indis-
cretions and drug-taking habits of gentlemen
who, under the ministering care of ladies, have
perished mysteriously.

When Mrs. Maybrick of Liverpool was con-
victed of poisoning her husband with arsenic,
there was some foundation for this talk. Doubt
was expressed about the verdict, and justly,
since Mr. Maybrick not only took noxious drugs
for his own peculiar pleasures, but was also ex-
perimented upon, by his puzzled physicians, with
nine more or less deadly substances—almost the
whole pharmacopeeia—in their vain efforts to
bring him back from the valley of the shadow.

With General Ketchum, however, all gossip
about water-melons, opium, and other things so
bad for retired brigadier-generals, is beside the
point. He arrived in good shape and spirits, as
attested by a Mrs. Chubb who came with him.

He was received by Mrs. Wharton as cor-
dially as he could expect, since she knew that it
was his purpose to cast some gloom over her
European plans by murmuring, at the first op-

portunity:
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“About that matter of the $2,600 . . . ?”

Mrs. Wharton’s ménage seems to have been
extensive. I do not know whether she kept a
boarding-house, or whether she was exercising
the justly-famed Southern hospitality, but her
place was full of guests and callers. There were
Mr. and Mrs. Van Ness, Mrs. Hutton, Mrs.
Loney and others. Soon they were all merrily
chattering and shaking up drinks.

Mrs. Wharton proposed to General Ketchum
a glass of lemonade. He blanched at the sug-
gestion of this acid beverage, but said that he
believed that “if it had a stick in it,” he might
undergo the risk. At a later date an explana-
tion had to be made for the benefit of the Judge,
who could not be expected to know what a
“stick” was. It took the form of brandy.

The history of the following few days is one
of milk-punches, sangaree, brandy concoctions,
and beer. It was not that these gentlefolk de-
voted themselves to getting tipsy with alcohol:
it might have been better if they had. But some-
one was forever mixing for someone else a
drink, homely enough in its name and appear-
ance, but toxic, indeed, in its result.

General Ketchum was violently ill the eve-
ning of his arrival. He could not go to church
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on Sunday, nor return to Washington on Mon-
day. Mrs. Wharton continued to ply him with
drinks, and to preside over the medicines which
were given him. He recovered, and arose from
his bed ; and then became ill again.

At last, after some extremely painful scenes,
which always followed the administration of
any new draught by the hostess, he died—one
week after his arrival in Baltimore.

On one occasion he remarked—

“Mrs. Wharton has poisoned me with a glass
of lemonade.”

This, of course, was officially waved aside as
“a jocular remark of the old gentleman.” If
that was its correct description, it was the only
jocularity in which he indulged during the last
seven days of his life. I have seldom read of a
more depressing week-end party than this fes-
tival of Mrs. Wharton's.

Not one of the ladies was ill, but Mr. Van
Ness, who was a banker, and familiar with Mrs.
Wharton’s financial affairs, very nearly expired,
under the same distressing symptoms which
marked the illness of General Ketchum. In a
glass of beer offered to Mr. Van Ness by his
hostess, but declined by him (he had already
had some of her drinks) there were found, it
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was asserted, fifteen grains of tartar emetic—
which contains the poison, antimony.

The same drug was found in a milk-punch
thoughtfully mixed for General Ketchum by
Mrs. Wharton. Now, it was rather embarrass-
ing for Mrs. Wharton that she had to admit
having bought tartar emetic during the week.
She used it, she said, for some ailment of her
own, as an external application.

Whatever one may think of Mrs. Wharton,
she is entitled to our gratitude for this varia-
tion from the classic excuse for the possession
of poison. Ninety-nine times out of a hundred,
ladies in her difficult situation, found with ar-
senic in the house, make use of one of two well-
worn explanations: either they have needed it
to destroy rats, or else they wished to enhance
the beauty of their own complexions.

In some families, the opposite results have
been obtained: the husband has been destroyed,
and the rats have had their complexions im-
proved.

With both gentlemen of the party in convul-
sions, in their separate rooms, two of the other
guests, Mrs. Van Ness and Mrs. Loney, began
a campaign of sipping, testing and tasting the
beverages which Mrs. Wharton produced, from
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time to time, from her laboratory. They agreed
that whether they were called beer, milk-punch,
sangaree or a dose of “yellow jasmine” (the
remedy prescribed for General Ketchum by his
physician) they were all alike in tasting “like
a brass pin.”

After General Ketchum had passed from this
earthly life, and Mr. Van Ness had recovered,
Mrs. Wharton continued her packing and prep-
arations for Europe. The outraged people of
the State of Maryland, however, interfered with
her trip, and insisted upon bringing her to trial.
So aroused against her were the inhabitants of
her own city, that in order to safe-guard her
rights, the trial was held in Annapolis, where
it was daily attended by officers from the Naval
Academy—as was seen by the prevalence of
sailor-like whiskers upon the faces of gentlemen
in the audience.

The New York Sun bluntly referred to Mrs.
Wharton as “The Baltimore Borgia,” but the
law of her own State showed far more delicacy.
The total disappearance of General Ketchum’s
waistcoat, shortly after his death, and with it
the disappearance of Mrs. Wharton’s note for
$2,600 were points to be explained. The lady
said that she had paid the debt in cash, and then,
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on the General’s advice, torn up the note. She
owed the Ketchum estate nothing: on the con-
trary, they were indebted to her for $4,000—
the amount of some bonds which the General
was keeping for her.

The bonds were not to be found, and she had
no receipt for them. General Ketchum had been
fussily exact in his private bookkeeping, yet he
had left, in his account books, no entry of the
bonds. Mrs. Wharton claimed them, however,
and considered herself an ill-used woman.

In any transaction of life, upon which one
might be called to make a decision, so interest-
ing a fact as the simultaneous illness of Mr.
Van Ness, during the last agonies of the Gen-
eral, would be considered both pertinent and es-
sential. But not in a trial of this kind. So ten-
derly does our law protect persons accused of
grave crime that the jury were allowed to hear
nothing of the banker’s ordeal.

This is one of the many reasons why the
sleepless nights endured by tender-hearted peo-
ple, who disturb themselves about the law’s bru-
tal treatment of suspected murderers, seem
rather unnecessary; and why the logic of these
folk appears slightly anserine.

The trial of Mrs. Wharton dragged on from
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December 4, 1871, until late in January. The
listeners, the jury, and the reporters all became
horribly bored. The prisoner sat impassive in
Court, shrouded in a heavy black veil. Her hus-
band had died four years earlier; and her son,
also an army officer, had died in his mother’s
house twelve months since, leaving her the
amount of his life insurance. No grounds for
suspicion attached to her, so far as I know, in
these deaths.

The trial developed into a combat, a series of
field-days, and an all-round good time for the
doctors and other medical and chemical experts.
The first of these, the luxuriously whiskered
Doctor Williams, may be seen giving testimony
in the picture accompanying this chapter. It
was Doctor Williams who prescribed yellow
jasmine. Mrs. Wharton had prepared the sec-
ond dose of this remedy, and insisted on giving
it to the sufferer ahead of time—as the first
dose ‘“had done him so much good.” The effects
of this second dose were dreadful to witness.
Mrs. Wharton kept the cup and spoon within
her own care,

Doctor Williams and four or five other doc-
tors or professors of chemistry agreed that the
General had not died from natural causes. They
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agreed, with more or less certainty, that poison-
ing by antimony would account for the symp-
toms. Doctor Williams had expressed his be-
lief, before the death, that his patient had been
poisoned. Two qualified analytical chemists tes-
tified to antimony in the General’s body.

The defense, however, produced an amazing
battery of experts. Among them Professor Mc-
Culloch and Doctors Genth and Goolrick were
impressive. These gentlemen, with seven or
eight others, attacked the chemical learning of
the witnesses for the State and re-enforced their
opinion by means of a very attractive little
working-model of the stomach of the late Gen-
eral Ketchum, used in place of the original—
which they had never seen.

Some of these doctors and professors thought
that the General might have died from cerebro-
spinal meningitis—then an even more obscure
disease than it is now. It was, of course, an
odd coincidence that General Ketchum, coming
from Washington, and Mr. Van Ness of Balti-
more, should each have been so inconsiderate
as to bring his case of cerebro-spinal to Mrs.
Wharton’s house-party. But, owing to the ten-
derness of the law previously referred to, this
strange working of the doctrine of chance did
not have to be explained by the defense.
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In the end it came to this: the State’s analysts
felt that their tests established the presence of
antimony in the General’s body; the opposing
analysts said that the tests should have been
carried further.

A flat disagreement of experts resulted, as
usual, in surrounding the minds of the jury by
a dense fog. After some thought, they acquitted
Mrs. Wharton. She was still under indictment
for trying to poison Mr. Van Ness, but the
State decided that it was not worth while to
prosecute this charge. So the lady went free
—not exactly with the cheers of her fellow Bal-
timoreans.

She had made a serious blunder in tearing up
the note and destroying all evidence that she had
squared such a considerable debt. Had she not
done this, the Marylanders might have been
more gallant toward her. As it was, a number
of years had to pass before there was any real
rivalry for an invitation to one of her week-end

parties.



II

THE COLT-ADAMS AFFAIR

Mr. Asa H. Wheeler was a teacher of pen-
manship and bookkeeping. A blameless gentle-
man, no doubt, but he first appears in history
in the undignified act of peeping through a key-
hole. And aided and abetted by one of his pu-
pils,—a youth named Arzac Seignette.

The reasons were these: Mr. Wheeler’s
school was in a granite building at the corner of
Chambers Street and Broadway, where Del-
monico’s was later to be situated. One chilly
September afternoon in the year 1841—John
Tyler being President of the United States, and
peace generally prevailing in lower Broadway
and City Hall Park—Mr. Wheeler was sitting
in his school-room, quite as usual. His calm,
and that of young Mr. Seignette, was suddenly
broken by a curious noise in the next room. It
sounded “like the clashing of foils”; afterwards
there was a violent fall on the floor.

Zsthetic dancing had not yet come in, and
Mr. Wheeler at once suspected serious trouble.
His neighbor was another expert in bookkeep-

13
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ing: Mr. John C. Colt,—famous, until this
moment, chiefly through his brother, Colonel
Samuel Colt, who invented the revolver. The
Colonel had his offices in the tower of the old
New York University in Washington Square,
but Mr. John pursued his profession—and ar-
gued about the rent, with his landlord, Mr.
Wheeler—in this building, at the corner of
Chambers Street, so near City Hall.

Mr. Colt had written a manual on bookkeep-
ing, and was in the agonies of getting it pub-
lished. Mr. Wheeler probably knew this, and
also knew something about the peevish temper
of authors at such times. He went into the hall,
and put his eye to the keyhole of Mr. Colt’s
door. The drop was down, but he poked at it
with a quill pen, and pushed it aside. The
teacher was then able to see a man, in his shirt-
sleeves, bending over something, and apparently
in the act of sawing. The limited possibilities of
the keyhole prevented Mr. Wheeler from hav-
ing a great shock: he was unable to see what it
was on the floor which engaged the attention of
the man in shirt-sleeves.

He and his pupil whispered and consulted,
and took turns at the keyhole. Other pupils
came, and were sent to fetch the owner of the
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building, or the janitor, or a police officer. They
knocked at the door—somewhat timidly—and
tried stratagems to induce the occupants to open
unto them. They were on watch, by turns, until
the evening, but learned nothing of importance.
The man inside evidently discovered the key-
hole, for he blocked it up, so that that source of
entertainment had gone.

Next morning, Mr. Wheeler borrowed a key
and entered Mr. Colt’s room. It was then
empty. A large box, which had been noticeable
the afternoon before, was no longer there. The
floor had been scrubbed, and was still damp.
Oil and ink had been spilled here and there, and
thrown in spots on the wall. Mr. Wheeler
thought his dark thoughts—Ilike Mr. Littlefield,
janitor of the college where Professor Webster
was to become so celebrated eight years later.
But there was nothing to do but retire to his
own quarters.

Half an hour later he had a call from Mr.
Colt, who was very talkative. So talkative, in
fact, that it was hard for Mr. Wheeler to get
in his question:

“Mr. Colt, what noise was that in your room
yesterday afternoon?”’

The reply was:
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“You must be mistaken, as I was out all the
afternoon.”

A day or two afterwards, however, Colt ad-
mitted that he had upset a table, spilt some ink,
knocked down some books, and made “a deuced
mess.” Later in the week Mr. Colt, “in a
very friendly and urgent manner,” invited Mr.
Wheeler to come into his room, ‘“to have some
conversation on the subject of bookkeeping.”

The invitation was repeated, but Mr. Wheeler
declined, politely and resolutely. The celebrated
wild horses, had any of them been available,
would not have been sufficient to get the teacher
into Mr. Colt’s rooms.

Four days after the disturbance, it became
generally known in New York that one of
the city’s best printers was missing. Samuel
Adams, whose place of business was at the cor-
ner of Ann and Gold Streets, had gone out to
collect some bills, on the same Friday afternoon
when Mr. Wheeler had been called to the key-
hole. Since then, no one had been able to find
him. One of his debtors was Colt, and the
discovery of this fact had strengthened Mr.
Wheeler’s determination to engage in no pri-
vate conferences in his neighbor’s apartment,—
no matter what alluring prospects might be held
out of a little chat about bookkeeping.
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A few more days passed, and Mr. Adams’s
family and friends were advertising and mak-
ing anxious inquiries. The Mayor took a hand,
and, with the police, interested himself in trac-
ing the box which had vanished from Colt’s
room. Some drivers of carts gave information
which led to the hold of the ship Kalamazoo,
lying at the foot of Maiden Lane and taking on
a cargo for New Orleans.

The hold was entered; barrels and crates
were swung out. There was no difficulty in find-
ing the box. It was opened, and the problem of
the missing printer was solved.

The betting was general that it would be im-
possible to get a conviction against Colt, or to
execute the sentence if he were condemned. He
was too rich, men said; his family and friends
were too wealthy and highly connected. He had
still another brother who was a judge, in St.
Louis.

However this may have been, Mr. Colt him-
self was in no condition of power or prosperity.
He dwelt obscurely, with his mistress, Caroline
Henshaw. His financial condition was precari-
ous: the disputed rent with Wheeler had been
ten or fifteen dollars and the debt to Mr. Adams
was only about fifty.
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When he was tried in the City Hall, in the
following January, the State traced the progress
of the victim’s body from Colt’s room to the
hold of the Kalamazoo. Law Octon, the janitor
of the building, a citizen of African ancestry,
had seen Colt slide the box downstairs, the
morning after the murder. If he had any sus-
picions at the time, he decided to be discreet.
The driver of a wagon told of being employed
by Mr. Colt to take the box to the ship. It was
addressed to R. P. Gross of St. Louis, in the
care of “Mr. Gray, New Orleans.”

Who Mr. Gross may have been, for whom
this charming surprise was prepared, I have
not been able to learn. Had the box arrived at
his address the situation would have anticipated
that in two of Stevenson’s stories: “The Wrong
Box” and “The New Arabian Nights.”

Mr. Colt’s brother, Colonel Samuel, appeared
as a witness for the defense, and so did the
beautiful Miss Henshaw. The statement that
she was beautiful—with black eyes, and hair
the color of ripe corn—is made by a modern
writer; a contemporary account merely says
that “she presented an interesting appearance.”
Neither of these witnesses could aid him much.

The defense were forced to rely on the pris-
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oner’s own statement, a very long statement,
read to the jury by one of his counsel. The kill-
‘ing of Adams was acknowledged, and the justi-
fication was self-defense. They had quarrelled
over the debt; the printer had accused the au-
thor of trying to cheat. Each called the other
a liar, and a fight ensued. Adams was getting
the best of it, and choking Colt, by twisting his
“neck handkerchief.” Colt seized a hammer
and struck the other on the head. To his fright
and horror, the blow was fatal. He did not dare
confess; he lost his nerve and tried to conceal
the crime.

This story was not well substantiated by the
known facts, and was plainly disbelieved by the
jury. They found him guilty of murder, and he
was sentenced to death. All legal expedients
were tried, but without effect.

Now, so great was the public interest in him,
and so firm a trust had everyone in his fam-
ily’s influence, that legends began to arise. He
was to escape from the Tombs in woman’s
clothes. The scheme failed. After he was
hanged his body was to be delivered to a doctor
for resuscitation; the scene of this event was
all prepared—in Brooklyn, I believe. This yarn
is always popular; it is as old as Tyburn Tree,
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and as new as the electric chair at Sing Sing.
But all plans, real or imaginary, failed to save
Mr. Colt alive.

The day set for the hanging was one to give
any newspaper man an apoplectic fit. Three or
four sensations developed, in place of one.
First, there was the marriage of Colt to Miss
Henshaw. This took place in the cell at the
Tombs. The Reverend Doctor Anthon, rector
of St. Mark’s, who was the prisoner’s spiritual
adviser, read the service. Among those present
was John Howard Payne, author of Home,
Sweet Home, an acquaintance of the condemned
man.

After the marriage, Mr. Gaylord Clarke, who
seems to have been one of the guests, departed
in a cab, and took with him Doctor Anthon and
Mr. Payne. They left the clergyman at his
home, in St. Mark’s Place, and then drove over
to Washington Square to call on Colonel Colt,
in the University building.

They found this gentleman, naturally very
much depressed, and sitting at a table with his
hat drawn down over his eyes. The hanging
was to take place at four in the afternoon. As
they sat there, a cabman rushed up the stairs,
shouting :
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“Colonel Colt! Your brother has killed him-
self! Stabbed himself to the heart! And the
Tombs is on fire—you can see it from the roof !”’

The Colonel thanked God, at the news that
his brother had contrived to escape the gallows.
Other people came and confirmed the news.
Some of these men went up to the roof of the
building, and—there being, at that time, no tall
structures in the way—they could easily see a
wisp of smoke curling up from the cupola of
the Tombs. Mr. Clarke wrote:

“There was something peculiar about the air
—the atmosphere—on that day. One felt as
one feels on a cold autumnal night, while watch-
ing . . . the flickering of the aurora borealis
in the northern sky. As early as half past three
that afternoon, two stars were distinctly visible
through the cold thin atmosphere. This was re-
garded at the time as a remarkable phenom-
enon.”

What had happened was this. After the wit-
nesses had gone and the bride had departed,
Colt was left alone in his cell. Somebody had
provided him with a knife, and with it he
stabbed himself. He was found, an hour or
two before the time of execution, lying dead
upon his cot. Shortly afterwards, fire broke out
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in the cupola of the prison. It did not amount
to much, but happening, as it did, so soon after
the suicide, it gave color to the story that Colt
had really escaped. The fire was part of the
plot, said the romantics; the dead body was not
Colt’s; during the excitement, an escape had
been contrived ; and the influential murderer had
cheated the law, after all.

This story persisted for years, and was a
favorite with those who always know a little
more than everybody else. One version of it
placed Colt in California, ten years later, living
with a beautiful yellow-haired lady, and enact-
ing the role of Spanish ranchero.

It is probably as much a matter of fancy as
the stories about the survival of John Wilkes
Booth. Doctor Anthon testified as to the death
of Colt, and under his supervision the body was
buried in St. Mark’s. And the clergyman was
neither a fool nor a rascal.
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WHAT DOES A MURDERER LOOK
LIKE?

In a reformatory which I once visited the
warden made two remarks about the theory of
the “criminal type.”

“Lombroso,” said the warden, “believes that
there are certain physical signs of the criminal;
and that by observing the facial angle, or mea-
suring the cranium, you can distinguish the man
who is predisposed to crime.”

He paused, and then continued without the
flicker of a smile:

“I will guarantee that every facial character-
istic, every measurement of the head which you
find among the men in this institution, can be
duplicated in the present Legislature of this
State.”

Disregarding the flippant impulse to suggest
that this merely confirms the general impression
of Legislatures, it should be said that experi-
ment has proved that the warden’s assertion
was justified. Take any group of 600 men, give

23



24 INSTIGATION OF THE DEVIL

them the pallor, the cropped head, and the prison
clothes, and place them beside 600 convicts. In
both groups you would find a few “evil-looking”
men; a few noble-looking ones; some, intelli-
gent in appearance, some sly, and some stupid.
About the only great difference would be that
among the convicts there would probably be a
larger percentage of the stupid type.

This is a layman’s method. In a scientific
manner, Doctor Goring, in the English prisons,
made measurements of 3,000 convicts, and then
of a great number of students in the universi-
ties. All the so-called “stigmata” of the con-
victs were found among the university students!
There were about the same differences in cra-
nial measurements between the graduates of
Cambridge and graduates of Oxford, as be-
tween the criminals and the law-abiding people.

Some of the famous criminal lawyers, men
who have spent their lives in restoring the bur-
glar to his friends and his relations, and saving
murderers from punishment, are fond of going
about the country preaching that man is a ma-
chine, and that the criminal simply cannot help
committing crime.

Not one of these gentlemen has explained
why the criminal is so much more successful in



HOW DOES A MURDERER LOOK ? 25

resisting criminal impulses in Windsor, Ontario
(for example), than directly across the river in
Detroit.

“The glands which cause crime” (joyfully
believed in by those who take their scientific
information from the Sunday supplements)
hardly seem to be present in the human body,
when that body happens to dwell under the Ca-
nadian or the British law! “The glands which
cause crime’” become mysteriously active in di-
rect proportion to the ease with which the crim-
inal law is cheated in the country where the
owner of those glands is living.

Convicts include but few of the ‘“perfect
beasts” which one class of sentimentalists im-
agine; still more is it hard to find among them
the capital fellows, who have been cruelly mis-
understood and unjustly confined, which an-
other class of sentimentalists seem to think make
up the inmates of a prison.

The murderer is a superior type of criminal,
according to some of the authorities.

“I have known many murderers whose sen-
tences were commuted,” writes Sir Basil Thom-
son. “I can remember only one—Steinie Mor-
rison—whom I would not trust not to commit
a second murder. The rest were always a good
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influence in the prison and qualified themselves
for positions of trust.”

Doubtless this view was shared by the Gov-
ernor of an American State who recently took
two murderers from the State Prison with him
on a fishing and hunting trip,—as boatmen and
gun-bearers. But I think I read that people in
Canada, where the Governor’s party travelled,
were not wholly pleased. That Governor, I
should expect to find, was the kind of person
who, as a boy, left loaded revolvers lying about
in the house, and considered it rather amusing
to do so.

A man who commits murder, says one brand
of dogmatist, rarely commits any other crime.
This is his only offense. The statement sounds
rather well, until one remembers Jesse James,
Gerald Chapman, and the great horde of bur-
glars and others who have included murder in
their programmes.

You frequently hear it said that all mur-
derers are insane. If not raving lunatics, they
are insane at the moment of the crime, and
that is why it is useless to punish them. This
assertion represents thought at its lowest ebb.
I used to believe that it had at least a noble mo-
tive behind it; the desire to make a merciful ex-
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cuse for sin. But I am coming to agree with
William Bolitho that it represents mercy not so
often as cowardice; not so much the desire to
excuse others as to defend one’s self. Most of
the folk who have committed murder are not
insane; they are “nastily like ourselves,” and
their dreadful deed only represents something
which, under certain circumstances, we might
have done. The plea of insanity may be raised
to save a guilty man, or it may be only a cry of
horror to prove that there is a wide difference
between the wicked murderers and ourselves,
—virtuous folk that we are!

There are few subjects upon which people are
so ready to dogmatize as upon the signs of in-
nocence or of guilt. And few upon which they
are so willing to jump to general conclusions
from one instance. During the strange mani-
festations of mob psychology which appeared
in the Sacco-Vanzetti agitation, more than one
person remarked upon the noble utterances of
the condemned men, and argued innocence
therefrom. One of the intellectual weeklies was
much impressed by their dying speeches, and
asked solemnly if these were the words of guilty
men.

Well, Carlyle Harris poisoned his young
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wife, and took his seat in the electric chair with
simple dignity—a neatly turned phrase upon his
lips. He quietly asserted his perfect innocence.

Doctor Pritchard, of Glasgow, poisoned his
wife and mother-in-law, and tried to save him-
self by putting the blame upon the sixteen-year-
old housemaid. When his public execution took
place, he turned with a smile to one of the at-
tending clergy, and impressively thanked him
for appearing in full canonicals. Doctor Nor-
man Macleod, the other clergyman, who es-
corted Pritchard to the gallows, wrote:

“As to his behaviour, . . . no patriot dying
for his country, no martyr dying for his faith,
could have behaved with greater calmness, dig-
nity, and solemnity! . . . He marched to the
scaffold with a deadly pale face but erect head,
as if he marched to the sound of music.”’*

So much for the argument of innocence based
on behavior at execution.

And, about the time of the Sacco-Vanzetti
affair, there was published in the papers an
interview with a newspaper reporter, Charles
A. Leigh, who has witnessed eighty executions
at the New Jersey State Prison. Every one of
the eighty murderers protested his innocence to
the last.

*See “Malice Domestic,” by William Roughead.
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But it is upon looks, upon facial character-
istics, that your ready-made criminologist, your
reader-of-character-at-a-glance, is most willing
to rely.

“Why, he doesn’t look like a murderer!” say
these folk. And they reach for a pen to sign a
petition to the governor.

“What, that innocent-looking boy?” “That
sweet-faced woman?” “That poor, honest work-
ing-man with such appealing eyes?”” “Never in
the world!”

Their sympathies are enlisted in the prison-
er’s behalf, and presently they join in calling all
the authorities by the harshest of names. Gov-
ernors, judges, presidents of universities,—all
are tyrants and hangmen. To the humanitari-
ans who agitate to procure the release of con-
demned murderers the world is a black place,
full of scheming villains. Figures of pure radi-
ance seem to exist only in the cells of the con-
demned.

The six persons whose portraits are given
herewith were not from the “criminal classes.”
All except one—Louis Wagner—were appar-
ently good middle- or upper middle-class folk.
Major Armstrong was a Master of Arts of
Cambridge University, and a solicitor, living in
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comfort, and enjoying some social position in a
small English, or rather Welsh, town. The Rev-
erend Mr. Richeson had been graduated from a
theological seminary, and was the pastor of a
church in Cambridge, Mass. Doctor Lamson
was an English physician who had occasionally
visited in Saratoga and other places in New
York.

Ronald True passed as an officer and a gen-
tleman, in both the British and American avia-
tion services during the War. He murdered a
prostitute for no apparent reason except to rob
her of £8. He was found legally insane; unless
he has died, he is still confined in an asylum.
The commutation of his sentence was much
criticized, and there were those who believed
that he fooled the doctors and the law to the end.

Mrs. Thompson seemed to be a perfectly nor-
mal person; she suffered the extreme penalty of
the law because of the extraordinary letters to
her lover, in which she represented herself as
trying to poison her husband. When that lover
stabbed the husband to death, in her presence,
she was held to be a party to the crime.

Louis Wagner was a man in most humble
circumstances; an ill-educated fisherman; poor,
but no better and apparently no worse than the
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average man living among sailors and fisher-
men on the waterfront of seaport towns. His
photograph was taken during his long confine-
ment in prison prior to his execution; I suspect
that the photographer, or some kindly jailor,
lent the clothes to give him the tidy and almost
clerical appearance.

I shall be surprised if some who see these
pictures do not fancy that they detect crimi-
nal or murderous characteristics in all of the
faces. I should be surprised if these same peo-
ple, if they had been told in the printed cap-
tions, that these were not murderers, but the
board of directors of some charitable and phil-
anthropic society, did not remark that these
were very kindly and pleasant persons. For my-
self, I can see murder in none of the faces. Yet
five of these people committed cruel and atro-
cious crimes; the victims of Major Armstrong,
Doctor Lamson and Mr. Richeson died in
agony, after hours of suffering. The victims
were a wife; a crippled brother-in-law; and a
betrayed and deceived sweetheart,—a girl of
nineteen.

Mr. Richeson confessed his crime; the others
all protested their innocence, although there is
no doubt about their guilt, with the barely pos-
sible exception of Mrs. Thompson.
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Louis Wagner rowed out from Portsmouth,
N. H,, to the Isles of Shoals, on a winter’s
night, surprised three sleeping women, whom
he knew to be there alone, and murdered two of
them with an axe. The other, who fled in the
snow, clad in her nightdress, he hunted, but
failed to find. All of them had been his kindly
friends. He hoped to find $600 in their house;
actually he got about $16. In jail he became
sanctimonious, and by means of his innocent ap-
pearance, his professions of religious faith, and
by blaming the murder upon the woman who es-
caped, managed to fool a few people, and found
a legend of his own innocence,—a legend which
lingers to-day in that type of mind which al-
ways prefers rumor and gossip to easily ascer-
tainable fact.

During the last day of the Sacco-Vanzetti ap-
peals, the Governor of Massachusetts was made
to listen to the ancient rigmarole of Wagner’s
innocence—a slander on a dead woman and an
attempt to whitewash a murderer—advanced as
a reason why the Governor should commute the
sentence on the two men then awaiting execu-
tion.

To Mr. Richeson, the presence on earth of
Miss Avis Linnell was an embarrassment. She
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was pregnant, and he desired to marry another
and a wealthier lady. He gave Miss Linnell
cyanide of potassium and she died in torment.
He confessed and was executed.

Doctor Lamson had been decorated by Rou-
mania for his services to humanity. To his
brother-in-law—a cripple, aged eighteen, the
Doctor gave a capsule filled with deadly aconi-
tine remarking: “Here, Percy, you're a swell
pill-taker.” Percy died.

Major Armstrong must be regarded with
mixed emotions. It was for the murder of Mrs.
Armstrong that he suffered at the hands of the
hangman, but it may be admitted that his wife
was an exasperating person. She permitted the
Major no wine or alcoholic drink, even refus-
ing for him if he were offered either at a
friend’s table. Occasionally she would relax
this severity and say: “I think you may have a
glass of port, Herbert; it will do your cold
good.” He had to hide his cigar or pipe when
she came into view. And, once at a tennis party,
she broke into the middle of a set, and com-
manded him to lay down his racquet, and come
home.

“Six o'clock, Herbert; how can you expect
punctuality in the servants if the master is late
at his meals?”
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After this, I can hear tennis players exclaim:
“And the law called it murder to poison that

So I hurry to add (hoping that some of my
readers hate afternoon tea as much as I do)
that the Major forever pestered another solici-
tor to come to tea.

He had entertained this brother solicitor on
one occasion—after Mrs. Armstrong had been
removed by the arsenic method—and given him
a hot, buttered scone. The Major selected the
scone and handed it to his guest, with the re-
mark, ‘“Please excuse fingers.” The guest ate
it, and after arriving home, was violently ill.
An analysis found that the scone had been pre-
pared with something more than butter. He de-
clined all further invitations to tea at the Ma-
jor’s house and office, although the invitations
were frequent and pressing.

Finally, after being called up daily and urged
to come, he was forced into taking tea in his
own office and bolting it early in the afternoon,
so as to have a legitimate excuse for disappoint-
ing the Major. All this started him thinking,
and it set in train the events that led to the Ma-
jor’s downfall.

There were many neat little packets of ar-
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senic in Major Armstrong’s possession. He used
them to kill dandelions in the lawn. I can see
that in his face; he would be an implacable foe
of dandelions. He made up twenty of these
packets; each containing a fatal dose for a dan-
delion, and this was also a fatal dose for a hu-
man being. He used, he said, nineteen of them
‘on the dandelions, one packet was found in his
waistcoat pocket,—all ready when he should
meet the next dandelion. Mr. Justice Darling,
the “humorist” of the English Bench, examined
him sedulously about these flowers; just how
many there were, where they were, and what
happened to each one.

If his were a Sherlock Holmes story, I think
the Armstrong case would be called The Ad-
venture of the Twentieth Dandelion.
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THE WICKED DUKE

The Duke de Choiseul-Praslin was a mag-
nifico of the reign of Louis Philippe. Bearing
one of the famous names of France, this de-
scendant of great soldiers and statesmen left
behind, as his own reputation in history, the fact
that he was a loathsome beast.

He married into an illustrious family; he was
the father of nine children; and he so enraged
the people of Paris that, when his end came, his
body had to be smuggled into the grave secretly,
and at night, to prevent the mob from wreak-
ing upon his corpse the vengeance which they
gladly would have visited upon the living man.

This was not an incident of the great French
Revolution,—that event was long past when the
Duke became notorious. This Choiseul-Praslin
was born under Napoleon, and, in 1847, was
about forty-two years old. King Louis Phi-
lippe had less than a year more to sit upon his
shaky throne. And the Duke de Praslin helped
to make the throne even more shaky.

The Duke, the Duchess, and their numerous

37
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family, occupied the Chateau de Vaux-Praslin,
near Melun; and, when in Paris, the mansion of
the Duchess’ father, the Marshal Viscount Se-
bastiani, in the rue St. Honoré. One day in
August, 1847, they moved from their country
to their town house, intending to stay in Paris
for a day or two, on their way to a summer
resort.

At half-past four, next morning, people, both
inside and outside the Sebastiani residence,
heard strange and alarming sounds. Men in
the street were astonished at the screams of
agony from within; while the Duke’s valet, the
valet-de-chambre, and the Duchess’ maid were
all aroused by the ringing of their several bells
from the Duchess’ bedroom.

Charpentier, the Duke’s valet, rushed down-
stairs, and tried to unlock the door of an ante-
room, leading to the Duchess’ apartment.
Against custom, it was bolted inside. He could
hear the Duchess shrieking, and could also hear
the sound of somebody running about.

With the maid, who had arrived, he hurried
around, and tried to enter by another door, and
even to kick it down, so terrifying were the
sounds which he now heard. This door was also
barred. He ran to the garden, and knocked at
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the windows of bedroom and boudoir. At last,
after trying three of the four doors of the apart-
ment, he came to one which led to an ante-room
between the bedroom of the Duke and that of
the Duchess. This was open.

The lady’s bedroom was entirely dark, but
the servant noticed the smell of gun-powder,
and of blood. He was frightened and ran back
for help. As he crossed the garden, he observed
smoke coming from the chimney of the Duke’s
room, and mentioned this fact to a servant
named Merville, who had now joined him.
Charpentier found a lamp and a sword, and
with these finally entered the Duchess’ room.

The Duchess, in her night-dress, covered
with blood, lay on the floor, her head against
a sofa. Her body had more than forty wounds
and scratches, and it is in dispute whether or
not she was still living. Mme. Merville, who
lifted the Duchess in her arms and tried to re-
store her with water, thought that death oc-
curred at that moment. The Duchess did not
speak, nor give any indication whether she had
recognized her murderer.

The room was in a state of confusion, with
furniture upset, and every mark of a savage
attack and a pitiful attempt to escape,—all, ap-
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parently, in complete darkness. The wretched
woman had run around and around the room,
trying to avoid the blows which were being
aimed at her, and also trying to summon help.
The wounds indicated two or three different
weapons. Blood stains, and marks of blood-
stained hands were visible everywhere, but es-
pecially on the walls, near the bell-cords, and at
the doors. It was plain that the Duchess had
found the doors locked against her escape, and
that her assailant had struck at her again and
again as she was reaching for the bell-cords.

There could not have been much doubt as to
the murderer. Drops and smears of blood were
visible on the floor—a veritable track—leading
from the room of the Duchess to that of the
Duke.

That noble personage at last appeared in the
room, while the servants were trying to call up
enough courage to notify him. He exclaimed:

“Ah! my God! what a misfortune!”

To Mme. Merville, he added:

“Good God! Euphemia, what will become of
us?”’

He inquired of Charpentier as to who had
first entered the room, and what, if anything,
the Duchess had said. Being reassured that she
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had died without speaking, the Duke broke into
further lamentations, with expressions of sor-
row for “the poor marshal” and “the poor chil-
dren.”

The Duke de Praslin does not seem to have
had the most ordinary qualifications for a suc-
cessful murderer. Victor Hugo remarked, at
the time, that the ferocity of the Duke was ex-
plained by his stupidity; he was a beast, and
like a beast, ferocious.

The Duke suggested that a doctor and the
police be sent for. When the police had arrived,
and were setting about to search the rooms of
the servants, one of the latter was heard to re-
mark:

“There would be more sense in searching the
Duke’s room.”

Even with all the official disinclination to sus-
pect a Peer of France of such a crime, when
the monarchy and titled persons were again be-
coming unpopular, the police could not disre-
gard facts which were so clear. They did not
immediately put the Duke under arrest, but they
had him questioned by magistrates, who made
no attempt to cover up the truth.

The Duke told these magistrates that he had
known of his wife’s misfortune before the ser-
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vants called him. He had been awakened, he
said, by her cries; had taken a pistol, and hur-
ried into her room. There he found her, lying
on the floor. He was beginning to offer help,
when he heard the servants knocking at the
door, so he went and let them in. This state-
ment did not agree, precisely, with the testimony
of the servants.

In attending to his wife, he said, he acquired
bloodstains on his face, hands and clothing, and,
in the excitement of the moment, and also in
order not to alarm his children, he had left his
pistol behind him, and gone back to his own
apartment to wash off the blood.

The magistrates received this politely, but
asked the Duke to account for the fragments of
a silk-handkerchief, partly burned, and found
in the fire-place in his room. They expressed a
desire to know why he had had a piece of green
cord, such as was used for a bell-cord, tied about
him, under his braces, and if there were any
connection between this cord and the missing
bell-cord, which seemed to have been cut from
above the bed of the Duchess. They asked a
number of embarrassing questions, of which
the most troublesome was about the condition
of the pistol, acknowledged to belong to the
Duke.
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How did it happen that there was blood on
the barrel and the ram-rod, and that hair, and a
small piece of skin adhered to the butt, as if it
had been used to batter the head of the slain
woman?

The Duke hung down his head, and held it
between his hands. The Procureur du Roi urged
him to answer frankly, whereupon the Duke
said:

“I formally deny having struck Madame de
Praslin with that or any other weapon.” The
condition of the pistol, he added, was a thing
he could not explain.

The King hesitated long before he ordered
the arrest of de Praslin. And, by the time the
law had him in custody, the Duke had contrived
to take poison, and was racked by the violent
sickness which is caused by arsenic.

As for the motive of the crime, the servants
and kinsfolk of the Duke were in no doubt that
trouble had existed in the family for many
years. The exact cause of this trouble is still
obscure.

Mrs. Belloc-Lowndes, in our own time, thinks
that the Duchess’ state of mind toward her hus-
band was that she “loved him too well,”—was
jealous and exacting in her affections, and in-
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nocently hounded the Duke into a murderous
rage. Her long and melancholy letters to her
husband, the pathetic and bitter complaints with
which she filled her diary—a curious and typi-
cal diary of the period—lend strength to this
belief.

The Duke had tried to destroy these letters,
and it was on the evidence of motive in them
that Louis Philippe signed the order of arrest.

Paris, at the time of the murder, felt little
doubt about the cause. It was one more exam-
ple of the sins of the nobles: there was a woman
in the case, and she was the governess, Mlle.
Deluzy. This lady was well educated and cor-
rect in conduct; she was thirty-five years old,
and had the best of reputations. The Duchess
had been jealous, but not exactly in the usual
sense. Her chief charge against the Duke was
a too great fondness for talking and walking
with the governess.

The Duchess, like Mrs. Pepys with Deb Wil-
let, had dismissed the governess, some months
earlier. And the Duke, like Mr. Pepys, had
nevertheless visited her, on the evening of his
arrival in Paris,—the night before the murder.
It was an innocent visit, however; he was ac-
companied by three of his daughters and one
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son. They took her some gifts from Melun, and
Victor Hugo, four or five days later, when
everyone was under arrest, noticed, in the win-
dow of Mlle. Deluzy’s boarding house, the
melon, the fruit and the flowers which the ducal
family had brought her from the country.

The Duke, under the torments of the arsenic,
was examined by the Chancellor, before a com-
mittee of the Chamber of Peers. He used his
feeble condition as an excuse for refusing to
answer many of the questions. He sometimes
denied everything ; sometimes remained silent in
face of direct accusations; and sometimes made
statements which were almost admissions of
guilt. He energetically denied that Mlle. De-
luzy had any part in or knowledge of the mur-
der.

Victor Hugo, who knew him slightly, de-
scribes him as a commonplace man, with a very
gentle, but ‘“very false” manner. “lHe has a
villainous mouth and a horribly constrained
manner.” He was a fair, pallid man, ‘“washed-
out, like an Englishman” [!] who always
seemed about to say something which he never
did say.

One week after the murder he died, and was
secretly buried. Of course, this led to the usual
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rumors that he had been allowed to escape into
England. That the murder had been planned,
is indicated by a story often repeated verbally,
but not printed, I believe, except in Mrs. Belloc-
Lowndes’ narrative. While the family were at
Melun, the Duchess aroused her maid, one
night, by her screams. She said that she had
had a terrible nightmare: an apparition of the
Devil, dressed in bright red, advancing toward
her. She screamed and the Devil vanished into
the wall.

Later, after both Duke and Duchess were
dead, there was found in the Duke’s apartment
at the Chateau, a bal-masqué costume of Meph-
istopheles, all in red, and with a dagger.

Mlle. Deluzy was under arrest for three
months. She was rigorously examined by the
same high personages who had questioned the
Duke. She made to them many long, passion-
ate and sorrowful statements, which sound per-
fectly sincere. It was at last apparent that she
was guiltless of the murder as well as of any
kind of misconduct. She had been in a painful
position for a long time, since the Duchess was
high-strung and perpetually ‘“difficult.”

The governess remained: a strange figure,
and one whose after life was to be an odd sequel
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to the story. Victor Hugo saw her in the prison
of the Conciergerie—a woman with a low fore-
head, a turned-up nose, and very light hair.
But, said Hugo, she was very pretty.

Nearly thirty years later there was borne up
the aisle of a church in New York, the body of
a woman who was considered to have been, for
twenty years past, one of the most distinguished
ladies in that city. Before her coffin, as two of
the honorary pall-bearers, walked her venerable
friends, William Cullen Bryant and Peter
Cooper. Her funeral was attended and her
death was mourned by men and women eminent
in literature, in society and in religious life. She
was buried at Stockbridge, Mass., where her
death was lamented for her own sake, and for
her connection by marriage with a family held
in great honor in America. This lady was the
same one whom Victor Hugo saw in imprison-
ment at the Conciergerie.

Mlle. Deluzy, not long after her release, came
to New York, where her way was made easy
by letters of introduction, and by her own abil-
ity. She was, for a time, principal of the Fe-
male Art School at the Cooper Union. In 1851
she married the Reverend Henry M. Field,—
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one of four distinguished brothers. One of
these, Cyrus W. Field, promoted the Atlantic
cable; two others were judges,—one being
David Dudley Field of the Supreme Court. The
Reverend Mr. Field, who was a prolific author,
and the editor of a religious paper, was his
wife’s junior, by some years. They lived in
Stockbridge and in New York, and theirs was
an entirely happy marriage.

Mrs. Field’s career in this country justified
the opinion which was finally held of her in her
own land. Though she was, apparently, eter-
nally grateful to her husband, it does not ap-
pear that she was in any way his inferior in
intellect, or in social charm. In private, she al-
ways spoke of that extremely dignified clerical
gentleman, with great affection, and as “My
leettle Henri.”

She was able to hold her own with some of
her relatives by marriage, who were a little apt
to apply to her the treatment now technically
known as “high-hatting.” I think it was James
L. Ford who told of a dinner, or other family
function, at which Mrs. Cyrus Field awaited
her at the foot of the stairs, with that imperial,
ostrich-plumey manner which the matron of
that period liked to assume. With overwhelm-
ing sweetness, she inquired:
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“And is not dear Henry with us this eve-
ning ?”’

“No,” replied Mrs. Henry Field, “dear Henry
is at home, writing a speech for dear Cyrus to
deliver in Europe.”

I have been told of those who remembered
her with delight, since she retained some Gallic
vivacity in the very decorous Presbyterian so-
ciety in which she moved. How, sitting on the
veranda of a country house, of a summer night,
she would give herself a vigorous slap and re-
mark, in a stage whisper,—perfectly audible,
even to the gentlemen present:—

“Ze mosquitoes, zey do bite my laigs!”

And this in the 1860’s or 70’s, when a lady’s
legs were supposed to be non-existent. But,
says my informant, nobody thought of her with
amusement, nor in any way except with great
admiration for her culture, for her noble char-
acter, her alert mind and her vivid personality.
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FIVE TIMES CONVICTED OF
MURDER

On a night in April, 1909, a woman named
Rachel McClurkin stood by the side of a lonely
country road in Alabama, and watched her
brother ride slowly away. He was going in
pursuit of a thief, who, so they thought, had
been robbing their corn-mill and cotton-gin.
Miss McClurkin had first roused her brother
when she heard the sound of a wagon in front
of the mill. She lighted a lamp; waited while
her brother dressed; and then brought down a
coat to be used as a saddle for the mule. Now,
as McClurkin rode away, she stood by the road
until she could endure the chill no longer, when
she went back into the house. As she did so, the
clock struck two.

Her brother had not returned at day-break,
and the only other member of the household,
Ernest Dodgen, the miller, went to the nearest
settlement, the little town of Oxford, to make
a search. He followed some wagon tracks,
which he supposed to be those of the robber,

st
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and observed that they made a sharp turn near
the house of one John Body, a negro, and that
sume cotton-seed had been spilled on the ground.
In a cotton-patch, near the home of Body, was
lying the corpse of James McClurkin, with his
head beaten and crushed. Nearby were a stick
of maple-wood, and a large stone, both blood-
stained, and evidently the weapons of his mur-
derer.

Four men were quickly arrested on suspicion,
and all were put in jail. Two or three of them
were certainly negroes; probably all of them
were. Against one of these, a full-blooded Af-
rican, named Ervin Pope, the State decided to
proceed; the others were discharged, and ex-
cept for the appearance of one of them as a
witness, they vanish from the case. As Pope
was practically without funds, lawyers were ap-
pointed by the Court for his defense: a Mr.
Sensabaugh, and Mr. Neil P. Sterne of An-
niston, a young attorney, and a gentleman of
attractive character and personality.

The case against Ervin Pope was this. He
owned a farm two miles from McClurkin’s mill.
On the day before the murder, so it was alleged,
he needed cotton-seed for his farm. He went,
therefore, in the afternoon, to McClurkin’s, os-
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tensibly to have some corn ground, but really
to look over the premises, and to talk with
Alonzo Bradford, a negro boy, who worked at
the mill. He found that Bradford slept there,
and urged him not to do this. He gave various
reasons,—one of them being that “a snake
might bite him.” When he returned after mid-
night, on robbery intent, and was filling his
wagon with cotton-seed, sorghum-seed, peas
and other products, he was driven off by the
light in the mill-owner’s house. Afterwards,
when he was pursued and caught by McClurkin,
so the State charged, he murdered his pursuer
to avoid arrest for the theft.

Further evidence of this was found in a simi-
larity noticed by Dodgen, a skilled blacksmith,
between the footprints of the mule he had fol-
lowed, and those of a “mousc-colored” mule
owned by Pope. Sorghum-seed and peas, simi-
lar to those stolen from McClurkin, were found
under Pope’s lumber pile. In view of the tradi-
tional likeness of one pea to its brother, I do
not see how the State made much out of this.
Of sorghum-seed, I admit I have never taken
judicial notice.

Much stronger than all this, however, was
the State’s contention that Pope had burned a
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pair of blood-stained overalls under an iron
wash-pot in his back yard, early on the morning
of the murder. Moreover, two days after the
death of McClurkin, a sheriff and his deputy,
searching the premises of Pope, found concealed
under the barn a pair of shoes which bore blood-
stains and particles of what a physician said
was human skin. Two negro boys testified that
these shoes belonged to Pope.

Finally, there was some almost direct testi-
mony of the murder from John Body, the negro
near whose house the murder was committed.
The stick of maple, with which the blows were
struck, was taken from Body’s wood-pile. That
honest farmer had been awakened early in the
morning by a quarrel outside his house. He
heard the rattle of a chain as some one hitched
a mule to a peach-tree; he heard somebody say:

“Ervin, Ervin, I ain't going to do nothing.”

Then he heard somebody strike another man
“several licks.” After this, the striker came into
the alley in front of the house, and proceeded to
do a strange thing: he took off his shoes, and
threw them into the road. Then he unhitched
his mule, and went away, leading the mule down
the street,—a thoroughfare called by the pleas-
ing name of the Choccolocco Road.
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There seems to be something about the pres-
ence of a mule at a murder which makes its
rider do surprising things. There was the fa-
mous Jenny, of New Brunswick, N. J., whose
owner lost a moccasin, and returned to a scene
of crime and violence to hunt for it; and here
is this Alabama tragedy, whose perpetrator de-
liberately leaves his blood-stained shoes at the
scene of the crime. John Body, impressed by
the importance of what he had heard, and mind-
ful of the fallibility of human memory, called
for pen, ink and paper, and holding a lighted
match in one hand, wrote down the name “Ervin
Ervin” (twice for good measure) on a piece of
paper, which he gave to one John Draper.

Such was the case against IErvin Pope. Pub-
lic opinion was much aroused and loudly de-
manded his conviction. His counsellor, Mr,
Sterne, remarks that it was his first case. In
behalf of the negro prisoner he had for the first
time the pleasure of saying:

“Gentlemen of the jury!”

Their response was:

“Guilty as charged, and to be hanged by the
neck until dead.”

The case was appealed to the Supreme Court,
and the verdict was afirmed. On an application
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for a re-hearing, however, a new trial was
granted, and at this second trial, Mr. Sterne
alone represented the prisoner. He decided that
Pope’s case was desperate, and that “he had just
as well risk it without another lawyer.” The
result was another verdict of guilty, and another
sentence of death. Again, however, a rehear-
ing was granted, so that Ervin Pope became the
central figure in an unusual situation: twice an
appellate court had affirmed his death sentence
and twice granted another trial. Mr. Sterne
then asked to be relieved, and when his suc-
cessor, another young attorney, was appointed,
told him that:

“I turn Pope over to you just as much alive
as when he came into my hands, and it is up to
you to deliver Pope to your successor in like
good order.”

It should be said, to the still further credit of
the Alabama courts, that as time went on and
as Pope’s trials and convictions increased, he
had the advantage of lawyers of age and ex-
perience. One of his later counsel had been a
judge; another became a judge afterwards. The
verdicts were always the same: guilty of mur-
der in the first degree. At last he had had five
trials; and was five times convicted and sen-
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tenced to death. Four times the Supreme Court
of the State reversed the verdict, and ordered
a new trial. On the fifth and last appeal the
judgment was affirmed and the day set for exe-
cution. Then, in 1914, an appeal was made to
the Governor, for commutation of the sentence
to life imprisonment. The appeal was given the
most careful consideration by the Governor.
He was the Honorable Emmet O’Neal, the son
of a man who also had been, in his time, Gov-
ernor of Alabama. Ex-Governor O’Neal de-
scribed this case, some years ago, at a meeting
of the Alabama State Bar Association.

It is apparent that there must have been grave
weaknesses in the case against Pope to make
the higher court grant so many reversals, and to
have caused the Governor at last to commute
the sentence to one of imprisonment for life.
The reader will have observed that the only evi-
dence not circumstantial in the case for the
State was the testimony of John Body, and that
this was both ridiculous and suspicious. Nev-
ertheless, there was aroused, during the five
years of litigation, a “hostile, active and aggres-
sive public sentiment” against Pope, which took
the form of threats against his attorneys,
threats of lynching against the prisoner, peti-
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tions signed by thousands, requesting the Gov-
ernor not to interfere with the sentence, and
much abuse of him after he had done so.

It seems to me a most instructive and inter-
esting case, especially for us in the North, where
we are too apt, perhaps, to think that there is
little justice for a negro in some of the South-
ern States. Here was a poor and friendless
negro, without influence, and under the strong-
est suspicion of having brutally murdered a re-
spectable white man. Yet attorneys gave their
time and best efforts to his defense; the higher
courts acted favorably upon his appeals for fur-
ther consideration; and the Chief Executive
leaned backwards to give the convict the benefit
of every smallest doubt. Would the law in
Northern States have had any more patience
than this?

Some of the considerations which probably
influenced the Supreme Court and the Governor
were these. John Body’s testimony was contra-
dicted, in several particulars, by that of Lina
Price, a negress, who lived still nearer the scene
of the crime, and by that of his mother, Nettie
Body. Neither woman heard the cry of “Ervin,
Ervin, I ain’t going to do nothing.” There was
nothing unusual in Pope’s visit to McClurkin’s
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mill in the afternoon; it was the best mill, and
his coming to it did not argue the dishonest
purpose of spying out a place he intended to rob.
John Body was himself a highly suspicious per-
son: the defense charged him with the murder.
He had been arrested, but was released after
the first trial, when he immediately fled the
country and never returned.

Upon “the bloody shoes,” however, the Gov-
ernor centred his attention. He consulted with
the trial judge, who had presided at all five
trials,—but who declined to recommend execu-
tive clemency. He asked if any chemical analy-
sis had been made to determine if there really
was human blood on the shoes, or if any test
had been made to see if the shoes fitted Ervin
Pope. So far as the judge knew, both of these
simple precautions seemed to have been neg-
lected. This was in 1914,—five years after the
murder. So, by the Governor’s direction, the
State Chemist tested the shoes for blood, after
which a boot-and-shoe dealer, accompanied by
responsible officials, took them to the jail and
tried them on the feet of the convict. The
Chemist reported that the lapse of time and the
action of tannic acid in the leather had made it
impossible to say whether or not the stains were
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those of human blood. The shoe-dealer, more-
over, found the shoes two sizes too large for
Pope, and bearing an unmistakable protuber-
ance which signified a large bunion on the left
foot of the owner. Pope had no such bunion.
Wherefore, all things being considered, the
Governor granted a commutation of sentence.

At the close of the Governor’s address to the
Bar Association, which was apparently read by
some one else in his absence, Mr. Neil Sterne,
counsel in the first and second trials, arose, and
made a few remarks. They must have been
highly diverting to his audience. Whether an
attorney with so much courage, good sense and
humor has been neglected by the electors of his
district and state, I do not know; he ought to
be in or on his way to Congress. Mr. Sterne
said, among other things:

“Pope was not a man of good character. We
did not dare to introduce evidence about char-
acter, as we did not care to have the State bring
in rebutting evidence. He was not a man of
property, as the Governor said. His farm was
mortgaged. The attorney who handled his case
at the beginning got $150, but when I came into
it, there was only a one-eyed sow, which T was
to have for my fee. A mortgagee intervened,
however, and I did not even get the sow. . . .
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“On the first trial, I endeavored to believe
there was doubt of Pope’s guilt, and had what
I should perhaps call a fraction of a doubt on
the subject. By the time of the second trial,
however, developments both in and out of the
record convinced me of his guilt, and while I
did not believe in his innocence, I made a fight
that brought to me probably a hundred anony-
mous letters—the favorite form of expression
being that they would cut out my black heart
and feed it to the dogs. I stayed in the fight
and did all T could for Pope and got his case
reversed twice. . . .

“Governor O’Neal says he thought of some-
thing no one else ever thought of, and that was
to fit Pope’s shoes to his feet. Every lawyer in
the case thought of that. The first thing we did
was to find out whether the shoes would fit, and
the next thing we did was to hope the jury
wouldn’t find it out.”

He added that they tried on the shoes in a
private room, when no deputy sheriffs were
present, and after the test, he said, they were
well content to drop the subject of the fit of the
shoes. He told the prosecutor that if he asked
to have the shoes fitted on Pope in Court, the
defense would move for a mistrial in that it was
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an improper invasion of the privilege against
self-incrimination. Pope lost about forty
pounds in weight during the five years he was
in prison, so Mr. Sterne had no doubt that the
shoes were two sizes too large when they were
tried on by the Governor’s orders. And al-
though he had no direct information, he felt it
reasonable to suppose that Pope had also been
cured of his bunion during his imprisonment.

John Body’s testimony, said the attorney, was
incredible, but his flight did not necessarily im-
ply guilt of the murder. He had been threat-
ened with mob violence, and that was sufficient
cause for flight. T am not sure that Mr. Sterne
mentioned it, but it seems believable that Body
may have been innocent, and still have fabri-
cated parts of his story, in order to make sure
of the conviction of Pope, of whose guilt he
may well have been convinced. Body knew that
he was in a dangerous position, and may have
decided that he would aid justice in convicting
Pope, even if he had to tell a few whoppers in
the process.

After the commutation of the sentence, Mr.
Sterne met and talked with a repair-man from
the clectrical company, who told the lawyer that
he was out at his work, repairing wires, at two
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o’clock on the morning of the murder of James
McClurkin. Coming along the road which the
robber was supposed to have taken, he had met
Ervin Pope driving his wagon, exactly as the
State had contended. The electrician was one
of these shy creatures, who did not wish to “get
mixed up in a law case,” and so had never come
forward as a witness.

Mr. Sterne differed with the Governor’s rea-
soning in commuting the sentence, but felt sure
that the action, in the face of popular clamor,
could only have proceeded from a high sense of
justice and an admirable degree of moral cour-
age.

He added that Ervin Pope had himself made
a further commutation of his sentence by es-
caping from prison to complete liberty. Where
he is, nobody knows.

The very sagacious and astute may conclude,
however, that, wherever he is, he does not now
call himself Ervin Pope.*

*See a note about this case, in the Appendix.






VI

FOR THE BORGIA MEDAL, CON-
NECTICUT PRESENTS—

“What do you think women are?”’ shouts Mr.
Osgood Perkins, in the play, ““The Front Page.”

He is impersonating the demoniac editor,
Walter Burns.

“What do you think women are? Flowers?
Take that dame that shot the dentist! And Mrs.
Vermilya! Husband comes home, all worn out,
hungry, takes a spoonful of soup, and falls
dead! Arsenic! And Mrs. Petras! Burning her
husband up in a furnace! When you’ve been in
this business as long as I have, you'll know what
women are! Murderers! Borgias!”

Two or three times I have listened to these
comments upon women, without exactly agree-
ing, and yet with admiration for this hasty cata-
logue of Chicago’s female practitioners. It is
a brave classification and not without basis. 1
knew Mrs. Vermilya, and her deadly pepper-
box, after reading about them in the fascinat-
ing pages of a book by the late Edward H.
Smith.

The authors of “The Front Page’ let Mrs.

6s
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Vermilya off easily. Her victims had no such
sudden and merciful death, for she was one of
a great class of nefarious ladies who have con-
demned their victims to the long-drawn-out tor-
ments of death by arsenic.

Every state in the Union has had them: from
the pine-clad hills of Maine to the everglades
of Florida,—or, more correctly and less ora-
torically, from Sarah Jane Robinson of Massa-
chusetts to Mrs. Cordelia Botkin of California.
(There’s a name for you,—Cordelia Botkin!
Doesn’t it reek of poisoned chocolate-drops?)

Recently in the Southwest, in Missouri or
Arkansas, I think, they have been investigating
twenty or thirty deaths which followed upon
the visits of a volunteer nurse,—one of those
beaming, big-bosomed home-bodies (like Jane
Toppan, whom every one called “Dear Aunt
Jane”) who came to help whenever there was
sickness, and whose help invariably led to a call
for the undertaker.

Nothing drastic seems ever to have been done
to these accommodators,—I think that Mrs.
Vermilya escaped without even a prison term.
So, in our civilization, which weeps for the mur-
derer, and has no pity for the victim, we can
read about these sprightly dames without a
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twinge of anguish. When their victims are
gone, we brush off our fingers and say:

“Dear, dear!”

Lydia Sherman, called by the newspapers the
“Connecticut Borgia,” was really a native of
New Jersey. She has not received as much at-
tention from writers as some of the others, al-
though her score made her eminent enough in
her own time. Briefly, it was:

Husbands—3
Children —8

As she could only be tried for one of these
deaths, and as, in our law, no mention of the
other deaths could be made, the proceedings did
not bring out the whole story. Luckily the in-
complete account was supplemented by Mrs.
Sherman’s own narrative wherein no detail
seems lacking.

She was Miss Lydia Danbury of Burlington,
N. J. When about nineteen years old, she mar-
ried Edward Struck, a New York policeman.
This was at some time in the 1840’s. Officer
Struck was a widower, with two children of his
own. After seven or eight years of his new
married life there were six more children, and
they all lived together on Houston Street in
New York.
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Then tragedy began to pursue the Strucks.
First, the policeman died. The symptoms of his
illness suggested poisoning, and his widow said
that he got up, when the doctor was absent, and
took the wrong medicine.

During the next two years her six children
died. No one seemed to know why they died,
but every one noticed that their ailments did not
last long,—it was a matter of days or hours,
rather than of weeks.

During the next ten or twelve years the ca-
reer of Mrs. Struck was involved with a rather
large number of middle-aged or elderly gentle-
men who were usually described as being “com-
fortably off” or “well fixed.” Some of them
were widowers, with children; some were bach-
elors. By some of them she was employed as
house-keeper; by others she was entreated into
the honorable estate of matrimony. Some of
these gentlemen—notably the ones who did not
venture to wed the lady—escaped with their
lives. Her husbands, generally speaking, were
not so fortunate.

The first time that Mrs. Struck changed her
name, was in favor of a man named Hurlbut,
—he was called “Old Hurlbut.” He was both
a farmer and a fisherman, and had evidently
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prospered ashore and at sea, as he owned land,
and also $10,000 in cash.

One day, shortly after he had made his will
(in Lydia’s favor), the state of his health de-
manded a physician. Old Hurlbut was suffer-
ing considerable discomfort, and a consultation
of doctors was thought necessary. Before any
decision could be reached, however, it became a
question merely of academic interest, since Mr.
Hurlbut was dead.

As in many poisoning cases, the fact that no
suspicion had been aroused prevented any sat-
isfactory diagnosis. If Mrs. Hurlbut told the
truth in a statement at a later date, and I am
inclined to think she did, her elderly husband
had been indulging his appetite with some curi-
ous mixtures, and consequently that old enemy
of old gentlemen—acute indigestion—was prob-
ably held to blame.

The town of Huntington, where this doleful
event took place, seems to have been in Con-
necticut, to which State the desirable widow,
Mrs. Struck-Hurlbut, had removed.

She continued to cast her siren spell and be-
witch the hearts of men, and the next person
upon the list was another upright widower.
This one had four children of his own; he was
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a skilled mechanic, “much loved for his genial
spirits.”

He lived at, or near, the town of Derby; and
as he was the last of her husbands, had the priv-
ilege of giving her the name under which she
rose to celebrity. He was Nelson H. Sherman,
and it was as Lydia Sherman that our heroine
was known to the American public.

In a few months two of Mr. Sherman’s chil-
dren had died, and there were serious differ-
ences between the husband and wife. Mr. Sher-
man would depart for New Haven, with a few
friends, and stay there for a week. He seems
to have neglected the cultural opportunities of
that city, and he was once, T regret to learn,
“found in a den with low people.”

Painful as it is to say such a thing, it would
probably have been better for Mr. Sherman to
have stayed in the den, no matter how low its
people. The food at home seemed not to agree
with him. Even when he was at home, and
working at the factory, he was depressed in
spirits and would not come home for his meals.
Mrs. Sherman failed not in her wifely atten-
tions, but persisted in sending his meals to the
factory for him.

One night he came home and was greeted by
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his wife with the customary affectionate kiss.
Then she mixed his “usual evening beverage”
which was described as a “sling.”

Mr. Sherman drank it, and died two days
later, “suffering dreadful agonies.” The doc-
tors, this time, were overcome by suspicion, and
they called upon some of the professors at New
Haven for an analysis. The learned men of
New Haven were kept busy throughout this
decade (it was in the early 70’s) peering at sus-
pected internal organs. This time they found in
merely one-third of the liver of Mr. Sherman
enough arsenic to kill three men.

Mrs. Sherman had discreetly retired to New
Jersey, but she was arrested and put on trial in
New Haven. The judge kindly pointed out to
the jury that they could find her guilty of mur-
der in the second degree, and this they did, after
deliberating for fifty minutes. Mrs. Sherman
was sentenced to prison for life. I do not know
how long was the term which she actually
served.

Her confession, made while in the County
Jail awaiting sentence, is a strange document.

Her first husband, Policeman Struck, so she
said, was dismissed from the force for cow-
ardice. He was also “acting very badly,” and
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so, on the advice of a police sergeant, she put
some arsenic in his gruel.

In the following July she made up her mind
that two of her children would be “better off”
if they were out of the way. She does not ad-
vance her reasons, but she gave little Mary Ann
and Edward “some of the same kind of gruel
their father had eaten.”

Her son, George, had painters’ colic, and she
became “discouraged,” and put arsenic in his
tea. Ann Eliza had chills and fever, and her
mother removed Ann Eliza. Her daughter
Lydia, however, died a natural death.

As for her second husband, Old Hurlbut, he
was subject to “fits of dizziness.” He may well
have been, for he used to eat clams and drink
cider with saleratus in it. After one of these
orgics he died, and Mrs. Sherman denied all
responsibility, except to admit shyly that some
arsenic may have slipped into the saleratus.

The third husband, Mr. Sherman, said his
widow, was an irritating person. He drank im-
moderately and borrowed money from his wife
without returning it. Moreover, he expressed
a wish that little Franky would die. Now it
was never necessary to labor a point like that
with Mrs. Sherman. There was some arsenic
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in the house (for the rats—<lassic recipients of
all arsenic)—and Franky was soon dead.

It is not altogether clear why Ada, who was
fifteen, should have been poisoned. We know,
however, from the confession, that a “brandy
sling” was prepared for Ada, and that Mr.
Sherman came home unexpectedly and drank it.

“I could not keep a drop for Ada,” writes the
exasperated wife.

The sling only made her husband ill; so a cup
of tea was prepared for Ada—and administered
—while at a later date another sling was given,
with great success, to Mr. Sherman.

Mrs. Sherman had also experimented with
chocolate, but she reported in favor of tea or
brandy slings.

Arsenic blended satisfactorily with either of
these drinks, and was taken down, especially in
brandy, with hearty enjoyment.

“I did not mean to kill Mr. Sherman,” wrote
his widow. “I only wanted to make him sick of
liquor.”

Her motives, you see, in the case of her third
husband, were noble, and she was merely an-
ticipating a temperance reform later practised
by officials of the Prohibition department of the
Government.






VII
WHAT MAKES A GOOD MURDER?

The amateur collector of murders is a much
more discriminating person than the chance ob-
server understands. He is often a determined
antiquarian and reactionary; when any new
murder comes out he bends his attention toward
an old one. From the crude performance of the
super-bandit of the present year, he turns again
to consider Sir Edmund Berry God{rey, found,
in 1678, transfixed by a sword, and he ponders
once more the significance of the drops of wax
discovered on Sir Edmund’s clothes.

Or, disgusted by the blatant taste of the Chi-
cago school of murderers, he returns to the first
murder of all, that Cain-Abel affair. }e pre-
fers his murders to be mellowed by time; to
possess the rich bloom of age. There is an es-
pecially exacting murder-fancier—and nobody
who knows him questions his perfect taste—
who refuses to add to his collection any speci-
men of a later year than 1815. For him, as for
Mr. Bunthorne, art stopped short in the culti-
vated court of the Empress Josephine.

75
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This, however, is really finical. Style, not
time nor place, is the thing to be considered.
The essentials were firmly established in De
Quincey’s great essay on murder, which every-
body quotes and nobody reads. But for any
one attempting to discuss a book about murders,
some acquaintance with De Quincey’s essay is
necessary.

The first section of this masterpiece appeared
in 1827. Let’s get its title correctly quoted: it
is called “On Murder Considered as one of the
Fine Arts.” Twelve years later, in 1839, came
out the “Supplementary Paper” on the same
subject, while as late as 1854, De Quincey added
the final postscript, with its narratives of the
Williams and the M’Kean murders—two ex-
amples of sombre prose which have been the de-
spair of all writers on this subject.

This trilogy should be studied, not only by
the historians of actual murders, but by the
writers of detective novels. Many of these gen-
tlemen and ladies seem determined to rob the
homicides of which they write of all possible in-
terest.

This failure to recognize the elementary prin-
ciples of an attractive murder is characteristic
of many who should be better informed. Not
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long ago I happened to sit at luncheon opposite
the editor of a literary review who is also a
teacher at Yale. Turning his sardonic eye upon
me, he mentioned some vulgar slaughter which
had been filling the newspapers for two days,
and remarked, pityingly:

“I suppose you are right in your element with
this!”

The poor creature had never read what De
Quincey wrote, over a century before: “. . . as
to old women, and the mob of newspaper read-
ers, they are pleased with anything, provided it
is bloody enough. But the mind of sensibility
requires something more.”

De Quincey’s first precept is that “something
more goes into the composition of a fine murder
than two blockheads to kill and be killed—a
knife—a purse—and a dark lane.” Here at the
start we have ruled out from the class of first-
rate murders—and, I think, justly ruled out—
most of the killings by crooks, “bad-men,” ban-
dits of all degrees and all the light-hearted slay-
ings of night-watchmen and police officers by
burglars and thieves.

Gerald Chapman’s crime was the coldly casual
removal of an obstacle between himself and his
liberty; he murdered as another man might
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stamp on a beetle. And although his trial had
some points of interest, he and his kind do not
belong in the gallery of murderers who are
coveted by the collector.

This may also be said of the person who com-
mits a political assassination. It is a stroke of
state; ill-advised and most reprehensible, it is
true, but of no interest to the amateur. Usually
the practitioner (De Quincey’s word) is not
even acquainted with his victim, so that the deed
has about it a flavor of unpardonable familiar-
ity. Charlotte Corday saw this clearly and tried
to make some pretence to the social decencies by
sending in her card, and after she was admitted,
engaging Marat in light conversation. There
was also the intimate touch that the statesman
was in his bath. This, however, is the only po-
litical assassination, so far as I remember,
which had even those engaging features. Be-
sides, in the assassination there is the graver
fault that your victim is already famous, so
what becomes of the artist’s work of creation?
It is too much like those absurd plays in which
Napoleon, George Washington and Marie An-
toinette are all on the stage at once.

I have heard an ingenious argument made in
favor of political murders in which the subject
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is obscure, or only a minor celebrity. This would
probably include Doctor Cronin, whose death
convulsed this country about forty years ago.
His murder, in Chicago, was magniloquently
described by its historian as “The Crime of the
Century,” but anybody with the faintest knowl-
edge of Chicago will remember that that city
has a Crime of the Century every four or five
years,—and is, moreover, intensely jealous and
sensitive about the claims of other cities to any
superior kind of murder. Doctor Cronin was
said to have offended the Clan-na-Gael by re-
vealing its secrets, but it is hard to say what he
had done. It was one of those murders over
which men nod their heads and look portentous
and intimate that “everything hasn’t come out
yet.”

To be the participant either active or passive,
in a murder, for revealing the pass-word and
signals of a secret society, is most futile. I have
belonged to only one secret society, and I am
still bound, I suppose, by a number of blister-
ing oaths not to utter its mysteries. But if I be-
came filled with desire to experience the awful
joy of making them known, and to involve the
brethren in the duty instantly to exterminate
me, I should be put to the gravest inconvenience,
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because I cannot possibly remember what the
secrets are.

There was once a person, an Italian, I think,
who did give a certain distinction to the regret-
table habit of the murder of total strangers. His
bizarre practice has been described by Mr. Ar-
thur Train. He called himself The Bravest Man
—just that, without any qualification of time or
place, and the way he proved his title was to go
forth on the street, now and then, and shoot a
man. His method of selection, if he had any, is
not related; probably it was first come, first
served. It may be that he obeyed De Quincey’s
dictum that the victim of a murder ought to be
in good health, since it is barbarous to kill any-
body who is weak or of a sickly disposition.

It may, perhaps, become tedious to go on rul-
ing out this and that class of murder, insisting
that these are not good murders,—not desir-
able specimens for the collector. Yet, with diffi-
dence, even with a good deal of timidity, I must
suggest that one eminent brand of murder is
usually not of the very first value to the spe-
cialist. This is called, with little accuracy, the
crime passionnel, with even less accuracy, the
sex-murder. Such a statement not only evokes
cries of protest, but calls down upon one’s head
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the most disgraceful of all epithets: that of
Puritan. If you do not wish to read about sex
at breakfast, luncheon and dinner, and to dis-
cuss it, or hear it discussed in the theatre in the
evening, you have failed, of course, in your daily
obligation to throw a stone at Queen Victoria.
But your true collectors of murders do not wel-
come the sex-murder with the same enthusiasm
with which they greet one committed, let us say,
for an inheritance.

There are other reasons. One is that the
themes of love and jealousy are such great
themes that, when they enter a plot, they may
swamp everything else. Another reason is not
at all a moral one: the murder which is not con-
nected with sex is often the most interesting,
because it is the most wicked. Only great crim-
inals rise to the heights of a coolly planned mur-
der of a friend or relative for gain; any weak
man or woman of us may go off the handle, and
kill some one because of hatred arising from the
relations of the sexes. England’s most atrocious
criminal of our time certainly had a way with
women, since he induced five or six of them to
marry him. Dut he never let these successes
blind him to his real objects, which were pounds,
shillings and pence. He was a pet child of the
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Devil because he thrice committed murder, not
for the hot passion of love, but for the colder
one of avarice.

There are exceptions and they are brilliant.
When Miss Madeleine Smith of Glasgow de-
cided to abolish her socially inconvenient lover,
she set about it with the apparent gentleness of
the dove, but with the wisdom of seven vipers.
There was not the slightest flavor of poison in
the cups of cocoa which she handed, with many
endearments, to the adoring young man as he
stood outside her window. Had she pulverized
his skull with a club, her name would long ago
have perished. It lives because of the sweet sub-
tlety of her methods, and because of Miss
Madeleine’s charming appearance in Court, her
lavender gloves and her pretty feet and ankles
—which were still a treat in those days, even to
Scottish judges.

The good murder, the really desirable per-
formance, beloved by the collector, is commit-
ted not by an habitual criminal, but by some one
of blameless life. The higher his social status,
the wider his learning, the more noticeable the
odor of sanctity in which he has lived, the more
interesting the crime. Interesting, because un-
accountable. De Quincey demands mystery and
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he is right, for there is little charm when the
murder is done in public, nor when a confession
comes too soon.

He decries the works of the poisoner, which
is unexplainable, for of all sly deviltry, the art
of the poisoner is unsurpassed. On the other
hand, a murder may be savage in its execution,
yet possess so much of the element of terror,
and be so cunningly planned, as to deserve the
most respectful attention of the enthusiastic col-
lector.

The victim of the good murder is not a com-
plete stranger, nor a passing acquaintance, but
preferably some one near and it may be even
dear to the murderer. The act is not the result
of a sudden whim, but is coolly and thought-
fully arranged; the ground is well laid in ad-
vance. Weakness and remorse, hysteria and
confessions,—the ideal practitioner does not in-
dulge in these. If he can keep his head, if he
does not talk, and if he is remorseless, human
society, it has been said, is at his mercy. There
have been murderers so equipped, but they have
usually tried to repeat their successes too many
times.

Occasionally the murder is all but perfect in
every detail; sometimes it is notable only for a
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Miss Constance Kent, of the despised Victorian
age. She made her plans alone and with care;
she carried them out in the dark of a summer
night, and when her half-brother was found
with his throat cut, there were no weak-kneed
confessions from her! Not until religion worked
upon her conscience, five years later, did she
tell what had happened that night and even then
there was no whining plea for mercy in the
name of Freud and Nietszche and the distorted
psyche. Modernism likes to dance but not to
pay,—it prefers to hire an alienist to help cheat
the piper of his fee.

We cannot always expect to discover mur-
deresses like Constance Kent. Neither can we
often find a scene so perfect as that quiet house
in the humdrum street in Fall River, appar-
ently asleep in the sunshine. Qutside one hears
the drone of the August insects in the trees, and
perhaps the distant whirring of the cotton mills.
Inside, a ghastly business is going forward: the
contrast is as strange as any I know.
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But there are murders which possess some
fantastic detail,—a trifle perhaps, but sufficient
to give them value. There was the Reverend
Mr. Richeson’s cynical remark as he bought the
poison; Mr. Elwell’s forty glossy brown wigs;
and Mrs. Bravo’s liberal ideas of the proper
amount of wine for another lady and herself at
dinner.

And of all places in the world for quiet medi-
tation, and for the fear of God and man to en-
velop the human soul, there was that early sum-
mer morning at the corner of Forty-second
Street and Sixth Avenue, as Jack Rose sat on
the steps of Bridgie Webber’s poker joint and
felt terror come over him for the past night’s
work. Rosenthal was dead, and the “big cop,”
Becker, had promised them that it would be all
right. But the lamps were out in the strcets
and the hard light of dawn made everything
seem cold and unsympathetic.

“To croak a guy” was not so casual a thing
as it had been the night before, and the gambler
was rather sick.

Perhaps—unpleasant thought—the law was
not a joke after all!






VIII

THE TICHBORNE CASE

Not far from Winchester, in England, there
has lived for centuries—since before William
the Conqueror—a very respectable, pious, ex-
tremely wealthy, and rather stupid family
named Tichborne. It is strange to reflect that,
except for their local power and celebrity, these
lords of the manor contrived to remain obscure
for a thousand years. It is much stranger to
realize that through the headstrong act of the
wife of one of them, aided by a few outside ras-
cals and a great many self-deluded folk, the
family suddenly achieved world-wide notoriety,
furnished a story to go rumbling through law-
books forever, made Dickens’ great suit of
Jarndyce vs. Jarndyce grow pale by compari-
son,—and then lapsed once more into complete
obscurity.

Eighty years ago there was a young member
of the family called Roger Charles Doughty
Tichborne. He was, it seemed, a long way from
the chieftainship of his clan; there were many
uncles and cousins between him and the baro-
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netcy and the rent-roll of £20,000 a year. He
was a slim, dark-haired, melancholy youth; the
subject of quarrels between his father and
mother ; derided by the other officers of his regi-
ment; shy, awkward, and unfortunate in his
only love-affair. His mother, the radix malo-
rum, was half a Frenchwoman, but wholly a
trouble-maker. Her son had been born in Paris,
and brought up as a French boy, speaking
French as his native language, and still, at the
age of twenty, pronouncing English with a
marked French accent. His mother hated every-
thing English, and determined that Roger
should be French. There was little chance then
that her husband would ever be the head of the
house. He was Mr. James Tichborne, a younger
son, and would probably so remain.

This gentleman, however, decided that his
son Roger should become and remain an Eng-
lishman. With a family funeral as a pretext,
he brought his son (then sixteen) to England,
and clapped him into a Jesuit seminary. The
Tichbornes were of the Church of Rome. Mrs.
Tichborne raged in fury; she was still raging
when, after three years of instruction by the
Jesuit fathers, Roger entered the English Army,
as an officer of Dragoon Guards. It is pre-
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sumed that he did not have all the qualifications
for that popular mystery, known to the world
as a heavy Dragoon. He was neither happy nor
especially successful as a cavalry officer. But
he had the uniform, and it has been effectively
said that, with such adornment, a lover’s pro-
fessions are eloquent everywhere.

Roger’s cousin, Miss Catherine Doughty,
liked him, and together they walked in the
wooded paths of Tichborne Park. Their attach-
ment was innocent, and altogether idyllic, until
the girl’s parents assumed melodramatic roles.
They forbade a betrothal; first, because Roger
was a cousin. The Pope could set that bar aside,
it is true, but the Pope could not alter two
facts which greatly horrified Miss Doughty’s
mother: Roger smoked tobacco, and read the
novels of Paul de Kock.

This was all but the last of Roger’s misfor-
tunes. He parted from his pretty cousin in sor-
row, and gave her a letter in which he promised
that if happier times should ever come, and
they should be married, he would build, as a
thanks offering, a chapel to the Virgin.

He had left the Army in disgust. There was
one thing, however, which he could do, and that
was to travel. He sailed to Valparaiso, and
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crossed to Buenos Ayres. From this place, in
1854, he sailed on a ship called the Bella, bound
for Jamaica, and thence to New York. Neither
the ship, nor any one aboard her, has ever been
seen again. One of her boats, and bits of wreck-
age, were discovered a few days after the de-
parture. Everybody on board had perished, and
Roger Tichborne’s unlucky life was ended.
Changes had already come in his prospects: as
in the melodramas, uncles and cousins had been
dying, and had he lived to return, in eight years
he would have been Sir Roger Tichborne, mas-
ter of all those lands, so broad and fair., As it
was, Roger’s younger brother succeeded to the
title, and then an infant nephew. Miss Cather-
ine married somebody else, whose own fortunes
finally made her Lady Radcliffe.

Roger’s will was probated and executed; the
insurance was paid on the Bella, and the fam-
ilies of her crew were compensated by the own-
ers. Nobody on earth doubted that Roger Tich-
borne was dead, nobody but one person: his
mother. The Dowager Lady Tichborne, actu-
ated by what some called by a fine name, but
which was really the working of an iron deter-
mination which had never known reason, in-
sisted—also as in a melodrama—on discover-
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ing the Lost Heir of Tichborne. She left a lamp
burning in the Hall to guide his faltering steps
aright; she interviewed wandering sailors, and
wrote to strangers. She advertised for her son,
in many lands and tongues, and especially in the
English colonies. Now, there is one kind of ad-
vertisement which never goes unanswered, and
that is one for a claimant to an estate worth
one hundred thousand dollars a year.

News came; answers to the advertisements
and presently letters from Australia,—from
Wagga Wagga. It was over twelve years since
Roger had shipped on the Bella, or written to
his mother, but now he began to address her
from Australia. He had been saved from the
ship-wreck, it seemed, and suffered many vicis-
situdes. Strange and unaccountable things had
happened to him. Lady Tichborne was not criti-
cal; it was remarked of her that she would have
accepted an Egyptian mummy, if one had been
shipped, as her long lost son. She might have
inquired how Roger’s letter-writing style had
undergone such a change. In his South Ameri-
can days his letters were a little odd, but in the
manner of an educated man. The Australian
Roger was only semi-literate; he used such
forms as “truble”; “has” for “as”; ‘“fue” for
“few”; and ‘“‘unnesersery.”
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He apologized for the slight interruption in
their correspondence—it was between twelve
and thirteen years—and recalled himself to his
mother by the “brown mark” on his side, and
“The Card Case at Brighton.” No one knew
what these were, but Lady Tichborne was de-
lighted. In one of the letters, in order to end
with an appropriate blessing from a son of the
Church, he expressed the hope, “May the Blessed
Maria have mersy on your soul,”—phraseology
certainly strange from a Roman Catholic, or in-
deed, from anybody at all.

There was an exchange of letters, and much
forwarding of money to insure the return of
this jewel to his own country and his estates.
Finally, after a year and a half, he came home,
via Panama an(} New York, and England un-
derstood that the lost had been found, that Sir
Roger Tichborne was preparing to assume
charge; and to oust the infant Baronet and his
trustees. Except for the Dowager, the family
seemed able to restrain their expressions of joy.
The wanderer was accompanied by an old Tich-
borne servant, from whom he had picked up
much useful information. It was indeed ro-
mantic, the ship-wrecked boy was home again,
having dropped all his “h’s” in the Australian
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bush. The missing Roger was five feet eight,
narrow-chested, thin and wiry, with dark hair,
and the manners of a gentleman. This man was
five feet ten; blond, with coarse features. Ile
weighed 280 pounds, and this rapidly increased
to about 350 pounds.

As a matter of fact, he was a former butcher
of Wapping; his name, (although it was years
before this could definitely be established) was
Arthur Orton. He had been in South America,
and had long lived in Australia, chiefly under
the name of Thomas Castro. In his youth at
Wapping he had appropriately been known as
“Bullocky” Orton. For the next eight years
(beginning in 1866) this enormous fat man was
one of the most famous personages in Britain;
current literature, the newspapers, the music-
halls, abounded with references to “The Claim-
ant.”” To his faithful believers he was, of course,
“Sir Roger.” I have opened a volume of Punch,
at random, for one of these years, and the first
picture I found was a cartoon by Tenniel, show-
ing the gigantic Tichborne Claimant astride the
shoulders of John Bull, like the Old Man of the
Sea.

It is interesting to consider what could have
been the strength of the case that kept him go-
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ing so long; that made thousands of people sub-
scribe to his cause—for he became a sort of
joint-stock company—that won support and
even loans of large syms from members of both
Houses of Parliament. To this day there can
probably be found, here and there in Britain,
folk who believe that the Claimant was deprived
of “his rights.” Only a week ago I read a book-
review, by an American writer, who seemed to
believe that there was “something” in Orton's
claim. Many from the lower classes in England
supported him, on the ground that he was ‘“one
of us”; although, of course, if his claim were
just he was not “one of us” at all, but a million-
aire of ancient lineage.

First, then, there was the recognition by the
Dowager. This was a strong argument to those
who knew nothing about her, but sentimentally
trusted in the belief that “a mother can never
mistake her own son.” The recognition took
place on a dark afternoon, in a dark room in a
Parisian hotel. The Claimant lay on a bed, his
clothes on, and his face turned to the wall. He
never turned toward her, and never spoke. She
approached and kissed him, saying: “He looks
like his father and his ears are like his uncle’s.”
After that she supported him, morally and
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financially, and lived with him for the few re-
maining years of her life. She died before the
first of the great suits at law which resulted
from his claims.

Next, there seems to have been some agree-
ment that there was, in this fat man’s counte-
nance, a resemblance not especially to Roger,
but to some of the men of the Tichborne family.
This was not noticed by every one, but it was
discoverable to a few. It has never been ex-
plained. It does not appear in portraits, and it
can probably be attributed to mere chance.

The Claimant’s knowledge of Roger’s early
life, of his family and homes, was at first gro-
tesquely inaccurate. As the years went by, and
he had more and more chance to acquire infor-
mation, it became less absurd, but it was never
satisfactory to an unbiased mind.

Finally, however, it should be said that a
large number of persons of all stations of life,
servants, family friends, troopers and officers in
Roger’s old regiment, came upon the witness-
stand and took oath that the Claimant was, in
truth, Roger Tichborne. Many of these changed
their minds, and fell away from him after the
revelations of the first trial, but some were
faithful to the end. Their testimony is ex-
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plained in various ways: some of them were
simple perjurers and were proven to be such;
many were honest, credulous folk, who had been
led into the Claimant’s presence, told they were
to meet Roger, and saw what they were ready
to see. They had been impressed by his mother’s
recognition; and their judgment was completely
overcome when the Claimant mentioned some
small incident of the old days,—something in
which he had been coached by his mother’s re-
tainers. Psychological suggestion did the rest,
and these witnesses joined the procession at his
coat-tails.

Such, briefly, was the case for the Claimant.
The case against him was not only overwhelm-
ing, but it is especially interesting as an illus-
tration of the value of circumstantial evidence,
which so many people distrust merely because
they do not really know what it is. The evidence
of Orton’s witnesses was direct evidence, which
is popularly supposed to be convincing.

Roger Tichborne, up to sixteen years, was a
French boy, speaking and writing French. The
Claimant knew not a word of the language; he
could not pronounce nor spell simple French
names, and he entered his supposed mother’s
name in a legal document as “Hannah Frances.”
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It really was Henriette Felicité, and when he
learned this fact he pronounced the second
name as Feleceet. Of the first sixteen years of
Roger’s life, the Claimant knew nothing; he
said that he was an enlisted man in the Army,
when really he was an officer. Imagine a former
officer forgetting that fact!

He had forgotten his amusements, his books
and his games. Roger had read Casar; the
Claimant did not know if Casar was a Greek
or a Latin writer. Roger had studied Euclid;
the Claimant was sure this had nothing to do
with mathematics; he took a reference to the
Pons Asinorum as a personal insult, but finally
thought it was a bridge near the seminary where
he lived for three years. The Claimant’s first
act, on returning to England, had not been to
hunt up the Tichbornes, but to go secretly to
Wapping and make inquiries for the Ortons.
Members of the Orton family appeared in
Court, by the way, and positively identified the
Claimant as their brother, Arthur.

The sealed letter, given by Roger to his
cousin Catharine, and pledging a chapel to the
Virgin, was made the subject of inquiry to the
Claimant. Did he know its contents? After
much hesitation he said it referred to the fact
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that he had seduced his cousin, and rendered her
pregnant. The letter was produced, and proved
the Claimant a very ungentlemanly kind of liar.
Finally, Roger Tichborne had been tattooed on
the arm, with an anchor, a heart, a cross, and
the letters R. C. T. All that the Claimant was
able to show, in tattoo marks, were the partly
obliterated letters A. O.,—~Arthur Orton.

The first trial was a civil one; a suit in eject-
ment, in which the Claimant sought to establish
himself as proprietor of the Tichborne estates.
The trial lasted 102 court days, with long re-
cesses; the cross-examination of the Claimant
lasted twenty-two days. Only then, five years
after the first emergence from Australia, did
the average Englishman get any clear idea of
the case, or of how preposterous were Orton’s
claims. The evidence about the tattoo marks
finally made the jury call a halt. The Claimant
was non-suited, and arrested for perjury.

A year or more later, Orton went on trial
on this charge. An especially long-winded and
exasperating Irish lawyer, named Doctor Ke-
nealy, was his counsel. The presence in the
Court of this gentleman was one reason why the
second trial lasted for 188 court days. The
Lord Chief Justice was not the least of the of-
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fenders; at the close he summed up for twenty
days! But Doctor Kenealy proceeded on the
theory that he was justified in tearing every-
thing to pieces if he could save his client. He
varied between outrageous slanders against
everybody who opposed Orton, and the most
tedious discussions of everything beneath the
sun, relevant and wildly irrelevant. He had the
Court cleared of ladies, while he read for hours
from the novels of Paul de Kock. His opening
speech lasted for twenty-one days; judges and
lawyers abandoned themselves to their fate.
One of them put it in verse:

Of virtue, science, letters, truth,
They talked till all was blue;

Of Paul de Kock, the bane of youth,
Of Bamfield Moore Carew.

If fools are oftener fat or thin;
Which first forget their tongue;

Why all tobacco mixed with gin,
Is poison to the young.

Lewis Carroll’'s “Hunting of the Snark” ap-
peared a few years after the close of the Tich-
borne trial, and dull folk who always search for
an allegory insisted that the poem was a bur-
lesque on the great law-suit. They may have
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found some excuse for their mistake in Henry
Holiday’s illustrations. If you open your copy
of the poem at the picture, “To pursue it with
forks and hope,” you will see, marching next
to the Beaver, an excellent presentment of Doc-
tor Kenealy—complete in wig and gown, spec-
tacles and fuzzy whiskers.

At last the Doctor ceased to bicker and to de-
claim, the jury listened to the long charge of
the Lord Chief Justice, and it took them only
thirty minutes to find Orton guilty of wilful and
corrupt perjury.

Orton went to prison for fourteen years; his
good behavior reduced this sentence to less than
eleven years. On his release, he began his cam-
paign once more, but he was reduced to speak-
ing in cheap music halls. Finally, he published
a signed confession, in which he described the
entire fraud. His first purpose was merely to
get Lady Tichborne to send him some money,
with which he planned to go from Australia
to America. Once in England, and—to his
great astonishment—once recognized by his
“mother,” he was in the grasp of circumstances,
and could never retreat. At times, when so
many folk were insisting that he was the miss-
ing Baronet, he felt as if this must be true, and
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became virtuously indignant toward those who
were depriving him of his rights.

His few followers in England took some con-
solation in the fact that he later retracted this
confession, and said that he was forced to make
it in order to relieve his poverty. His funeral,
in 1898, was rather an impressive ceremony,—
all the more because the coffin was solemnly in-
scribed with the name: “Sir Roger Charles
Doughty Tichborne.”






IX
A YOUNG LADY NAMED PERKINS

The strange career of Miss Josephine Amelia
Perkins, and her propensity for stealing horses,
is explained by an incident of her youth. The
only daughter of a gentleman in Devonshire,
she was sent, when a young girl, to attend a
riding-school. Thus, her father was really to
blame for all that followed, since Miss Josephine
soon excelled every other pupil in the art of
horsemanship, and what was of more fatal im-
portance, she acquired what she later called “my
present extravagant fondness for those noble
animals.”

There you have it. She could not help her-
self. If she so much as looked at a horse, espe-
cially a very good horse, she simply had to jump
on him and ride away. Sometimes she had to
look around for a saddle,—and, of course, for
a side-saddle, since, thank Heaven, she under-
stood propriety. Once, she had to hunt for
nearly twenty-four hours, but she found the
right saddle, and then came back, by night, and
got the horse.
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A parallel character in literature is Mr. Toad,
in “The Wind in the Willows.” He had a pas-
sion for motor-cars, and when he saw a fine one,
standing in an inn-yard, wondered if it started
easily. In another moment he was at the wheel,
and in another, humming down the highway.
But with no notion of stealing a car, mind you.

The clumsy criminologists of Miss Perkins’
day did not understand that she had what is now
known as the Centaur fixation, the equus com-
plex. Tt makes you steal horses,—but only
horses. A cow was perfectly safe with Joseph-
ine Perkins. The sheriffs and judges who were
forever persecuting her do not seem to have no-
ticed that significant fact. She analyzed her own
psychic peculiarities with discernment, when she
wrote:

“Ever since I discovered my natural and un-
governable attachment to animals of the horse
kind, T never have been without my fears that
the attachment would ultimately prove my over-
throw.”

It cannot be too emphatically stated that
horse-stealing was her only weakness. Aside
from a few instances of burglary and sneak-
thievery, one or two swindling episodes, and a
long campaign of artistic falsehood and impos-
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ture (entered into for a very definite object,
however) the character of Miss Perkins was,
virtually, spotless.

At the age of seventeen, and while living with
her father in Devonshire, she had the misfor-
tune to meet a young man “of genteel appear-
ance,” who was a purser in the Navy. His
courtship was not approved by her {ather, and
an elopement was planned. Josephine was to
possess herself of one of her father’s fleetest
and best horses; ride to Portsmouth; and join
her lover on his ship, as it sailed for the North
American Station. She was to go aboard *‘dis-
guised as a male,” and in the capacity of a vol-
unteer seaman.

It involved riding 117 miles in less than twen-
ty-four hours, but to one of the Perkinses of
Devonshire there was nothing in the thought to
cause an instant’s hesitation. She was pursued
by her father and uncle, but they rode in vain.
She had known which horse to select from her
father's stable. At Portsmouth, however, grief
awaited: her lover’s ship had already sailed.
She could not go back, and, as resolution was
never wanting to her character, she sold the
horse, and embarked on another ship for St.
John's, intending to proceed to Quebec.
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The perils of the deep encompassed her about;
the ship was wrecked and had to be abandoned,
and at last Miss Perkins found herself in Wil-
mington, N. C. She was nearly destitute, and
in great despair for a few days. Then, near the
village of Washington, in the same state, she
happened upon a fine horse, in a pasture. She
marked down his stable, and at night rode him
away. She did not know the country, however,
and the horse knew it too well; he took her in
a circle, and at morning brought her back to
Washington, and face to face with the owner.
She convinced the magistrate, in this case, that
the ride was taken merely “to gratify a whimsi-
cal notion”—so her discharge was immediate.

In South Carolina, her luck was hardly bet-
ter. Here she turned over a stolen horse to a
jockey, who sold him for $57, giving her two-
thirds of the proceeds. Miss Perkins was never-
theless captured and brought to trial, but en-
thusiastically acquitted on the ground of in-
sanity. She resolved to leave the Carolinas, and
go to Kentucky, of which she had heard the
most favorable accounts.

The state of Kentucky fascinated her. The
countryside, the trees, the flowers were all be-
yond compare. Especially celestial in the sight
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of the young lady was the Kentuckians’ “noble
breed of fleet and well-fed horses.”

So she settled down, and under the name of
Sarah Steward, tried to earn a tame and honest
livelihood. But the old equus complex was over-
powering our young heroine, and in a very short
time she found herself in Court, trying to ex-
plain how she became possessed of a horse to
which another person had a prior claim—and a
claim, as Miss Perkins admits, which was good
in the eyes of the law.

She was now actually doomed to spend two
years in the prison of Madison County. From
this dungeon, in May 1839, she addressed the
world, in a manifesto called “The Female Pris-
oner.” In it she gives a brief history of her life
(she was only twenty-one), but devotes more
pages to the description of her repentance; her
overwhelming regrets for her great transgres-
sions; and her firm adherence to many excellent
principles of morality.

Among other precepts which she secks to in-
culcate are that it is better to be poor than to be
dishonest ; that children should obey their par-
ents; that poverty is no disgrace; that virtue is
preferable to riches; and that, generally speak-
ing, young girls should avoid horse-stealing, and
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resist every temptation in that direction—even
if the object of their desire is a Kentucky thor-
oughbred.

With this sound advice, Miss Josephine Per-
kins disappears from the sight of the antiqua-
rian for about three years. Then, in 1842, she
comes once more before the public, and, harrow
and alas, this time in a pamphlet called “A De-
mon in Female Apparel: Josephine Amelia Per-
kins, the notorious female horse thief; again
in prison—and for life.”

Now, her repentance is sincere. She main-
tains that the early part of her narrative was
correct—although her vicissitudes have led her
into a slight mistake of memory, for in review-
ing her escapade in England it is now Liver-
pool, rather than Portsmouth, to which she fled
to join the amorous purser. Nor was there much
to correct in her story of her adventures up to
the moment she entered Madison County jail.
After that, as she sadly admits, hers was a tale
of deception, a pretense of reform for the pur-
pose of hoaxing the good ladies, and others, who
visited her in her cell.

The ladies had been profoundly distressed
that one so bowed down with shame at her
faults, one so plainly conscious of sin, should be
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left to languish in a prison with common felons.
So they circulated a petition, and soon had the
joy of effecting the release of Josephine Amelia.

The lassie had been free but a few days, when
the old urge came upon her, and soon she was
off again, on the broad highway, and on the
best horse she could find.

Moreover, she strayed into conduct which
was, at best, unladylike. By means of an old
great-coat, and a fur cap, she concealed her sex
and passed as a man. There is no suggestion
that she so far forgot herself as to abandon her
flowing skirts. She bilked tavern-keepers out of
their just charges; she travelled about with a
young planter, and although it does not appear
that their relations for one moment over-stepped
the limits of a frigid chastity, she incited him
to fraud and deception. She roamed about the
shores of the Ohio River, committing various
illegal deeds, and at last expressed her abandon-
ment by firing a pistol at a representative of the
law’s majesty, who came to apprehend her.

When she was brought to trial, she was
charged with stealing $150 in bank notes;
“making an unlawful and outrageous attempt
with a deadly weapon upon the life of the offi-
cer”; and with various thefts and high-handed
felonies.
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She had—she says so, herself—a “mere form
of trial,” and the aid of but “very imperfect”
counsel. It makes our cheeks redden with shame
to think that a woman could be so treated, for
it must be apparent to anyone, with the slight-
est knowledge of modern criminology, that Jo-
sephine Amelia Perkins was no criminal. But
she was sent to the Penitentiary, during the
term of her natural life, and so far as any docu-
mentary evidence has come to my notice, there
she stayed.

Thus did an innocent and amiable girl suf-
fer for the grievous mistake, the wanton blun-
der, of her father in sending her to a riding-
school, and implanting in her psyche, at a tender
age, an overmastering predilection for horse-
theft. Understanding, sympathy, an intelligent
recognition of her fixation were all denied her,
and the law was permitted to take its usual
stupid course.*

*Reasoning from internal evidence, I have hesitated about in-
cluding Miss Perkins in this collection of sober biographical es-
says. Doubts have arisen in my mind as to what scholars like
to call her historicity. From, say, 1830 to 1880, there appeared
a number of pamphlets whose publishers sought to introduce
fiction into respectable Anierican households, by the insidious
device of presenting imaginary persons and their disreputable
adventures as if these were fact. All my apprehensions were re-
moved when I found that the catalogues of the Library of Con-
gress and The New York Public Library both accept The
Demaon in Female Apparel as an historical personage, and that
both libraries classify her pamphlets as biography.
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X

THE FIRST BUTTERFLY OF BROAD-
WAY

Probably you have never heard of Thomas
Street in New York. It is a short and obscure
thoroughfare, in the down-town district, and it
is lined with uninteresting stone buildings. The
usual excavation is always in progress there.
Yet, if one may believe the newspapers of 1836,
this was once a region of romance and intrigue.
Here were houses with large gardens and high
fences, and over these fences, at night, clam-
bered mysterious men in black cloaks. It was
alleged that they left blood-stained weapons be-
hind them. And, at least one of the gardens
boasted an arbor, “filled with syrens and cham-
pagne, pineapples and pretty filles de joie.”

This curious mixture,—in any garden—
would attract one’s interest; but if you look
about now, to wonder where it could have been
located, and, if you remain in too great an ab-
straction, you will be hit by a steam-shovel, and
then, provided you are a follower of the Prophet

of Islam, you may awake in a Paradise where
111
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syrens and pineapples are included in the con-
tract.

The present number 41 Thomas Street can
hardly be on the site of that number in the
1830’s. It certainly is extremely difficult to
imagine in its vicinity, a pair of lovers reading
Byron together under an arbor. And I sus-
pect that in those Spring days, ninety-four years
ago, when the New York newspaper reporters,
with their tall hats and side-whiskers, flocked
to the place, they were doing exactly what the
gentlemen from the tabloids do to-day: making
two romances grow where not even one flour-
ished before.

Number 41 was the house of Rosina Town-
send, and over her career and occupation it be-
comes us, as strict moralists, to groan. The re-
porters of her day, exactly as in ours, managed
to print a great deal of perilous stuff by the
method of inserting words of solemn condem-
nation. The central figure of the event was in-
variably referred to as “the beautiful but erring
Helen Jewett.” Sometimes she was “accom-
plished but wayward.” One writer achieved a
triumph by calling her the “Queen of the Pave”
who ‘“shone resplendent nightly at the theatres.”
Another spoke of her as ‘‘the beautiful Au-
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gustan”; while such terms as “fair inamorata”
and “lovely unfortunate” were within the reach
of the youngest reporters. There was much in-
dignation aroused against Rosina Townsend
and her “house of sinful luxury,” but this phrase
was thought tame, compared with its happier
characterization as “this Palace of the Pas-
sions.”

Clergymen became wrathful about “dens of
infamy,” inhabited by “soiled doves,” and, as
usual at that period, dragged up for public in-
spection the pretty ladies of Greece and Rome.
Lais, Phryne and Aspasia were all under sub-
peena to testify about Mrs. Townsend, Miss
Jewett, and their friends.

The real name of Helen Jewett was Dor-
cas Dyon, or Doyen. I suggest that the actual
name was better than the assumed one. She was
beautiful,—everyone agrees on that. Her hair
was black, and (according to one authority) she
chose to dress in green. Alfred Henry Lewis
represents her as setting agog the grave and rev-
erend, the gay and distinguished men of New
York (all of them are there together, in his
story) as she walked slowly up quiet, tree-lined
Broadway of a summer afternoon. She was
“one of the most splendidly dressed women that
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went to the third tier of the theatre,”’—whatever
that means. She is described as attending the
Park Theatre one night, when the bill included
the opera “The Maid of Judah” and a farce
“The Dumb Belle,”—a performance which oc-
cupied four hours. She had fine gowns and
handsome rings: two with emeralds. She was
fond of needlework, and not unwilling to sew
and even make shirts for one or two of her
lovers.

If some of her letters were really written by
the gentlemen of the press, there seem to have
been genuine notes by her, which got into print,
They were well-written, although stilted and—
according to our ideas—formal. And we have it
on the authority of James Gordon Bennett
(whose New York Herald was then one year
old) from a personal inspection which he made
of Helen’s writing-desk and library, that the lat-
ter included books by Scott, Dryden, Bulwer,
Pope, Homer, Virgil (in translation), Plutarch,
Shakespeare and Ben Jonson. Evidently there
was an excuse for comparing her with Aspasia.

Helen Jewett was twenty-three, and she had
been born in Maine. Scandals clustered around
her career. She was credited—or charged—
with a love-affair at the age of eleven, with a
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boy named Sumner. I suspect that this was
merely a childhood friendship, but the incident
is described, by one censor of her conduct, as an
“unholy intimacy.”

Soon afterwards, however, the girl chose the
primrose path in earnest. It led through Port-
land and Boston, and, at last, to New York.
After two or three years in that city she arrived
at Rosina Townsend’s. And here someone took
upon himself rights of vengeance which have
been expressly reserved elsewhere than on earth.
For, whatever Helen Jewett had done, nobody—
except one savage clergyman, who preached
about it—felt that she merited her fate.

Before daylight, one Sunday morning, Mrs.
Townsend smelled smoke coming from Miss
Jewett’s room. She opened the door, and with
the help of others, put out a fire that was
smouldering within. The girl was lying on the
floor, her body slightly burned. The cause of
death, however, was plainly shown by three
wounds in her head, as from an axe. The police
were called—they were known then as “the
watch”—and various persons scrambied around
in the dark and attempted to escape from the
house. The newspapers delicately described
them as en deshabillé.
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identified as one in Helen Jewett’s possession
shortly before the murder. And finally, Rosina
Townsend testified that she let Robinson into
her house early that evening to keep an appoint-
ment with Miss Jewett. She did not know him
by his own name, but by one which he adopted
for purposes of nocturnal adventure: Frank
Rivers. Mrs. Townsend had been requested by
Helen to admit “Frank Rivers,” but by no
means to let in another gay dog who called him-
self “Bill Easy.”

Later, at about eleven, Miss Jewett ordered
a bottle of champagne, and the obliging Mrs.
Townsend carried it to the girl’s room, on a
salver, with two glasses. She was even asked
inside, to have some of the champagne, but she
declined. Through the door, however, she saw
Frank Rivers lying on the bed, reading a book.
She recognized him, particularly by a bald spot
on the crown of his head. And this partly bald
young man, she impressively stated to the Court,
was the prisoner at the bar, Mr. Robinson. He
now, for some reason, was wearing a wig, over
a shaven head. The wig was blond and curled.

This looked like hanging evidence. It was the
theory of Mr. Phoenix, the district attorney,
that, at about three in the morning, Mr. Robin-
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son had murdered Helen Jewett; set her room
on fire, and departed by the back way. A girl
who lived in the house saw him go. He climbed
the back fence, carelessly losing the axe and his
cloak. He then went to Dey Street,—and so to
bed. What his motive may have been, Mr. Phoe-
nix does not appear to have stated. It might
have been robbery; or a quarrel; or jealousy;
but exactly what it was, has never been sug-
gested with plausibility. A theory has been ad-
vanced that the young man was about to marry
Miss Hoxie, the daughter of his employer, and
that Helen Jewett was trying to block that plan,
since she herself loved Robinson. The ‘“ro-
mance” between them was nearly a year old:
they were reported to have read poetry together
in the garden at 41 Thomas Street and they had
met at that house more than once.

The famous lawyer, Ogden Hoffman, who
defended Robinson, had some cards up his
sleeve, worth more than all the witnesses from
Mrs. Townsend’s dubious household. Mr. Hoff-
man referred to Mrs. Townsend'’s credibility in
severe terms, and the judge seemed to agree with
him. He described his client, in tones of heart-
rending pathos, as “this poor boy.” And, best of
all, he produced a man named Furlong who kept
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a grocery on Nassau Street. This citizen swore
solemnly that Robinson was smoking “segars”
in his shop, more than a mile from Mrs. Town-
send’s, on the night of the murder. And that he
stayed there up to an hour which suggested that
that eminent lady was either a very poor ob-
server or else a vicious perjurer.*

The jury acquitted Robinson in ten minutes,
and all the young men who were within cheering
distance, cheered loud and long. They had be-
come fond of him, and had adopted cloaks like
his. They also wore caps with glazed vizors, like
the one he wore. These were known as “Frank
Rivers caps.” It appeared at the trial, by the
way, that there were two gentlemen known at
41 Thomas Street as “Frank Rivers.” Who the
other one was, remained a problem, until Mr.
Robinson’s roommate, Mr. James Tew, came
and deposed that it was he. Like some impecuni-
ous young men who share an evening suit, they
had only one stage-door name between them.
“Bill Easy” also appeared—in person—his name
was George B. Marston, and he seems to have

had the sole use of this pleasing nom de guerre.

*It is very strange that, as soon as Mrs. Townsend’s charac-
ter was impeached by the defense, the prosecuting attorney did
not seize the opportunity, eagerly awaited by every lawyer, and
read, with great solemnity, the story of the woman taken in
adultery.
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There were many curious incidents connected
with the trial. There was the testimony of a
clerk from the shop of Dr. Chabert, “the Fire
King” (324 Broadway) who said that Robin-
son had tried to buy arsenic at the Fire King’s
pharmacy. There was the suicide, two weeks
after the trial, of Furlong, the Nassau Street
grocer, whose testimony was so useful to the
prisoner; and also the sudden—and so it is said,
the suspicious—deaths of one or two other wit-
nesses in the case, before the trial. There were
stories of a juror who received a gift of money
from a mysterious bearded man, directly after
the verdict; and there was the yarn of the
wealthy lady of Washington Square, who loved
Robinson, and supplied the funds for his ex-
penses, legitimate and otherwise. These are but
a few of the facts or legends of the case.
Robinson did not marry Miss Hoxie. He
moved, very soon, to Texas. And there he mar-
ried, and, in less than two years died. In spite
of his alibi, and in spite of his friends who, like
the guinea pigs at the trial of the Knave of
Hearts, cheered so often, I think he cheated the
gallows and died in debt.



XI
“YOU MURDERING MINISTERS!’

“Three Criminous Clerks” was the engaging
title given by the late H. B. Irving to an essay
about some French priests who had dabbled in
murder. “Clerks,” was used, of course, in the
old sense of “clerics,” and the phrase became
especially effective if you were careful to imitate
Irving, and his fellow-Englishmen, and rhyme
“clerks,” not with “smirks,” but with “sparks.”

Mr. Irving found no such group of homicidal
ecclesiastics in his own island (despite Lady
Macbeth’s cry: “You murdering ministers!”)
and contented himself with an allusion to the
Reverend John Selby Watson. This gentleman,
as he said himself, could “write Latin which the
Bishop of Winchester would commend,” but he
was, nevertheless, shut up in prison for killing
his wife.

The folk of many countries have had occasion
to look with horror upon some person in holy
orders with a weakness for murder. Readers
with a taste for such histories usually remember
that Germany has contributed Father Riem-

131
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bauer to the list, although his career, as related
by the learned Feuerbach, seems to me to be
lacking in the higher fascination.

When we come to America, and try to chroni-
cle the shepherds who, instead of protecting
their flocks, have gone over to the side of the
wolves, there is an embarrassing amount of ma-
terial. There is, if, with too great faith, we ac-
cept the statistics of an inquirer named Billings,
who, about 1881, published a monograph called
“Crimes of Preachers in the United States and
Canada.” This painful work, to the great joy of
the ungodly, had such a success as to result in
ten editions in the next thirty years,

It has long lists, alphabetical and chronologi-
cal, of clergymen charged with acts of rapine
and slaughter, and it also contains percentage
tables, classified according to sects, with results
which should be highly pleasing to Mr. H. L.
Mencken. Yet I think that its compiler lacked
the scientific spirit.

Thus, it sets down the names of all who were
charged with offences. Near the top is my old
friend, the Reverend Mr. Avery of Bristol,

R. I. Since writing about him, I have visited
the scene of his alleged exploit, and am more
than ever persuaded that the board of magis-
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trates which freed him, and the jury which later
acquitted him, dealt justly with an unfortunate
man. I do not believe that he murdered Miss

Cornell.

Among the G’s, Mr. Billings names the “Rev-
erend C. J. Guiteau,” who shot President Gar-
field. Ttis true that religious fanaticism was one
of Guiteau’s weaknesses ; but so was political en-
thusiasm—there is exactly as much reason for
calling him Senator or Ambassador Guiteau, as
for describing him as the “Reverend.”

The tables and lists of Mr. Billings must not
be swallowed whole. It may be true that Henry
E. Dixey, once upon a time, stung by some cleri-
cal allusion to the stage and its people, offered
to prove that, at any period, there is a higher
percentage of ministers than of actors in jail.
Nevertheless, a murder by a clergyman is enter-
taining, not because such events are frequent,
but because they are rare.

Persons who find much interest in an assassi-
nation by a gangster or gunman ought to know
that these events are feeble in their charm com-
pared to a murder, if one could be unearthed, by
an archbishop. And a thoroughly good poison-
ing perpetrated by the Professor of Christian
Ethics in a respectable school of divinity; a well-
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planned shooting or bludgeoning by a fashion-
able curate; or almost any sort of homicide by
the Dean of a cathedral would be more precious
to the discriminating amateur than all the vulgar
atrocities which may be committed in the under-
world of Memphis, Tenn., in the next eighteen

months.

The Reverend George Washington Carawan
dominated the countryside in those eastern coun-
ties of North Carolina which border on the two
great Sounds: Pamlico and Albemarle. Here, in
the early 1850’s, he seemed to be a mighty man
of God: a fiery preacher of the Word, a pros-
perous farmer, a hunter, and a tremendous suc-
cess as the local dispenser of Schrecklichkeit.
His slaves shook with fear at the sound of his
roaring voice; while the white men who had of-
fended him, stepped softly and kept away from
his plantation when it was rumored that the
Reverend George was out with his gun full of

buck-shot.

Another preacher of the same sect and sub-
sect (they were “Hard-Shell” Baptists) a man
called the Reverend Albin B. Swindell, thought
that Mr. Carawan had strayed a little too far in-
to unchurchmanlike conduct when he poisoned a
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youth named Hudson. Brother Swindell ac-
tually brought charges against Brother Cara-
wan, and sought to have him dismissed from the
church.

A few weeks later, Mr. Swindell made his
way along a lonely road, en route to a religious
assembly. Luckily, and unexpectedly, he had an-
other man with him, so when Mr. Carawan sud-
denly jumped out of the woods, with his great,
big double-barrelled gun in his hands, there was,
on both sides, an awkward pause.

“Oh, ho! hum!” said Mr. Carawan, “it's a
fearful nuisance, you know, but some of my
slaves have run away, and I'm looking after
them. Haven’t seen any of them, have you?”

Both the other gentlemen said that they
thought the slaves had gone in quite the opposite
direction, and the strained situation was re-
lieved by the departure of the vengeful Cara-
wan.

A modest and anonymous biographer, who
published his work about 1854, is my sole au-
thority for the life of this astonishing cleric.
According to his account, Carawan, as a youth,
was accustomed to mock at religion, and to en-
tertain his friends by delivering parodies of the
preachers. He possessed one qualification which
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Mr. George Ade has said is also essential for a
statesman: on a clear day he could be heard for
a mile. He decided, therefore, to adopt sacred
oratory, and in 1827 was baptized by no less a
person than Elder Enoch Brickhouse.. His gifts
as an exhorter were recognized, and soon he was
an ordained preacher. His ministry lasted for
twenty-five years, during which time he had
charge of Pungo Church, of the congregation at
Goose Creek, and of many others, including the
important parish at Mattamuskeet in Hyde
County. The nearest town of importance is
Swan Quarter, and the whole region was as re-
markable for its romantically named villages, as
it was for its intense devotion to evangelical re-
ligion of a fiery flavor.

Much that is good has been said of Parson
George. Hundreds of souls were rescued from
damnation through his eloquence; he plunged
more than 500 sinners (including many elderly
persons) beneath the saving waters of bap-
tism; and five or six young men, inflamed by
his sermons, were “raised up” to become preach-
ers. Churches which were falling into the sin of
Laodicea (being lukewarm, neither hot nor
cold) were suddenly revived under his ministry.
Yet he would take no pay, preferring, as he said,
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to follow the example of the Apostles, and go
about dispensing the blessings of the Gospel
without money and without price.

He was an industrious husbandman, and
prospered in a worldly sense. He owned two
farms. He exercised the characteristic hospital-
ity of his native State, welcoming the traveller
to his hearth and home, and sending him forth
again, fed, sustained, and cheered.

As to the darker side of his career (prior to
the event which made him interesting even to the
New York Herald) 1 hesitate to record what his
historian has written. Once let a man be reason-
ably accused of murder, and all manner of evil
is raked up, or invented, about him. To this un-
fortunate love of gossip, we owe, I am con-
vinced, the horrid story about Miss Lizzie Bor-
den and her kitten. But it must be said, however
briefly, and with all due allowance for exaggera-
tion, that scandals had a tendency to cluster
about the name of the shepherd of Goose Creek.

Thus, there was the affair of Polly Richards,
which had actually brought about his dismissal
from the Church. He was reinstated, however,
although it is further asserted that the child of
this lsaison had been removed by strangulation.
The first Mrs. Carawan died, not from natural
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causes, but by some unfortunate association
with part of a package of arsenic—afterwards
found in the Parson’s trunk. The removal of
young Hudson, previously referred to, followed
a marriage into which the youth was forced at
the convenience of his spiritual guide: Mr.
Carawan. Other events in his past showed that
he was inclined to imitate not the virtues but the
sins of King David, particularly in the matter
of the wife of Uriah the Hittite.

Everything culminated in his quarrel with
Clement Lassiter, teacher in a “singing geogra-
phy” school, and a young man, so we are told,
“of reserved manners and melancholy tempera-
ment.” Another observer has added that Mr.
Lassiter was a fat young man. Whatever the
state of his figure, his conduct, so the second
Mrs. Carawan remarked, was proper and cor-
rect. She had opportunity to observe, since the
teacher, for a number of months, had boarded
at the parsonage.

Now, no one has been able to explain why the
clergyman suddenly made the gravest assertions
about young Lassiter, accusing him of such con-
duct toward Mrs. Carawan that the charge, if
proven, would have brought the teacher into
peril of capital punishment for an offense then
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held equally detestable with murder. Lassiter,
however, even with his reserved manner, was
forced into an action for slander, and was vin-
dicated in the Courts, getting a judgment of
$2,000 against his former host.

There had been a painful scene at the very
front door of the parsonage. As reported by
Parson George—the only surviving witness—
he, the injured one, “had a house moving,” and
Lassiter stood about all day whittling with his
knife, and did not offer to assist. Provoked by
this display of selfishness, the minister told the
teacher that this was not the first of his acts of
ingratitude, and seized the occasion to discuss
the delicate subject of the attempt to ravish Mrs.
Carawan.

Lassiter then flew into a passion, and making
the first use of his knife—other than for whit-
tling—“cut at him” (i. e., the Parson) “twice
across the bowels.” With natural regard for his
own safety, Mr. Carawan ran into the house,
and snatched down the old fowling-piece from
over the door. He then told Lassiter to get off
the place, “or I will blow a load through you.”

The school-master prudently replied that he
would go as soon as he got his umbrella. He
then went into the house, secured this treasured
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possession, and departed. In the middle of the
road he stood, for a while, cursing the man of
God, like a pickpocket. Such was the tale told
by Mr. Carawan.

A few days later, at about 2 P.M., a nephew
of the clergyman, apprenticed to him, saw Mr.
Lassiter pass the house, and disappear toward a
wood. Soon there emerged from the parsonage,
Mr. and Mrs. Carawan, the former leading by
some distance; the latter following, and partly
concealing under her apron, the fowling-piece,
previously mentioned as the protector of the
family honor. The lady soon returned, without
the gun, but the Parson came not into sight
again until the setting of the sun. Business had
detained him in the wood.

The complete disappearance of Mr. Lassiter,
and the subsequent discovery of his corpse,
buried in a lonely place, caused the minister to
depart for Tennessee. His remark to his slaves
and henchmen was:

“Boys, they have found Lassiter, and I have
got to go away or else I shall be hung.”

Inasmuch as one of Mr. Carawan’s slaves, a
negro named Seth, had given a complete account
of his master’s frank confession of the murder,
and of how he, the slave, was compelled to help
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bury the school-teacher, there was not much
doubt in the popular mind as to the fact that this
was one more notch on Parson George’s gun.
Seth’s testimony, as that of a negro slave, was
inadmissible in Court.

The part of Mrs. Carawan in the assassina-
tion is cloudy: her expedition to the woods, act-
ing as gun-bearer, makes it seem as if she were
a willing and enthusiastic coadjutor. Yet the
historian of the Carawans insists that the accu-
sation against Lassiter was all trumped up, and
that the lady spoke in the highest terms of his
correct deportment. It may have been his fussi-
ness about the umbrella which finally turned her
esteem into distaste.

Mr. Carawan stayed in Tennessce a few
months, but was forced to return in secret, in
order to realize on his property, and attempt an-
other flight. He was captured, in the manner of
the times and region, by a posse of twenty-five
men, armed with muskets and shot-guns. They
surrounded his house at night, and when, at last,
they compelled him to come forth in his night-
gown, took care to have him manacled before
they allowed him to put on any of his more es-
sential garments.

Even at the age of fifty-three, Parson George
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by no means had had all his teeth drawn. He se-
cured a change of venue to another county. He
carried on a voluminous correspondence from
the jail, signing his letters “Old Horse in the
Stable.” This caution was due to the fact that
the object of the letters was the suppression of
the most damaging witness: his nephew. This
youth he wished to have bribed, or sent out of
the country—or silenced, somehow.

All went badly for the defense, however, and
the trial was conducted with order and decorum,
and with scholarly citation of Rex vs. Thornton,
and of Mr. Baron Parker in Tawell’s case.
When the jury, each and every man, announced
their verdict of “Guilty,” the clerical convict
was seen to unbutton his waistcoat and open his
shirt-bosom. The jury were discharged, and the
Court announced a recess of one hour, before
sentence.

This was never pronounced. The Parson drew
a single-barrelled, self-cocking pistol from his
bosom, leaned forward, thrusting his arm be-
tween the heads of two of his counsel, and took
aim at Mr. Warren, who had made the final
argument for the State. He fired, and the ball
struck the advocate just above the heart. Owing
to some fortunate circumstance—perhaps pro-
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tective armor—the bullet fell to the floor, and
Mr. Warren received no injury.

Parson George drew another pistol and ap-
plied it to his own head. A deputy sheriff strug-
gled with him—foolishly enough—but was un-
able to spoil the aim. The bullet entered the
right side of the skull, above the ear, penetrated
the brain, and lodged over the left eye.

“His Honor left the bench, and the jury their
seats, everything being in the wildest confu-
sion.”

Yet it takes a good deal to kill one of the old
fighting Carawans. The Reverend George lin-
gered for three or four hours, before at last his
spirit fled to the shades below.






XII
THAT DAMNED FELLOW UPSTAIRS

Mr. Pickwick knew an old man who said that
the rooms in the Inns of Court were ‘“‘queer old
places”—odd and lonely.

“Not a bit of it!” said a sceptical friend.

Then the sceptic, who lived by himself in one
of these rooms, died one morning of apoplexy,
as he was about to open his door. Fell with his
head in his cwn letter-box, and lay there for
eighteen months. At last, as the rent was not
being paid, the landlords had the door forced,
“and a very dusty skeleton in a blue coat, black
knee-shorts and silks, fell forward in the arms
of the porter who opened the door.”

Years after Mr. Pickwick’s adventures were
over, entrance was one day forced into another
queer old room in a London house, and, with a
tremendous clatter, out tumbled another skele-
ton, of a still stranger kind.

The noise it made was not heard in America,
since we were completely absorbed, that sum-
mer, in the first battle of Bull Run. The story

would be forgotten in England to-day, were it
135
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not for the admirable essay published seven
years ago by the late Sir John Hall, Bart. This
gentleman is respected by all those who ap-
preciate scholarly descriptions of curious events.
It is probable, however, that of all who see my
retelling of the tale, only experts like Messrs.
Alexander Woollcott and S. S. Van Dine, will
be familiar with Sir John Hall's work. And as
it has been solemnly asserted, in print, that the
names of both Mr. Woollcott and Mr. Van Dine
arc but pseudonyms of the writer of this book,
the circle is very much narrowed. So I feel
moderately safe in going ahead, especially as 1
have unearthed one or two details on my own
account.

Toward noon of a day in July, in that far-off
year, Mr. Clay, the manager of the Catalonian
Cork-Cutting Company, was in the rear of his
premises in Northumberland Street, I.ondon.
He heard two pistol shots from within the
house; one shot following the other at a five-
minute interval. He paid no attention, since he
knew that one of the residents of the house had,
for a month past, anticipated Sherlock Holmes
in the eccentric custom of indoor pistol-practice.

After a few minutes. a rear window on the
second floor was opened, and there appeared the
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hero of the story. His conduct, his accoutre-
ment, and some of his speeches, have always re-
called to me those half-demented and curious
persons who flit through the novels of Mr. G.
K. Chesterton. He was a man in his forties;
wearing, I think, side-whiskers, and carrying
in one hand an umbrella, in the other, half a pair
of tongs. He put one foot on the sill, and secemed
about to jump twenty feet or more into the yard.

This horrified the Catalonian cork-cutter, not
only because the stranger’s face was covered
with blood, but because of the flag-stones and
an area, with iron railings, directly below the
window. He adjured the bearer of the umbrella,
in the name of God, to do nothing desperate, but
to tell him what was the matter.

“Murder is the matter!” replied the gory one,
and continued his preparations for a desperate
leap.

Mr. Clay sent one of his employees for the
police, and ran indoors to try to get into the
second-floor apartment. While he was banging
at the locked doors, he heard glass breaking, and
on looking out again, found that the mysterious
person had jumped into the yard; fought off a
workman who tried to stop him; clambered over
a high wall into the next yard—still armed with
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the umbrella; gained an alley between the
houses ; and made his way into the street.

Here, he was surrounded by a group of people
who had come running from various directions.
He complained that some one who lived at Num-
ber 16 had tried to murder him. One of the men
in the street must have secured the umbrella—
perhaps while the wounded man was adjusting
his cravat, or brushing off his clothes—for the
stranger asked for the umbrella again, and said
that he must be getting to his office. This, in
spite of the fact that he had lost his hat; had a
terrible wound in the back of the neck; another,
which was bleeding freely, on his cheek; and
that both his hair and whiskers were singed.

Duty was evidently the keynote of his char-
acter. He was an officer and a gentleman, and
to introduce him by name, he was Major Wil-
liam Murray, late of the 10oth Hussars, but a
total stranger to all in the street. As it will ap-
pear presently, deception was in his eyes a far
more grievous offense than personal violence,
and to him unsportsmanlike conduct seemed the
blackest of sins.

A man in the crowd reasoned with him about
going to his office.

“You are badly wounded,” said this one.
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“Am I?” replied the Major.

“Indeed, you are fearfully wounded.”

Then the Major remarked:

“It’s that damned fellow upstairs—Grey.”

“There is nobody named Grey in that house,”
the man returned. “But if you mean the man I
saw you go in with, about half an hour ago, hss
name is Roberts.”

Then, at last, the Major allowed a faint note
of bitterness to creep into his tone.

“He told me,” he said, “he told me, that his
name was Grey.”

Meanwhile, much was going on in and about
Number 16 Northumberland Street. The oc-
cupants of that and nearby houses had all heard
the pistol shots, and one of them had heard other
noises—as if someone were beating a mattress.
But no one gave much thought to the reports,
since they all knew the habit of their neighbor,
Mr. Roberts, of amusing himself by target prac-
tice. Roberts was, by profession, a solicitor;
actually he accommodated people by lending
money. This he did at no great disadvantage to
himself,—his idea of a proper rate of interest
being 13314 %, per annum.

Inside the house, during the talk on the street,
was a Mr. Preston-Lumb, an engineer. To him
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came young Mr. Roberts, son of the money-
lender.

“Oh! Mr. Lumb,” he cried,—forgetting, in
his excitement, the glories of the hyphenated
name, “Oh, Mr. Lumb, some one has been and
murdered Father!”

Thus, at last, we learn the real origin of the
remark which Miss Lizzie Borden called up the
stairs to Bridget Sullivan, on another warm and
sanguinary noon-day, many years afterward.

Meanwhile, the man in the crowd, and most
of the crowd, too, were escorting the wounded
Major, first to a chemist’s for immediate relief,
and then to a bed in the Charing Cross hospital.
His injuries were serious, but he was able, as
they walked along, to give the First Citizen a
perfectly lucid account of the surprise attack
which had been made upon him by the fellow
who said his name was Grey.

When the police arrived, and began to search
for Mr. Roberts, another inquirer came upon
the scene. This was one Timms, a man who had
been engaged in washing down the back of the
house. To him, shortly before the shots were
fired, had come Mr. Roberts, given him a shil-
ling, and asked him to go to the top of St. Mar-
tin’s Lane, and buy a linnet. He added that the
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price of the bird was ninepence. Now, Mr.
Timms returned, and was left in possession of
the linnet, and of the threepence change.

This, in a modern American murder trial,
would have been a winsome incident, to be re-
peated to the jury, by the weeping lawyer for the
defense, coupled with a demand for the instant
acquittal of the prisoner, as one whose tender
heart was solely concerned with feathered song-
sters of the air.*

The police, by means of ladders, at last ef-
fected an entrance to the rooms of Mr. Roberts.
To these locked apartments, hardly anyone, not
even the money-lender’s son, had ordinarily been
admitted.

The officers looked at an amazing sight. The
rooms were elaborately over-furnished in the
French style of the period of Louis Philippe.
There were half a dozen good water-color paint-
ings, with heavy gold frames. Brackets and
shelves were ornamented with statuettes and
bric-a-brac, under glass covers. The floor space
was crowded with ormolu tables and boule cabi-
nets. Everything in the room was filthy with

*Or, perhaps, in an English trial, if the late Sir Edward
Marshall Hall were defending. The recent publication of the life
of this eminent defender of accused persons has done much to
hearten American jurists, by revealing that our courts have no
monopoly of oratorical flapdoodle.
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dirt and dust—the thick, black encrustation
which follows years of neglect. On the floor
was a great heap of crumpled papers, also pow-
dered with dust, while the marble mantelpiece
was scarred and chipped by the bullets from Mr.
Roberts’ pistol.

In the front room the ornate and dirty furm-
ture was little disarranged, but the other room
showed the marks of a terrific fight. Chairs and
gilded tables had been upset. The dust had been
beaten down; the inlaid cabinets were smeared
by bloody fingers. There were splashes of blood
on the walls, and a shower of drops of blood on
the glass covers over the ornaments. In places,
the room looked “as if a bloody mop had been
trundled round and round.”

The police found parts of the broken tongs,
“actually coated with bits of flesh and blood”
and another weapon of the fight, a broken wine-
bottle, lying in a pool of blood. Near the wall in
the front room, his head a shocking mass of
wounds, lay the owner of all this: Roberts, the
money-lender. He had a dozen or twenty in-
juries, any one of which looked as if it alone
should have been instantly fatal. Yet he lived,
and could talk.

He, also, was taken to the hospital, where, to



THAT DAMNED FELLOW 143

the astonishment of the surgeons, he lived for
six days. Most of this time he was conscious,
but did not say much to help the police. He said
that Murray, whom he met by accident in the
street, had come to his rooms for a loan. And
then, “Murray shot himself in the neck, attacked
me with the tongs like a demon, and hit me with
a glass bottle.”

Aside from the improbability of this, the chief
wound of the Major made the money-lender’s
story absurd, and indicated that Roberts had
done the shooting. The Major had said, from
the start, that Roberts was an utter stranger,
whom he had met in the street; that he had been
asked to come to the house in Northumberland
Street to discuss a proposed loan to a company,
and that he had been shot and almost killed for
no reason which he could imagine. He then de-
fended his life with the weapons that came to
hand.

Young Roberts was brought to his bedside,
but still the name meant nothing.

“What Roberts?”’ said the Major.

“Why, the son of the Roberts who shot you,”
was the reply.

Then the exasperation of Major Murray
burst forth again.
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“Why, damn him,” he said, “he ought to be
hanged for shooting a man on the ground!”

To the sporting Major, especially at a time
of the year when the thoughts of all English-
men were dwelling upon the approach of the
grouse season, it was scandalous that Roberts
had not flushed him before firing.

Since Roberts died without giving any reason
for the fight, and since it was a mystery to Ma-
jor Murray, the police continued to search the
rooms for an explanation. At last, as in a de-
tective story, they believed they had found it in
a few marks on a blood-stained sheet of blotting
paper. Holding this to the mirror, they deci-
phered the name ‘“Mrs. Murray,” and an ad-
dress: Elm Lodge, Tottenham. There were also
some fragments of letters from Mrs. Murray to
Mr. Roberts.

The inquest was held ten days after the fight.
The jury met in the hospital, where they could
most easily inspect the battered remains of the
man who lost the combat, and also question the
winner of it. The so-called Mrs. Murray ap-
peared, heavily veiled. When she lifted this veil,
she disclosed “the features of a remarkably
pretty woman" of about twenty-five. Her name
was Anna Maria Moody. Seven or eight years
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earlier, she had left her family “to live un-
der Major Murray’s protection,” and she had
called herself Mrs. Murray for five years. The
Major had taken Elm Lodge for her, and had al-
ways treated her in the most “noble-hearted
manner,” in accordance with his disposition,
which was “amiable and kind.” When her baby
was born, she was embarrassed for funds, and
was unwilling to ask for more money from the
Major, who, although apparently a bachelor,
was “under heavy expenses.”

Someone tcld her of Roberts; she went to
him, and found him willing to lend her £15, pro-
vided she signed a three months’ note for £20.

She had never been able to pay the debt, but
had continued to make quarterly payments of £5
as interest. From the beginning, Roberts had
tried to make love to her, and offered to release
her from the debt, if she would leave Major
Murray, and go to Scotland with him.

It was believed that Miss Moody told the
truth; that she was faithful to the Major; and
that she was forced to accept Roberts’ company,
and go with him—usually chaperoned by his
wife—to church and to entertainments; and
even to write affectionate notes to him; and that
all this was the craft of a helpless woman who
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“I knew if I could get on my feet I could make
a fight for it.”

He opened his eyes and saw the tongs. With
these in his hands, he jumped up and attacked
his intending murderer. Then occurred a fight
which raged all over the room. The tongs were
smashed against Roberts’ skull, after which the
Major found a large black wine-bottle and
smashed that in the same manner. Both men
were up and down, sprawled on the floor, and
fighting desperately for whatever weapon the
Major tried to employ. Once, Murray caught
up a metal vase and threw it at the other’s head
—but missed. Two or three times, Roberts
seemed to be down and out, but he would recover
his feet, and—a hideous sight—come lurching
toward the Major, who was trying to find an
escape from the apartment. At last, Roberts fell
on his face as though dead; the Major pushed
him through into the front room, shut the fold-
ing doors, and leaped out the window. He re-
garded the men in the back yard as possible ene-
mies, because he thought that people who could
listen to pistol shots and all the uproar of the
fight, and take no notice of it, must be associate
ruffians in a den of thieves and murderers.

Major Murray’s story was corroborated by
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all the facts known to the jury, who brought in
a verdict of “justifiable homicide”—this amidst
the applause of the crowd of spectators.

Roberts’ motive for the attempt at murder
seems absurdly inadequate, but it is probable
that, in his desperate infatuation for Miss
Moody, he thought that with the Major out of
the way, he might somehow become the heir to
her affections. How he planned to dispose of
the body is not clear: perhaps, in the mass of
other rubbish which filled his strange dwelling,
he thought that the corpse of a retired officer
would pass unnoticed.

Miss Moody, like Mr. Timms’ linnet, disap-
pears from the history. Whether she was a
member of the Major’s family at a later date, I
do not know.

If you should be eccentric enough to look at
The Times for April 1, 1907, you will find this,
under Deaths:

MURRAY. On the 28th March, at Ossem-
sley Manor, Christ-church, Hants, Major Wil-
liam Murray, late 97th Regiment, and roth Hus-
sars. Service Newmilton, 9 a.m., Wednesday.
Cremation, Woking. No flowers, by his special
request.
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All the bullets of that damned fellow, upstairs,
had not prevented the gallant Major from reach-
ing the hearty old age of eighty-eight. But not
even in the Crimea—if he was in that war, which
is doubtful-—did he ever come so near death as
on that day when he fought “like a demon”
against a man whose name, and whose purpose,
were alike, to him, a mystery.






XIII

PRECEDENTS IN THE HALL-MILLS
CASE*

Around the dead body of Mr. Enoch J.
Drebber of Cleveland stood three men,—no less
personages than Sherlock Holmes, Doctor Wat-
son and Inspector Gregson from Scotland Yard.
This was the first recorded case of Sherlock
Holmes. Said he:

“It reminds me of the circumstances attend-
ant on the death of Van Jansen, in Utrecht, in
the year '34. Do you remember the case, Greg-
son?”

“No, sir.”

“Read it up—you really should. There is
nothing new under the sun. It has all been done
before.”

This was one of Holmes’s precepts: that fa-
miliarity with the crimes of the past was often
useful in solving present puzzles; and that mur-
ders run in types or classes. Professional de-
tectives find less to jeer at, in this theory of Mr.
Holmes, than in most of his other notions. The

*This article was first published in October, 1936, about two
weeks before the trial of the Hall-Mills case.
151
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ability to recognize certain types of murder is
one of the ordinary accomplishments of the
trained detective. When fragments of the body
of Anna Aumuller were found on the New Jer-
sey shore, a number of years ago, an especially
intelligent member of the New York detective
force made a number of perfectly correct deduc-
tions from the evidence merely of these frag-
ments. He reasoned quite in the Sherlockian
style, and accurately classified the murderer—
then unknown—according to nationality and
education.

Moreover, his geological knowledge enabled
him to recognize some bits of rock in the bun-
dles, and to assign the murder to Manhattan
Island.

Whatever the official view may have been of
the Hall-Mills murders in New Jersey, it was
clear that public opinion did not agree in clas-
sifying the crime. In one peculiarity it seemed
possibly unique: few persons could recall any
instance of the double murder of a clergyman
and a woman, with the added sensation of the
arrest of members of the clergyman’s fam-
ily, charged with the crime. Priests and minis-
ters, in no small number, and in every country,
have been tried for murder, and some of them
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have been convicted. From the shooting parson
of Texas, indicted a year or two ago, back
nearly a century to the Reverend Mr. Avery of
Rhode Island, the American list has included
the unsolved case of the Reverend Mr. Hayden
in Connecticut in the ’eighties, and the confes-
sion and execution of the Reverend Mr. Riche-
son in Massachusetts about eighteen years ago.
Some of these cases have been extremely shock-
ing to the public: when a clergyman is involved
in a murder case it seems to be a rule that the
details of the homicide are not the only scan-
dalous items in the story.

The murder of a man and woman, however,
or of one or the other of them, under circum-
stances similar to those of the notorious tragedy
in New Brunswick, is anything but novel. Pub-
lic opinion, when such an event happens, usually
ascribes jealousy or revenge as the motive, and
as there is frequently not much mystery about
it, public opinion is often right. But not in-
variably, I believe. There happens to have been
a great deal of mystery about the crime on the
Phillips Farm, and despite the swarms of comic
witnesses, who claim to have been standing
about, seven tiers deep, the murder was a secret
crime of darkness.
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Murderers and the murdered, from time to
time, change their methods a little, but the pub-
lic may safely be expected to respond to a cele-
brated crime in about the same manner, to-day,
yesterday and forever. The swarms of letter-
writers, anonymous and otherwise ; the horde of
witnesses—honest, dishonest and simply de-
luded—which appeared in the Hall-Mills case,
are all spiritual descendants of similar persons
who flourished during the Webster case eighty
years ago; in the Nathan case sixty years ago,
and in the Borden case, forty years ago. Some
of them have been absurdly alike: the convict in
the California prison who had important tales
of bribery to relate, if he could only come East
and assist the State of New Jersey, had his
counterpart in a burglar named Irving, who in
1870 got a free passage from a California jail
to New York, by pretending to be implicated in
the murder of Mr. Nathan. (This was a case in
which public opinion unjustly suspected a mem-
ber of the murdered man’s family.)

The supposed importance of love-letters, in
the Hall-Mills case, and the interest of the yel-
low press and its readers in these letters (or in
others, concocted, perhaps, in newspaper offices)
was duplicated long ago in Scotland, in the let-
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ters of Madeleine Smith and her lover, and in
the recent crime of Edith Thompson and Fred-
erick Bywaters in London. The refusal of the
first Grand Jury to find an indictment in the
Hall-Mills case, was a repetition of an incident
in the Molineux affair, in New York in ’99.
The final trial of Molineux took place four
years after the crime,—and ended in a prompt
acquittal. The fact that there might have been
many persons with a motive for the murder of
Mr. Hall or Mrs. Mills, recalls the circum-
stances of the slaying of Mr. Elwell, the bridge
expert, in New York, when the police were con-
fused by the multiplicity of possible assassins.
A trial for a murder, four years after the event,
is rather rare, but not unknown: I have served
on a jury, in a trial for murder, twenty years
after the crime. This, also, resulted in an ac-
quittal.

The alleged recognition of accused persons,
in a wood or field at night, is sure to recall
Abraham Lincoln’s famous cross-examination
of the witness, Allen, in the trial of William
Armstrong for murder. Here the hostile wit-
ness swore that he observed a murder by the
light of the moon; but Lincoln, for the defense,
destroyed his testimony by proving that the
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moon gave no light at the hour he named. The
moon is a valuable piece of stage property in
any romantic murder.

And naturally enough, it is only the roman-
tic murder which attracts us. Many reporters
feel it their duty to make ten thousand dollars’
worth of romance bloom where less than two
cents’ worth is actually to be found. On the
faces of conscientious readers of the newspaper
reports of the New Brunswick tragedy, I have
observed a look of personal injury, if anyone
dared to snatch away the romantic interpreta-
tion of what might be a commonplace fact.
Bold is the man who tries to destroy a pleasant
delusion. A face recognized by moonlight, love
letters “strewn” over a dead body,—the public
nurses such fancies as a child hugs a doll.

It is ever the same. When this country was
convulsed over the murder of Mr. and Mrs.
Andrew Jackson Borden of Fall River, some in-
spired person chanced to recall the trial for
mutiny, sixteen years earlier, of certain sailors
on a schooner called the Jefferson Borden. 1t
mattered not that Bordens in Fall River, and
thereabouts, are as Cabots in Boston, or as au-
tumnal leaves in Vallombrosa: the romantic
school were soon mightily interested. Could it
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not be that Mr. Borden (whose middle name
was Jackson, which is near enough to Jeffer-
son) should have owned the Jefferson Borden,
and that the guilty mutineers should have de-
scended upon him and his wife, after sixteen
years, thus revenging themselves for their trial
and imprisonment? It mattered not that all the
mutineers were accounted for; it mattered not
that Mr. Borden hadn’t the slightest connection
with the schooner. In a discussion of the Bor-
den case, even to-day, somebody is fairly cer-
tain to offer the remark, as an especially sage
observation, that the mutiny was never thor-
oughly looked into. There was also the touch-
ing belief in the “wild man,” who, twelve days
after the murders, still haunted the woods about
Fall River, muttering the words “Poor Mrs.
Borden,” and shaking a hatchet which dripped
with the warm life-blood of that unfortunate
old lady. These myths represent two of the con-
tributions of the romantic school to a cause
célébre of the past.

There have been many counterparts of this
in New Jersey’s famous scandal. I am inclined
to guess that one of America’s greatest makers
of legend is that anonymous reporter who first
represented the letters of Mr. Hall and Mrs.
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Mills as purposely “strewn” over their bodies,
as if to publish their guilt to the world, and to
justify and explain the crime of murder. Cer-
tainly this interpretation of what may have
been a prosaic fact, has become an article
of faith to many persons; I have seen an ex-
pression of pained surprise upon the faces of
these folk if someone questioned whether per-
sons committing a murder for revenge, or be-
cause of jealousy, would so go out of their way
to direct suspicion toward themselves. When
the heretic further suggested that the letters
might have fallen from the clergyman’s pocket,
while the pocket was being rifled by a thief, or
that the wind might have done the “strewing,”
then the members of the romantic school became
actually exasperated. It is outrageous to seek
to destroy a picturesque story.

The calling-card, “propped” against Mr.
Hall’s boot-heel—with all the winds of outraged
Heaven obligingly stilled for thirty-six hours to
keep it in place—this, also, is a bit of stage
property beloved by the romantics. Far be it
from them indeed to think that it, likewise, may
have been one of a number of cards and letters,
falling or taken from the dead or dying man’s
pocket, and afterwards blown about at the
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mercy of the wind. Few persons, in discussing
the crime, seem to remember that the bodies lay
there in broad daylight, for one whole day (not
to mention two nights), which intervened be-
tween the crime and its first reported discovery.
And this in a place notoriously frequented, not
only by myriads of lovers by night, but by
thieves and their pursuers, by loose and odd fish
of various kinds, by rivals in another love affair
of a more sinister variety than that which ended
with the murders, and, it has been said, by mem-
bers of a secret society with a penchant for the
forcible regulation of private morals.

It is quite impossible to add to the romance
which actually surrounded the famous crab-ap-
ple tree. Not even the wood near Athens where
roved Oberon and Titania, where Bottom and
his crew had so many tricks played upon them,
ever throbbed with so much passion, nor did its
lovers seem so willing to come forward in such
large numbers and claim to have been among
those present. The “sturdy figure” of the Pig-
Woman, mounted upon her celebrated mule,
Jenny, and the charmingly named Miss Bar-
bara Tough have completely fascinated the pub-
lic. Far from being a private murder, the num-
ber of witnesses—if we believe what they say—
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made such an affair as the death of Julius Caesar
look by comparison like a dark and impenetrable
mystery.

Perhaps there is nothing in the history of the
tragedy which recalls so many famous crimes of
the past as the testimony of the Pig-Woman,
dramatically offered two or three weeks after
the event. In other murder cases which have
been discussed excitedly, and minutely reported
in the newspapers, it has been a frequent occur-
rence to have some amazing testimony offered
by a woman. Sometimes she appears for the de-
fense, sometimes for the prosecution, but she is
so frequent a phenomenon that I have kept a
symbol for her in my note-book,—for conve-
nience I label her M. F. W.,—Marvellous Fe-
male Witness.

In 1850, at the trial of Professor Webster,
she was named Abby B. Rhodes, and she met
Doctor Parkman—met him and exchanged
bows with him—on the streets of Boston, near
Bowdoin Square, at five o’clock of the after-
noon of November 23. Doctor Parkman’s
body, in an extremely damaged condition, was,
as a matter of fact, lying in the Massachusetts
Medical College at that minute,—thanks to the
attentions of Professor Webster. But that did
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not shake Mrs. Rhodes. She knew the day and
the hour (and, land sakes!), she guessed she
knew Doctor Parkman, and had known him for
twenty-five years. And she was sure of the
day, because she had been to Hovey’s with her
daughter—it was the only day she went there
that week—and bought eleven yards of muslin
de laine at twenty cents a yard. Hovey’s books
recorded the purchase. Yet the facts about Doc-
tor Parkman’s condition at that hour were as I
stated them.

The Marvellous Female Witness appeared
again in 1872, as Miss Annie Keenan, a music
teacher from Fort Lee. She came to Court, to
identify one Billy Forrester as a man she saw
in West 23d Street one night in July, two ycars
earlier,—the night Mr. Nathan was mysteri-
ously murdered. Yes, she told the Court, For-
rester was the man; he had a “crazy look” in
his eye (murderers always have it) and he had
some “rigid implement” up his sleeve. For two
years the New York papers had been constantly
discussing the iron ‘“dog” or bar, with which
Mr. Nathan had been murdered, and it is pos-
sible, just possible, that Miss Keenan had read
something of this. But, as Billy Forrester
turned into the Nathan house, with his crazy
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look and his rigid implement, he obligingly
struck his arm against the stonework, and it
gave out a clang like an iron bar! How he could
have done much more, unless he had worn a silk
badge with the words “The Murderer of Mr.
Nathan,” it is hard to see. But, somehow or
other, the Court failed to believe Miss Keenan.

She had another incarnation at the time of
the second Molineux trial. At the first trial it
was maintained by the State that at about five
o’clock of a certain afternoon, Mr. Molineux
had mailed a package at the General Post Office
in New York. It contained a very unpleasant
substance, and it was addressed to Mr. Harry
Cornish at the Knickerbocker Athletic Club.
At the first trial, public opinion was strongly
against the accused man, and the jury appar-
ently believed the story of the “poison package,”
for they convicted him. Meanwhile, the address
on this package was printed and reprinted in
the papers, and endlessly discussed. At the sec-
ond trial, public opinion had shifted, and there
now appeared the Marvellous Female Witness:
a married lady, this time. She had been at the
Post Office on that very afternoon, and at that
very hour, and she saw a man—not the prisoner
—mailing a package. Her eye caught the ad-
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dress: “Cornish” and “Knickerbocker”—yes,
she was certain. Her husband didn’t think much
of this testimony and tried to keep her from ap-
pearing, but Mr. Molineux’s lawyers thought
very highly of it, and so they should have done,
for it helped acquit their client.

If I were juror in an important case I should
wish to see a most careful test made of wit-
nesses who positively connect past events with
certain exact dates; or who recognize persons
in speeding automobiles, or who claim to recog-
nize strangers, years after one view of them,
and that, maybe, by moonlight, or by the “light
of their cigars” (a favorite form of illumina-
tion in detective stories) or by an electric flash
light. It is a strange form of electric torch,
described by the Pig-Woman, which throws its
light on the face of the person holding it. I
should like to know what skill in woodcraft
enables a person to creep up so close to strangers
engaged in a criminous enterprise, that they
may be recognized at night, and yet enables the
observer to make an escape unnoticed.

The human desire to be at the centre of
things, to be able to say ““I saw that myself!”
has an odd effect upon testimony. Many a sober
citizen comes home at night to tell his family
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that he heard the sound when the powder maga-
zine blew up twenty miles away ; or that he saw
the crowd gathered around the eminent man
who had dropped dead in the street. He wishes
to think he heard and saw these things. Had
he cared to investigate, he might have learned
that the noise was a heavy door slammed in an-
other part of the office building. As for the
crowd in the street, they were looking at two
newsboys fighting; the eminent man perished
eight streets away, two hours earlier, and his
body had already been removed.

If the officers of the law, after a murder, are
trying to establish their belief that the mur-
derer carried the body of his victim in a wagon
down a certain country road, late at night, in
order to dispose of it in a lake, and if they make
their inquiries at the farm-houses on that road,
they are practically certain to get the informa-
tion they wish. Some farmer’s wife was lying
awake that night, or some woman who lives
alone and is much given to brooding about
things, heard the very sound. Yes, it was about
half-past one. The wagon had one loose wheel,
(the officers suggest) and made a rattling sound
on the highway,—did she notice that? Yes; she
did; she thinks she did. She thinks about it for
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a few more days, and at the end of that time,
she knows she heard the sound. She would be
angry if anybody suggested that she could be
mistaken. She has heard of the murder, is
shocked by it, and eager to help the cause of jus-
tice. She enjoys the prominence which comes to
her as an important witness.

William James wrote: ‘“The most frequent
source of false memory is the accounts we give
to others of our experiences. . . . We quote
what we should have said or done rather than
what we really said or did; and in the first tell-
ing we may be fully aware of the distinction,
but ere long, the fiction expels the reality from
memory and reigns in its stead alone. We think
of what we wish had happened, of possible in-
terpretation of acts, and soon we are unable to
distinguish between things that actually hap-
pened and our own thoughts about what might
have occurred.”

The marvellous witness usually has a small
basis of fact; upon a slight foundation he or she
builds an enormous structure of fancy. She
heard a shot—or something like a shot—on
some night; she saw an automobile, heard a
scream, or witnessed part of a quarrel on some
night. Her mind is easily susceptible to sugges-
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tion, and it has, working upon it, the powerful
influence of sensational newspaper reports, and
the gossip of neighbors.

The Phillips Farm and De Russey’s Lane
were the resorts of all varieties of folk: merely
frisky folk, disreputable folk, and probably
habitual criminals. The double murder which
happened there would be unlike every other
crime if it did not work upon persons easily
influenced by suggestion, and make them really
believe that they had witnessed wonders.

Postscripr. (WRITTEN 1930)

The foregoing article was written and pub-
lished in 1926, a short time before the begin-
ning of the only trial held in the Hall-Mills
case. The Grand Jury, in the year of the mur-
ders (1922) refused to indict anyone. Four
years later (in 1926) another Grand Jury in-
dicted Mrs. Hall, her two brothers, and a
cousin, for the crimes. This was done partly as
a result of some evidence given in connection
with the divorce proceedings of a former ser-
vant in the Halls’ home. At the trial, this evi-
dence failed altogether.

Chiefly, however, the indictment was pro-
cured because of what was alleged to be a fin-
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ger-print of one of Mrs. Hall’s brothers, found
on Doctor Hall’s visiting card, which was dis-
covered near his body. This card came to light
through the efforts of the editor of a yellow
journal, then engaged in trying to increase his
circulation. It would insult any intelligent per-
son to assert that he would accuse a mouse of
stealing cheese on the strength of any docu-
ment emanating from the office of a paper of
this character.

After the trial was over, and the defendants
had been acquitted, they risked the re-opening
of the entire case, by instituting a suit for
criminal libel against the owner of the paper.
The newspaper owner settled, out of court, for
what were stated in the press to be the heaviest
damages ever paid in a suit of this kind.

In 1926, however, the functions of govern-
ment in New Jersey seemed to operate at the
dictation of the editor of this tabloid newspa-
per. One of the defendants, Mrs. Hall, was ar-
rested at an unearthly hour of night for no rea-
son except to allow the reporters and photog-
raphers from this paper to get a scoop. An-
other of the defendants was arrested on a flimsy
accusation, kept in prison for months, and
finally released without a trial.
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The trial of the Messrs. Stevens and Mrs.
Hall was a national sensation, for weeks. It
came to a climax in one of the strangest scenes
ever beheld in an American court; one which
placed Mrs. Gibson, the Pig-Woman, in the
front rank as a Marvellous Female Witness.

The newspaper which was cheering on the
prosecution, and the public prosecutor, had been
spreading the news that the Pig-Woman was
dying, and that her statements were as precious
as if she were speaking from the grave. Ru-
mors of her desperate illness came from the hos-
pital. (After the trial she recovered, and lived
four years longer.) But, on a dark and gloomy
afternoon, during the trial, Mrs. Gibson was
dramatically borne into Court on her hospital
bed. She delivered her accusations in a weird,
wailing voice, while a trained nurse stood at
cither pulse, and the Court stenographer re-
layed her remarks to the jury.

Her story of her recognition of Mrs. Hall
and her brothers at the scene of the crime had
strengthened enormously each time she told it,
and now it appeared to some people—who were
not in Court—as very effective. As she was
borne out she did not fail to remember her cue,
but shook her palsied hand at Mrs. Hall, and
croaked out her final words of accusation.
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There was practically no one so simple as not
to recognize this as a cunning piece of stage-
management. Her appearance as an invalid, on
her “death-bed,” was supposed to arouse sym-
pathy in her behalf, and it certainly was an ef-
fective protection against rigorous cross-exam-
ination. She had strength to accuse, but it was
cruelty to question her afterwards. All was
done that clever demagogues could do to repre-
sent Mrs. Gibson as a poor, but virtuous daugh-
ter of the soil; while it was earnestly sought to
show the defendants and their lawyers as sinful
millionaires, living in luxury, and waited upon
by “liveried servants.” (The staff of servants
in the Hall establishment consisted of two
maids. )

The appearance of the Pig-Woman in this
trial has a curious and very close parallel in
the trial of La Ronciére, mentioned elsewhcre
in this book. In that case, a pathological liar,
a young girl named Marie de Morell, brought
accusations against a cavalry officer, not only
of writing a great number of scandalous and
anonymous letters, but of attempting a criminal
assault upon herself. There is no doubt, now,
that she wrote the letters, and that she invented
the assault. But when the case was heard, the
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girl was having periodical “nervous attacks,” of
such a kind, and occurring so frequently every
day, that she could be examined in Court only
at midnight. At that hour, and under dramatic
circumstances which aroused sympathy for her,
and protected her from cross-examination, she
entered the Court, as a feeble invalid, and ut-
tered her false accusations.

Afterwards, however, the parallel ceases: the
French jury were bamboozled; the American
jury were not.

The motive force which set about the prose-
cution in the Hall-Mills case was, first of all,
yellow journalism. Secondly, there were politi-
cal animosities and local class hatred. The
State’s case, plainly weak at the beginning, be-
came, as the trial advanced, almost farcical. A
jail-bird was brought across the continent to
make accusations of bribery against a deceased
official. Other witnesses were of that credulous
variety which believes in the old superstition
about “a murderer returning to the scene of his
crime.” Finally, the limits of absurdity were
reached when the prosecutor put on a character
witness to testify as to Mrs. Gibson’s reputation
for veracity, and this witness calmly stated that
the woman’s reputation was “not so good”!
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In view of the collapse of the case for the
State, and the excellent impression of all three
defendants under cross-examination on the wit-
ness stand, it was not surprising that the jury
reported an acquittal. There was no longer any
chance for the loose talk about “bribery,” which
had been rife for four years. This gossip de-
pended upon supposing that the families of the
defendants possessed the wealth of the Indies,
and that in 1922 every officer of the State of
New Jersey, high and low, was basely corrupt.

The jurymen, after the trial, talked freely to
the newspapers, and said that they had dis-
missed the testimony of the Pig-Woman alto-
gether. Said the New York Evening Post (De-
cember 4, 1926) :

“About Jane Gibson there was no disagree-
ment. The jury, to a man, thought her a liar.”

Jane Gibson remained; a figure of great in-
terest and importance. It is charitable to be-
lieve that she may have witnessed some persons
or other, quarrelling, on some night or other,
and that her recollection of it, and her stories
about it, grew—rpartly through a love of notori-
ety; partly through a desire to sell her yarns to
the yellow press; and partly through the work-
ings of a mind which was possibly clouded by
narcotics.
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That is the charitable view. If, however, one
tries merely to ascertain probabilities about her
testimony, it must be seen that hers was a du-
bious character, and that her actions were, by
her own story, highly suspicious. She had led
a roving and none too reputable life, and pre-
ferred to go under the name of Gibson, rather
than her own. She was accustomed to the use
of firearms, and to the reckless use of them.
On one occasion she fired a shot gun at a num-
ber of reporters in a motor-car, because they
were trespassing or otherwise annoying her.
She had employed a knife in the slaughter of
pigs, and had no feminine tremors about blood-
shed.

She was used, according to her own story, to
roam about at night, armed, and in search of
supposed thieves and trespassers. Such a per-
son, believing herself persecuted and robbed,
and being that night engaged in chasing rob-
bers, could easily fire at the first people she came
across in the darkness. She fled in terror, so she
testified, from the quarrel which she witnessed
on the night of the murders. But she returned
to the scene, for the inadequate motive of recov-
ering a lost moccasin. This was, indeed, a poor
motive to bring back an innocent and timorous
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witness to the scene of a crime. But it might
well have been a compelling motive to bring
back one who could not afford to leave such an
inconvenient bit of evidence behind her.

There were published, this year, under the
title “Memoirs of a Murder Man,” the recollec-
tions of Inspector Arthur A. Carey, for twenty
years or more the Chief of the Homicide Bu-
reau of the New York Police. Inspector Carcy,
writing as an interested professional observer,
briefly discusses the Hall-Mills case. e be-
lieves that the theft of Mr. Hall’s watch, chain
and wallet is a significant fact, pointing to a
murderer of the type known as “bushwhacker”
—a criminal “who slays wantonly as a prelude
or aftermath to robbery.”

The Inspector gives no serious attention to
the charges prosecuted against the clergyman’s
family, but dismisses these charges as part of
the “colorful, insinuating background” usually
provided in such cases by the newspapers, in or-
der to make “sensational reading.”

There are many passages in Inspector Carey’s
book which ought to be read, especially by that
large section of the public which, with unfail-
ing regularity, goes astray in the discussion of
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every mysterious crime. The situation in Amer-
ica with regard to crimes of violence is made
even worse by the ease with which public opin-
ion is deluded as to possible offenders. On the
one hand, the writers of nearly all the “crook
plays,” and fully half the detective stories, pre-
sent the person on trial as always innocent. On
the other hand, the yellow newspapers invari-
ably hunt about for a prominent person as the
murderer—a “millionaire,” if possible, or a wo-
man “highin society.” To this rubbish the views
of an experienced detective like Inspector Carey
make a refreshing contrast.

Those who love to suspect “the man higher-
up,” the wealthy villain of melodrama, would, of
course, be grieved to read the Inspector’s opin-
ion that the slayer of Mr. Elwell, in New York,
was no Wall Street magnate, nor vengeful “so-
ciety woman,” but merely “‘a type of thief known
as an unoccupied house-worker, or possibly a
letter thief.” This destroys not only the attrac-
tive picture of wickedness in high places, but
the notion of a campaign of bribery after the
deed.

A sane, but romantically disappointing view
of a number of “Broadway” murders is ex-
pressed by Mr. Carey. Because the police and
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the district attorney used their common sense,
and recognized the crimes as those of profes-
sional thieves, the yellow press and its gulls were
very angry. The police had eliminated from the
scenes their “most glamorous” figures!

In 1922, the officials in New Jersey kept their
heads. Four years later, egged on by the editor
of a yellow journal, they spent thousands of dol-
lars of the public money in hounding four inno-
cent persons.






X1v
WAS POE A DETECTIVE?

It is far easier to know the fiction about the
death of Mary Cecilia Rogers, than to learn the
facts. The fiction is set forth in a long, and, it
must be admitted, rather tedious story by Edgar
Allan Poe: “The Mystery of Marie Rogét.”

The facts, as there never was any trial, must
be sought in the files of the New York news-
papers of the late summer of 1841—when this
sensational murder, discussed by everyone, was
mentioned perhaps not more than thrice a week,
usually in a paragraph of small type, tucked
away on the editorial page. The sight of me,
hunting for the news, would be enough to make
my optician beam with honest pleasure.

These are the facts. Miss Rogers lived with
her mother, who kept a boarding-house at 126
Nassau Street. She was already somewhat cele-
brated in New York, as “the beautiful cigar
girl,” because of her career as a clerk in John
Anderson’s tobacco shop on Broadway. She is
said to have been known by Poe, Fenimore
Cooper and Washington Irving. Mr. Anderson

177
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frankly engaged her with the idea that her good
looks and vivacity would attract custom—as
they did. She had figured in a mysterious dis-
appearance, when, for no reason ever given out,
she was absent from the cigar-shop and from
home, for one week. At a later date, The Com-
mercial Advertiser unkindly suggested that this
was done to attract attention to Mr. Anderson’s
shop—that it was a humble forerunner of what
we call “a publicity stunt.”

After her return, she soon resigned her po-
sition and went home to help her mother. She
had had a number of suitors; one of whom was
Alfred Cromeline. Her betrothed was now un-
derstood to be Daniel Payne, a boarder at her
mother’s house.

At ten o’clock on Sunday morning, July 25,
Miss Rogers knocked at Payne’s door, as he was
shaving, and told him that she was going to
spend the day at the house of a relative, Mrs.
Downing, who lived in Jane Street. Payne un-
derstood that he was to call for her in the eve-
ning, as usual. The girl then set out alone, and
disappeared from human knowledge.

She never reached Mrs. Downing’s. Payne
did not call for her at night, because of a vio-
lent thunder storm, which made him think she
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would prefer to stay indoors. She had not re-
turned on Monday. On Tuesday her friends ad-
vertised for her in T/e Sun. On Wednesday,
three men in a sailboat, near the “Sybil's Cave”
at Castle Point, Hoboken, found the body of a
woman floating in the water. They brought it
ashore and, although recognition was difficult,
it was identified beyond all doubt as the body of
Mary Rogers.

Cromeline made the identification and testi-
fied at the inquest. He could not account for
her presence near Hoboken, and thought she
must have been decnyed thither. He gave her
a high reputation—as did everyone who had
known her—for all the virtues, including truth-
fulness and modesty and discretion.

Doctor Cook, who performed the autopsy,
also testified at the inquest, and later, when the
excitement had grown intense, made a long
statement to the Mayor of New York. lle as-
serted with surprising assurance that she had
not been drowned; that she was a maiden of
spotless character, who had fallen into the hands
of a gang of brutal ruffians by whom she had
been grossly mistreated and murdered. There
were many items in the papers, that summer,
about gangsters and toughs who hung about
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New York, the riverside, the beaches and sub-
urbs, and engaged in savage attacks upon wo-
men.

All Miss Rogers’s suitors and male acquaint-
ances fell under suspicion. Payne made a long
statement to the magistrates, and furnished
a satisfactory alibi. Cromeline easily demon-
strated his innocence, although it did come out
that there was still some slight tendresse be-
twixt him and the young lady. On the day be-
fore the murder, so it appeared in testimony,
her name had been written on the slate outside
his office door, and a rose had been romantically
left in the keyhole.

A sailor, who had rather hastily enlisted on
U. S. S. North Carolina, was dragged off that
ship and examined. He had formerly lived at
Mrs. Rogers’s house, and his brother was one
of Miss Mary’s numerous group of suitors. He
was allowed to go aboard the North Carolina
again, but the process of taking him ashore, and
returning him to his ship, was twice repeated.

A man named Morse, who was a wood-en-
graver, attracted attention to himself by fleeing
suddenly to Worcester, Mass. He was a stout
person, with black side-whiskers. When the po-
lice overtook him, he had, evidently for the pur-
pose of disguise, sacrificed these ornaments. It
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presently appeared that, on Sunday the 25th,
Mr. Morse had taken part in a very indiscreet
expedition to Staten Island, with a young lady
in black. He had left her, alive and well, but it
had occurred to him that perhaps she might
have been Mary Rogers—and if so, he would
be falsely accused of the murder.

The young lady in black was found, and she
corroborated Mr. Morse's story, in every par-
ticular—although she was exceedingly annoyed
by so much public notice. The expedition to
Staten Island, so both of them testified, resulted
in no fracture of the law nor of the moral code,
but it was a social blunder, and Mr. Morse's
side-whiskers and the reputation of the young
lady were both, temporarily, at least, in ruins.

Nothing happened for many weeks; no good
came from Governor Seward’s proclamation,
offering $750 as a reward for information.
Early in September some boys found, near Wee-
hawken, what was supposed to be the scene of
the crime. Signs of a struggle; bits of torn
garments and rails of a fence let down—as if
for the purpose of dragging a body—convinced
nearly everyone that here Mary Rogers had
perished.

The New York Herald was making early ex-
periments with illustration, and, emboldened by
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his success in a striking picture of President
Harrison’s inauguration the preceding March,
its artist now essayed a view of the “fatal spot.”
The sketch could pass equally for a simoom in
the Arabian desert, or twilight in a drunkard’s
stomach.

A few days later the Herald printed an in-
teresting speculation. It was that Miss Rogers
might have been at this place with a man, and
that both might have been set upon and killed
by “rowdies.” Or that the man might have com-
mitted the crime alone; afterwards tying a rope,
or a piece of the dress, to the body, and drag-
ging it to the river.

Next day, Samuel Adams, a printer missing
from New York, was discovered, all boxed up
by Mr. John C. Colt, ready for shipment to St.
Louis. Thus, a new murder case tended to sup-
plant the interest in Mary Rogers.

Early in October, Daniel Payne was found,
dying, near the supposed scene of his sweet-
heart’s murder. An empty bottle, labelled “lau-
danum,” was near him, but the final opinion of
the coroner’s jury was that “congestion of the
brain, brought about by irregular living, ex-
posure, aberration of the mind” had caused his
death. Guilt of the murder was not suggested,
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even by those who believed the young man had
killed himself.

Such are the facts, so far as I could unearth
them in the newspapers available to me.

The fiction appearing the following year, in
Poe’s story of the Parisian grisette, Marie
Rogét, is widely known—how he translates
everything to Paris; calls Nassau Street, Rue
Pavée Sainte Andrée; the cigar shop, M. Le
Blanc’s perfumery; re-names Daniel Payne as
St. Eustache, and Cromeline as M. Beauuvais,
and puts the solution in the hands of his detec-
tive, Dupin.

This Parisian master of reasoning and de-
tection argues learnedly to show: (1st) that the
body was really Mary’s—and not, as a news-
paper had suggested, that of an unknown;
(2nd) that the idea of murder by a gang was
wrong ; and that the doctor was a fool; (3rd)
that the murder took place on land, after which
the body was dragged into a boat (as suggested
by the Herald), rowed out into the stream and
thrown overboard. The murderer then hurried
to a wharf on the New York side, leaped ashore
and let the boat drift away. (4th) That the
things found at Weehawken were a “plant.”
(5th) That the murderer was a former lover,
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the man with whom she had eloped on her ear-
lier disappearance, and that he was a naval of-
ficer.

Poe trifles with facts a little—as he had a
perfect right to do. That he does so to any great
extent, I cannot assert, not having access to all
the newspapers which he read. Mr. Charles E.
Pearce, an English writer, who has discussed
this case, failed to find, in the newspapers avail-
able to him, the account of the discovery of the
alleged scene of the crime at Weehawken, or of
Payne’s suicide. He thought, therefore, that
Toe had possibly invented these, and that In-
spector Byrnes, who also wrote about the mur-
der, had swallowed Poe’s invention as truth.

Mr. Allan Nevins, in his edition of Philip
Hone’s “Diary,” says (upon what authority I
do not know) that the crime was not murder,
but manslaughter, the result of an illegal op-
eration, and that a former lover (not Payne)
was guilty. Both Poe and Mr. Nevins disbe-
lieve the surgeon who performed the autopsy.

Mary Rogers’s ghost appeared in a New
York Court, as late as 1901, when, in the case
Appleton vs. New York Life Insurance Co., it
was testified that Mr. Anderson had believed
himself haunted by the spirit of his pretty clerk,
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who imparted to him the names of her murder-
ers. It was, however, “a spiritual secret.”

Poe’s solution would be more impressive to
me if he had not added a foot-note, when the
story appeared in book-form in ’45. He said
that two confessions (made between 42 and
'45) had confirmed his (or Dupin’s) conclu-
sions. I am suspicious of nearly all “confes-
sions,” whether believed in by Poe, or any other
romancer. If somebody can dig these confes-
sions out of the newspaper files, however, he
shall have my thanks, and a letter to my oculist.
A dog on a string, and a stick, will perhaps be
more to the purpose.

My conclusions—rather trifling, I admit—
are that some of Dupin’s theories had been an-
ticipated by the Herald; that Poe, in writing
fiction about the case, was in the position of
being able to depart from fact when he liked,
and adhere to it when it suited his purpose; that
he was first and last a romancer, and a devotee
of the hoax; and that the theory that he actu-
ally solved the mystery of the death of the real
Mary Rogers is not proven, and is very doubt-
ful.






XV

THE OCCASIONALLY VEILED
MURDERESS

If someone should compile a “Murderers’
Who’s Who,” in the manner in which Mr.
Philip Gosse has written one for the Pirates,
the pages devoted to the letter R would be heavy,
especially with the Robinson family.

A highly respectable group of God-fearing
citizens, beyond a doubt,—yet the name does
recur in the history of homicide. Usually, more-
over, they have been successful in evading the
utmost rigors of the law. It is true that Peter
Robinson, who abolished one Abraham Suy-
dam in New Jersey, some eighty years ago, suf-
fered the extreme penalty. But that was an age
known to be hard-hearted.

Later members of the clan have been more
successful. Sarah Jane Robinson of Massachu-
setts removed seven persons, with the favorite
weapon of ladies: powdered arsenic, and, as a
tribute to her sex, she was allowed to retire to
prison and to the active profession of religion.
Richard P. Robinson of New York slew the at-

tractive Miss Jewett, yet he was exhibited to
187
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the jury as “this poor boy,”—pronounced in
tear-compelling tones by his counsel. A clergy-
man of the city even extolled Mr. Robinson’s
deed, since Miss Jewett was one whose way of
life has been disapproved by the prophet Isaiah,
as well as by King David. So the jury let Mr.
Robinson go forth to freedom.

Coming to Henrietta Robinson, we find that
her real name is unknown; it has been made the
subject of much speculation and debate. She
raised a thick fog of mystery about herself and
claimed exalted relationships. One of her as-
sertions was that she had adopted the name of
Robinson as a tribute to her ancestress, who
had for a lover no less a person than King
George 1II. So, Mrs. Henrietta Robinson,
dwelling somewhat obscurely in Troy, N. Y.,
in 1853, was of the blood royal. To doubt it
was ungallant.

Across the street from her home was the
grocery of her neighbor, Timothy Lanagan, a
humble, uneducated, honest Irishman. Lanagan
lived with his wife and sister-in-law, and Mrs.
Robinson was their stormy and troublesome
customer, guest and debtor. She had once at-
tended a small and rather exclusive dance at the
Lanagans’. During the evening, one of the gen-
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tlemen said something which she took as an af-
front. She promptly drew a pistol and was
about to show that one did not with impunity
insult a lady in whose veins flowed the blood of
the Robinsons, to say nothing of that of the
House of Hanover. Mrs. Lanagan ejected her
on this occasion, but Mrs. Robinson took a
proper revenge, by returning a few days later
and roundly abusing the grocer and his wife.
She also threatened to withdraw her patronage,
and for a time actually did so.

In the month of May, however, all seemed
peaceful between the royal exile and her neigh-
bors. Mrs. Robinson came one morning to the
grocery, at the hour of six, and called for “a
quart of strong beer and a pound of soda crack-
ers.” It seems, to me, a strange request, but
this may be because, in my simpler existence, if
I am conscious at all at 6 A. M., it is of break-
fast and not of beer that I think. Mrs. Robin-
son’s social life was broader: this may have
been the end, and not the beginning of the day
for her,—she was perhaps laying in provender
for a little late supper with a round of cards.

This suggestion gains support from the fact
that at 8 o’clock she sent her gardener to the
Lanagans to ask for a loan of $2. There was
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a little delay—Mrs. Lanagan had to send out to
borrow the money—and Mrs. Robinson fol-
lowed her messenger in person, complaining of
the fact that she had been forced to wait. She
made one or two more appearances during the
morning, and finally dropped in upon the family
at an hour—1 o’clock—which left them no al-
ternative but to invite her to luncheon.

She offered, however, to treat everyone to
beer, and after some demur, Mr. Lanagan and
Catherine Lubee, his sister-in-law, each ac-
cepted a glass at her hands. Mrs. Lanagan per-
sisted in her declaration that she didn’t wish any
beer. Mrs. Robinson prescribed powdered sugar
to mix with the drink, putting it in herself, and
going forward and back in the store, sometimes
with a saucer and sometimes with a small paper
in her hand.

Lanagan and the girl drank, and two hours
later were seized with illness. The agonies, at-
tendant upon poisoning by arsenic, were in this
instance mercifully short: both victims were
dead on the next day. Mrs. Robinson was found
to have bought arsenic a short time before; a
package of it was discovered under a carpet in
her house; and the same poison proved to be in
the bodies of the dead persons.
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Wherefore, some indignation was felt in
Troy, and, it being the opinion that a breach of
the law had been committed, the Trojans sent
their officers to detain Mrs. Robinson.

With the arrest, however, her campaign
opened. She had always fought all who opposed
her will, and she hit below the belt. To this day,
it is disputed whether the explanation of her
career was alcoholism or mental derangement.
Both played some part in her life: she some-
times drank to excess, and, years later, she actu-
ally developed insanity. At the time of these
murders, it is probable that she was of a not
uncommon type: a cruel egotist, a person with-
out compassion, who could calmly send half a
dozen persons to their deaths if that suited her
convenience, or gratified her desire for revenge.

She deceived no alienist when she counter-
feited insanity in the usual clumsy manner: by
singing and raving. Her own opinion of her
mental state was probably quite correct, as it
was given to her lawyer, in court. At the end of
his speech, she leaned forward and whispered:

“A very able speech, Mr. Townsend, but you
might have said all that was necessary in fifteen
minutes. The idea of my insanity is absurd.”

At this point in the trial, she had probably
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decided that she could hope for an acquittal, and
wished to escape all further detention, either in
prison or in an asylum. Her conduct in court,
nearly all the time, was placid, and marked by
only one eccentricity. This, however, made her
nationally famous, and resulted in her being de-
scribed by the phrase by which she is still
known. She sat throughout the proceedings
with her face covered by a thick, blue veil. Even
in jail she concealed her face as much as pos-
sible. Her lawyers pleaded with her, and the
judge threatened, but only once or twice did she
raise the veil, and then it was to hold a fan in
front of her features. So, as the “Veiled Mur-
deress” she became celebrated.

There is a very simple explanation of this,
which does not seem to have occurred to any-
body,—not even to David Wilson, who wrote
a biography of her, and embellished it with a
portrait.* The detected poisoner is frequently
no beginner in the art, and it is possible that
Mrs. Robinson had other crimes in her record
than the murder of Lanagan and Catherine
Lubee. It would naturally be injurious to her if
she were recognized. Or, it may be that she was

*In this portrait she wears a sort of mantilla, but, far from
being veiled, is considerably décolleté.
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shrewd enough to know the value of making
herself interesting to the public. The murderer
who becomes a romantic figure, often has a bet-
ter chance of escaping severe punishment.

At all events, the legend about the “Veiled
Murderess” became established, and now it can
never be destroyed. Some former pupil at the
Emma Willard School in Troy thought she rec-
ognized in Mrs. Robinson a classmate at that
school. She identified this pupil as a Miss
Wood, member of a very good family in Que-
bec. She was said, at first, to be Miss Emma
Wood, who had married an officer in the Brit-
ish Army, but when the falsity of this was
shown—by proving that the former Miss Emma
Wood was living in England—the legend-mak-
ers settled on the notion that Mrs. Robinson
was Miss Charlotte Wood. This was even bet-
ter as a tale, since Miss Charlotte had married
Sir William Elliott.

The “Veiled Murderess,” then, was Lady El-
liott,—runaway wife of “a scion of the British
nobility.” The fact that Lady Elliott had lived,
had died, and is now buried in England can do
nothing to destroy the fiction.

The public loves a glamorous story about a
crime. It loves a false story as well, if not bet-
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ter, than a true one, and not the Archangels
themselves can demolish a legend like this about
Mrs. Robinson. It lives forever, because people
believe what they wish to believe.

No medical evidence of any weight was pro-
duced to show that Mrs. Robinson was insane.
The jury saw that the crime had been carefully
planned, and they found her guilty. The higher
court confirmed the verdict, and she was sen-
tenced to death. At last she found her will
balked, and was reduced to shouting interrup-
tions, to abusing her counsel, the sheriff, and
everyone else; and finally, in the manner of one
who was in the perfect confidence of the Al-
mighty, to calling down Heavenly vengeance on
the Judge.

Because she was a woman, and not, appar-
ently, because of any belief in her lack of re-
sponsibility for her act, the Governor commuted
the sentence to life imprisonment. She was
taken to Sing Sing; later to Auburn; and later
still (more than twenty years after her crime)
to the Matteawan State Asylum. There she
died in 1905. She is said to have been seventy-
eight years old.

At her death, the story was promptly revived
of her identity with Lady Elliott, and an As-
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sociated Press dispatch carried it over the coun-
try. The Wood family, as long as they lived,
had denied and disproved the persistent rumor.
A Canadian historian has disproved it again
conclusively. All quite in vain.






XVI1
THE MAN PAYS—SOMETIMES

It is an axiom of the dramatist that the prose-
cuting attorney is a villain; the hero or heroine
is the prisoner at the bar,—accused, but always
totally innocent, of murder. Mr. Veiller’s ‘‘The
Trial of Mary Dugan” is a highly interesting
play. Many in the audience go away confirmed
in their belief that the law is occupied in hus-
tling charming and innocent young ladies into
the electric chair. Occasionally, one of them
may escape, if—like Miss Dugan—she happens
to have an inspired young attorney in the per-
son of her devoted brother,—one who can dis-
cover overnight the truth which has eluded the
police for months. But even so, the escape is
only by a narrow squeak.

There is a harrowing scene at the beginning
of the play, when a young Italian woman is sen-
tenced. All that the little signorina has done is
to murder her mother, yet the hard-hearted
judge condemns her to death as if she had really
committed a serious offense. She is dragged out
of Court, screaming piteously, and we are all

197
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supposed to thrill with horror at her impending
fate. Considering that the Court was in the
State of New York, I felt perfectly calm: she
still might be called “a good risk.” New York
has executed only one woman in thirty years
and only four or five in more than a century.
All this time women have been murdering
blithely, right and left. The open season for
ducks on Long Island is a few autumn months,
but it’s all the year round for husbands.

Folk have no need to agitate themselves about
the throngs of innocents hounded to the gal-
lows or the electric chair by brutal police, hec-
toring district-attorneys and corrupt judges. If
they would read a few trials, in place of mystery
novels; or attend some court sessions instead of
crook plays, they might recover their peace of
mind. It is a long and hard process to get a
murderer convicted, much harder to get him ex-
ecuted. With a woman, she needs must poison
an entire orphan asylum before anybody dare
suggest anything so harsh. Consider Mr. and
Mrs. Twitchell of Philadelphia; and that they
did not live in our more merciful times, but in
the cruel and brutal days over half a century
ago,—to be exact, 1868.

They dwelt with Mrs. Twitchell’s mother,
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Mrs. Hill. One Sunday evening in November
their servant, Sarah Campbell, came back from
church. It was only nine o’clock, but the
Twitchell house was piously closed, locked and
in darkness. Sarah rang the bell more than
once, and at last the master came downstairs,
and let her in. He was clad as if hastily arisen
from slumber, wearing a dressing-gown or simi-
lar costume. He said that it was a cold night;
yawned; and then musingly remarked:

“Where do you think Mother would be?”

Sarah Campbell had no notion where Mother
would be, except in the house. She had never
thought of Mrs. Hill as a wanderer on Sunday
evenings. She made no definite reply but went
into the kitchen to attend to the fire, while Mr.
Twitchell returned upstairs, leaving the prob-
lem of Mother still unsolved. Sarah went to the
kitchen door, and while there looked out into
the yard. Then she saw something which caused
her to bring a candle in order to have a better
view. She perceived it to be Mrs. Hill, lying on
the ground outside. She shouted to Mr. Twitch-
ell, who came downstairs and made an inspec-
tion for himself. Then he called upon the name
of his Creator, and added:

“What is this?”
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He further said:

“Will someone assist me in carrying her in?”

It will be noticed that these were the courtly
days when nobody said “help,” in place of the
more ceremonious ‘“‘assist.” There were certain
conventions to be observed even directly after
slaughtering your mother-in-law. They got the
body of the dead woman inside, and Mr.
Twitchell began to try cold water as a restora-
tive.

How Mr. W. N. G. Morrell got into the
house, I do not know, but in the narrative of the
case he soon appears; a neighbor, but also a
representative of indignant public opinion. He
was there by half-past nine, and as soon as he
entered met Mrs. Twitchell. This lady re-
marked:

“Mother has been killed!”

Mr. Morrell delicately inquired how the dis-
aster had happened, and the bereaved daughter
replied:

“Fell out of the second-story window.”

Mr. Morrell was amazed. He had known
Mrs. Hill in her life-time, and there was noth-
ing in her character or conduct at all flighty or
erratic. She was the last woman of whom he
expected to hear that she had fallen out of the
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window on a Sunday evening. This was a re-
spectable section of Philadelphia, where the resi-
dents were not given to vagaries. He expressed
polite incredulity and accompanied her to the
room where Mr. Twitchell was still applying
first-aid. The neighbor went here and there
about the house, finding blood on the window
sash, on the stairs and elsewhere. His state of
mind became like that of Doctor Watson, when
the doctor used to exclaim:

“Holmes, there is something sinister about
this!”

Finally, Mr. Morrell went to Mr. and Mrs.
Twitchell again, and asked if there were any-
body else in the house. When they said there
was not, Mr. Morrell then assumed command,
remarking :

“One of you two has committed this mur-
der.”

They made no reply, and Mr. Morrell in-
sisted on the officer taking them in charge. The
officer, who had evidently entered silently (at
left), did as he was told, and carried the hus-
band and wife off to jail, in an elegant barouche,
as the illustration shows. Mrs. Twitchell, on
the way, begged her husband to clear her of
guilt. At the jail the lady was questioned about
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the murder, and possible motive. She said that
she supposed a burglar had come in and killed
Mrs. Hill for the purpose of robbery. She added
that her mother “was in the habit of carrying
from $2,000 to $3,000 in her bosom,” and more-
over that she told people she carried it there.
The burglar theory seemed slightly incredible.
The police pointed out that the Twitchells kept
two or three particularly obstreperous dogs in
the house, who never ceased barking noisily
every time that visitors were there. Why had
they not aroused the Twitchells during the bur-
glary and murder?

It appeared that the Twitchells would profit
by the death of Mrs. Hill; that the dead woman
had accused them both of robbing her at vari-
ous times; and that her son-in-law had made
violent threats against her life, and spoken of
her in terms which would not be thought good
form even to-day. Altogether it might seem
that this was a fairly clear case. Were they
then railroaded to the gallows by a vindictive
prosecuting attorney, when actually the murder
had been done by the lawyer for the defense, or
a neighboring millionaire, or by the bearded po-
liceman himself, who had come down the chim-
ney or obtained entrance by some other fantastic
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method? Not any of these things had happened.

The friends of Mr. Twitchell began to write
pleasant letters about him to the papers. They
began to try the familiar business of painting
the murderer as a lamb, and his victim as a very
obnoxious person. He was a gentleman, highly
esteemed, they said, not only for his “plain, un-
assuming manner”’ but for “his moral and cor-
rect business habits.” The correspondents fur-
ther wrote that ‘“Keeping a horse and carriage
has given some the idea that he was fast; but
he was the contrary.”

The trial was called of both the prisoners, but
they asked for separate hearings, which were
granted. The proceedings in the case of Mr.
Twitchell lasted for two weeks. What they
could find to talk about would be hard to under-
stand,—it might be, at least, for those who do
not realize how public opinion in America has
always allowed lawyers, defending a murderer,
to delay, deny, and obfuscate justice. We are
a business-like people, and there is only one form
of the taking of human life to which we have
any objection, and that is the execution of a
convicted murderer after fair trial in due proc-
ess of law.

The jury found Twitchell guilty. He was
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supported in Court, not by his wife, but by a
mysterious person called, by the papers, “young
McCully,” who was in “deep anguish.” Some
weeks later, Twitchell’s motion for a new trial
was over-ruled, and he was sentenced to death.
On this occasion young McCully fell to the floor
with a groan of agony. A few months later, in
the presence of the Reverend Mr. George Bring-
hurst and another, Mr. Twitchell made a con-
fession. The gallant husband now said:

“I went to my room on the night of the mur-
der, and instead of going to bed I laid down on
the lounge in my room, and fell asleep. My wife
was in bed at the time. I was roused by her re-
peated calls, and ran down to the dining-room,
where I found her much excited, saying, ‘T have
had a quarrel with mother and killed her’; I do
not know whether she said ‘save me!” or ‘help
me hide it!" but at last we threw the body of
Mrs. Hill out of the window to make it look as
if she fell out; I went down stairs and washed
my hands and face at the hydrant; then went to
my room, undressed, and went to bed; my wife
came up afterwards and got into bed, where we
stayed till Sarah Campbell rung the bell. I think
we were in bed ten or twenty minutes. I made
a solemn vow to the Eternal God that night that
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I would never reveal it; but I cannot keep it any
longer. I am sorry that I have said I knew
nothing of st; but I did it with the vow in my
mind, and to save my wife. I now make these
disclosures that I may have peace with God.”

This did not convince anybody. Other legal
manceuvres failed to help him. At last some-
body—perchance young McCully—conveyed
into Mr. Twitchell’s cell a bottle of prussic acid,
—and the hangman never had to be called to of-
ficiate. Mrs. Twitchell had not been hanged nor
even tried, up to the time of going to press. I
doubt that she ever received any severe punish-
ment.

After the murder of Guldensuppe in New
York, William Thorn went to the chair. His
guiltier partner in the enterprise, Mrs. Nack,
served a few years in prison. These are reasons
why my chill heart was unmoved, when, in the
first act of “The Trial of Mary Dugan,” the
accomplished actress was removed shrieking, in
protest against the death sentence.






XVII

THE HANGING OF HICKS THE
PIRATE

In March, a few months before Abraham
Lincoln was first nominated for the Presidency,
New York was excited about a tragedy on the
“high seas.” The seas were really no higher
than those to be found in the lower harbor, and
the ship concerned was a humble sloop, with
the unimaginative name of E. A. Johnson. She
belonged in Islip, L. 1., and under command of
a mariner named Captain Burr, was in the habit
of snaring oysters in Virginian waters, and
bringing them back to the New York market.

She had sailed on one of her oyster-catching
voyages, manned by the Captain, and three sail-
ors,—a gloomy person called William John-
son, and two blameless boys, Smith Watts and
Oliver Watts, brothers. She progressed no fur-
ther than the Romer Shoals, and there was
picked up and boarded by the schooner Tele-
graph of New London.

All was not happy on board the E. 4. John-
son. For one thing, she had been in a collision,
and had her bowsprit carried away. Next, she

207
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was quite deserted: neither Captain Burr, nor
the Watts boys, nor Sailor Johnson was visible.
A tug brought the sloop up to Fulton Market
slip, and the reporters for the newspapers came
down to look at her. These young men, all wear-
ing chin beards in the correct and sporting man-
ner of the day, found on the deck and in the
cabin of the E. A. Johnson what they agreed in
calling “unmistakable evidences of foul play.”

There was blood all over the ship; pools of
blood in some places; in others, stains, where
an effort had been made to wash away the un-
pleasant signs of murder. There were two or
three stray locks of hair. Furniture was upset
in the cabin, and there were found coats and
shirts, cut and gashed in the struggle. These
were not proper to an honest oyster-man, and
the police began to hunt for her crew.

It appeared that another schooner had been
in collision with the oyster-ship, early that
morning, off Staten Island, and that the crew
had seen one man leave the E. 4. Johnson in a
boat. Two kind gentlemen, named Burke and
Kelly, who lived in a “low tenement house” on
Cedar Street, told the police that Sailor John-
son lived in the same house, and that, moreover,
the sailor had returned unexpectedly with an
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unusual amount of money. He had won this,
so he said, as prize money for picking up a sloop
in the lower bay. Messrs. Kelly and Burke
added that their friend had then departed for
Providence, R. 1., via the Fall River steamer,
taking his wife and child with him.

Further interesting information came from
the keeper of an eating house at the Vanderbilt
landing. He had seen someone like Johnson,
who had “made himself conspicuous,”—in what
way, I do not know, but probably by his choice
of refreshment, since he had “indulged freely
in oysters, hot gins, and eggs.” One would have
thought that the oyster would have been a crea-
ture accursed in his sight, but it was not so.

Two police officers went to Providence in pur-
suit of the sailor. They had mild adventures for
a day or two, but at last, by means of what is
sometimes called clever detective work, spotted
their prey. Some young man, who wishes to
become a detective, may read this, so I will ex-
plain how this clever detective work is carried
on. It is done by going to a great number of
persons, one after another, and asking them:

“Say, have you seen a feller who looks thus
an’ so around here, anywhere?”

The officers found Sailor Johnson asleep in
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a lodging house, and arrested him. His name
was not Johnson at all, it was Albert W. Hicks,
but whether he told them that, or whether Mrs.
Hicks gave it away, I have been unable to dis-
cover. He had with him about $120 in bills;
Captain Burr’s watch, and some other property,
the possession of which tended to create rather
an unfavorable impression in the minds of the
police.

This prejudice influenced the citizens of New
London, as well, for when the prisoner passed
through that city on his way back to New York,
the New Londoners (all wearing tall hats)
made a rush for the railroad train, and insisted
on the privilege of lynching Mr. Hicks. The
two officers (in ulsters nd tall hats), their left
hands raised in deprecatory gesture, and their
right hands holding small revolvers, waved
away the citizenry, and landed their captive
safely in a New York jail.

Here he was presently visited by his wife,
who held his child up in front of the cell, and
addressed the prisoner in the following remark-
able language:

“Look at your offspring, you rascal, and
think what you have brought on us. If I could
get in at you I would pull your bloody heart
out.”
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Her husband replied with dignity and
calm:

“Why, my dear wife, I’ve done nothing,—it
will be all right in a day or two.”

He continued his cold indifference during the
five days of his trial, which took place in May.
Although he had been indicted for the murders
of Captain Burr and the two boys, he was tried
on the indictment for piracy. Murder, at sea or
ashore, is equally objectionable to the law, but
Hicks had made the grievous mistake of com-
mitting robbery ‘“upon the high seas, or in any
basin or bay within the admiralty maritime ju-
risdiction of the United States.” This, Congress
had said in 1820, was piracy, and punishable
with death. Hicks’ appearance, as shown in his
portrait, does not satisfy our fancies of a pi-
rate, but the law treated him with as much
careful ceremony as could have been afforded
to Blackbeard himself. Moreover, the money
which he pilfered from the Captain was really
in gold and silver,—in that respect the story is
not altogether prosaic. Hicks had changed it
into bills before leaving New York.

During the trial there appeared Catherine
Dickinson, the seventeen-year-old sweetheart of
young Oliver Watts. She testified that the lock
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of hair found on the sloop came from her lov-
er’s head; and that a daguerreotype, found in
Hicks’ possession, was a portrait of herself,
which she had given to Oliver. While the tak-
ing-off of Hicks was grotesque, hideous, and
unpleasantly public, I am willing to leave to
others the task of weeping for him.

After his conviction (it took the jury but
seven minutes of deliberation) Hicks published
one of the most elaborate and highly ornamented
confessions ever attributed to a native of Fos-
ter, R. I. In it, he gave himself the worst of
characters; acknowledged an unholy itch for
wealth and complete absence of good taste in
his methods of getting it. Very early in his life
he stumbled into evil ways in Norwich, Conn.
A few years later, going ’round the Horn, he
reached “Wahoo” in the Sandwich Islands.
Here he deserted specialization, and embarked
on sin in general.

He says briefly, “I engaged in every kind of
wickedness.”

Robbery, mutiny and murder—so he asserted
—became as much a part of his daily pro-
gramme as coffee, tea and grog.

He transferred his attentions to Lower Cali-
fornia; “dyed his hands in human blood” he
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knew not how often; and made himself thor-
oughly objectionable,

“The old man,” he writes, “whose grey hairs
glistened in the moonlight, and whose venerable
presence might have touched any hearts but
ours; the little children, locked in each other’s
arms, dreaming of butterflies and flowers and
singing birds; the young man and the just bud-
ding woman; the fond wife and the doting hus-
band, all fell beneath my murderous hand; or
were made the shrieking victims of my unholy
passion first, and then slaughtered like cattle.”

And so on ad infinitum. He ranged up and
down North and South America and Europe,
like Huck Finn, the Red Handed, and Tom
Sawyer, the Black Avenger of the Spanish
Main. Both of these youths, I suspect, were
then writing “true confessions” for the news-
papers. Finally, in his confessions Hicks de-
scribed the undoubted crimes on the oyster-
sloop. His plans for burning her, after the mur-
ders, went to pieces when she collided with the
other vessel, and he was terrified into making
his escape in the small boat. He landed first at
Staten Island; and then returned to New York,
and his breakfast.

Friday, July 13th, 1860, was the day ap-
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pointed for the hanging of Hicks, the Pirate.
The place was Bedloe’s Island, now Liberty Isl-
and. It is not probable that any pirate has had
the sentence of death executed upon him in New
York Harbor since that date,—certainly not in
the presence of such a “‘vast concourse.” As the
vast concourse included ten thousand persons,
some of them may be living to-day. Many a re-
spectable citizen slipped away from home that
morning, and came back at night expressing dis-
gust that so many people had such morbid curi-
osity, but silent as to his own presence on the
island or on the waters nearby. To us of to-
day, such a curiosity is horrible, but in 1860 a
hanging was no worse spectacle to the average
citizen than a prize-fight now.

Hicks received the consolations of religion
from Father Duranquet, and afterwards par-
took of a cup of tea and “some slight refresh-
ments.” Then he proceeded to array himself in
his hanging costume, which was remarkable as
an example of what the well-dressed pirate wore
in 1860. It was ‘““a suit of blue cottonade, got
up for the occasion. His coat was rather fancy,
being ornamented with two rows of gilt navy
buttons, and a couple of anchors in needlework.
A white shirt, a pair of blue pants, a pzir of



THE HANGING OF HICKS 215

light pumps, and the old Kossuth hat he wore
when arrested, was his attire.”

A procession of four carriages left the Tombs
before nine o’clock in the morning. The pris-
oner was in the first carriage, with the priest,
the marshal, and two assistants. At the foot of
Canal Street they all boarded the steamboat
Red Jacket. The scene there, as all the report-
ers agreed, “baffled description.” There were
1,500 persons on board.

The famous steamship Great Eastern was in
the river at this time, lying off Hammond (now
West Eleventh) Street. As many of the pas-
sengers in the Red Jacket wished to see the
great ship, Marshal Rynders approached Hicks,
and asked if it would be an inconvenience to
have the hanging postponed for an hour or two.
The prisoner expressed himself as quite at the
disposal of the gentlemen on the Red Jacket
and added that no number of postponements
would annoy him in the slightest degree. So the
steamboat made a turn up the river and grati-
fied the curiosity of the passengers. Then the
Red Jacket was put about for Bedloe’s Island.

Following the example of Thackeray at the
execution of Courvoisier, we will turn away
from the gallows, and look at the harbor.
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Steamboats, barges, oyster sloops, yachts and
row-boats covered the water within view of the
scaffold. They had come from many places, but
especially from Connecticut and from Long Isl-
and, where the brothers Watts were known.
The hanging of Hicks had the complete ap-
proval of these visitors. There were barges with
awnings spread, under which thirsty passen-
gers drank lager beer. There were row-boats,
with ladies,—no, says a shocked reporter, with

“females of some sort” in them. They gazed

from under the fringes of their parasols, as the

final penalty was exacted.

Newly painted, and anchored within 300 feet
of the gallows, was the sloop E. A. Johnson, on
which the murders were committed. A huge
burgee, with her name in red letters, flew from
her topmast. Her deck was crowded, her masts
and spars covered with sight-seers. She was
the most conspicuous sight to the eyes of the
dying man.



XVIII

THE MYSTERIOUS MURDER OF
CECILE COMBETTES

It is hard to imagine an errand more harm-
less and peaceable than the visit of a book-
binder to a religious institution. When this
book-binder makes a visit for the purpose of
returning to the holy brothers a number of
books which he has been binding; when he is
accompanied by two of his assistants, each car-
rying upon her head, in European fashion, a
basket of books, the setting seems contrived for
a gentle story by Daudet, rather than for a bru-
tal and mysterious tragedy.

On an April morning in 1847, Bertrand
Conte, the book-binder of Toulouse, came to
one of the buildings of the Institute of Chris-
tian Brethren to deliver two baskets of books.
The larger basket was carried by one of his
older work-women, Marion Rougmanac, and
the smaller by a little girl, named Cécile Com-
bettes. She was an apprentice of the book-
binder, planning soon to leave his service; she
was less than fifteen years of age.

217
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Conte and his assistants were admitted by the
porter; the baskets were set down, and the older
woman was sent away—to return to the work-
shop. The book-binder gave Cécile his umbrella,
and told her to await him in the vestibule, while
he went, with the porter, to carry the books to
the library. Here he met the director, and had
a talk, presumably about business.

Although the vestibule was in the chief en-
trance to an institution in which dwelt 500 of
the brethren, their novices and pupils; although
there were many lay visitors coming and going,
and the porter had been busy answering the
bell; and although it was broad daylight, a quar-
ter after nine in the morning, Cécile Combettes
then and there vanished from the earth. No-
body was ever found who would say that he
saw her again while she was living. The porter
could not say that he saw her go out, or that he
did not see her, or that he ever noticed her at
all after her arrival. He thought that very prob-
ably she left by way of the door.

Conte returned from the library after thirty
or forty minutes; the umbrella was standing
against the wall, but the girl had gone. Accord-
ing to his account he then went home, making
two calls on the way, and answering his wife’s
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questions about Cécile by the suggestion that
she had gone to see her mother, who was ill.
As the day went on, Cécile’s aunt and others
began to make inquiries, but her employer
seemed not to concern himself greatly. Instead,
he went on a business errand to the town of
Auch. Only one or two persons bothered at all
about the little apprentice.

At half-past six the next morning, a grave-
digger in the neighboring cemetery of St. Aubin
saw what he supposed to be the figure of a
woman, kneeling in prayer, in a corner of the
cemetery. He went nearer, touched the body,
and found it to be a young girl, dead and cold.
It was Cécile Combettes, lying on her face and
knees, and supported by her elbows. The posi-
tion of the body was strange, and the spot
where it was found offered a puzzle, for it lay
in the angle formed by two of the cemetery
walls. The wall nearer the girl’s head separated
the cemetery from the Rue Riquet, that near
her feet, from the garden of the Institute of
Christian Brethren. There were three reason-
able explanations for the presence of the body
at that spot. First, that it had been brought into
the cemetery and placed there,—a theory hard
to maintain, since the cemetery gate was kept



220 INSTIGATION OF THE DEVIL

locked at night, and there were, moreover, no
footprints in the damp earth around the body.
Second, that it had been thrown or dropped
over the wall from the Rue Riquet,—which was
difficult to believe, as the plants on the wall were
undisturbed, and a nearby sentry, on the street,
would have observed the action. Third, that it
had been thrown over from the Institute gar-
den. There were circumstances both for and
against this contention, but if it were believed,
it laid the brothers of the Institute under the
necessity of clearing themselves of grave sus-
picions.

The prompt investigation made by the com-
missaire of police, and by surgeons, established
the facts that the poor creature had been bru-
tally assaulted; that she had been killed by a
fracture of the skull, and that she had died at
about ten o’clock on the previous morning,—or
within an hour after she entered the Institute.
This last was shown in the usual way, by the
process of digestion.

Still more minute and curious than the re-
sults of the post-mortem, however, were the ob-
servations made on the arrival of the surgeon,
and of the police. They show that, even at that
date, before the rise of Poe’s Dupin, or of Sher-
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lock Holmes, trifling clues were the subject of
interest to the police, and the cause of endless
argument in courts of law. Some of the clues
offered in the case of Cécile Combettes should
give delight to the readers of detective stories,
even to-day.

In the girl’s hair were found some leaves of
cypress; a few shreds of tow or oakum, about
four inches long, apparently frayed or cut from
a rope; and a single petal of a geranium in full
bloom. Now, there was a layer of cypress
boughs on the wall between the cemetery and
the Rue Riquet; and there were geraniums on
the wall of the Institute garden. Here, then, as
in almost every fact connected with this strange
death, there were circumstances from which
one might arrive at opposite conclusions, ac-
cording to whichever was trusted. The cypress
boughs did protrude from the street wall,—a
body thrown over the garden wall might have
brushed against them. On the other hand, al-
though it was found (so precise was the detec-
tive work) that there was a petal missing from
one of the geraniums on the garden wall, it was
pointed out that a flower-petal could easily be
blown anywhere, and that it was a slender clue.
The contention that the body could not have
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been brought into the cemetery, was met by the
assertion that the gate had been known to be
left unlocked at night, and that if there were no
foot-prints in the soft earth around the body,
neither were there any indentations in the earth
to show where the knees and elbows struck when

it was thrown or dropped from the wall. This
pointed to a conclusion that the dead girl had
been placed in the corner where she was found.

On the whole, the weight of evidence caused

the authorities after a few days to direct their
suspicions toward the inmates of the Institute.
It was asserted—and disputed—that the shreds
of rope found in Cécile’s hair were identical
with a rope found in the garden. It was shown
that there were indistinct marks, as of a ladder
having been placed against the garden wall, and
this evidence was in turn neutralized by the gar-
dener, who said he had used the ladder himself,
in his lawful occupation.

As example of the contradictory and confus-
ing evidence, it should be said that one of the
accounts, in French, says that not one petal
alone was missing from the geranium on the
garden wall, but all the petals from one flower,
and as the night had been rainy, it was reason-
able to think that the wind and rain were re-



MURDER OF CECILE COMBETTES 223

sponsible, and not the body of the dead girl as
it was passed or thrown over the wall.

Another contradiction was directed toward
the statement about the sentry in the Rue
Riquet. He often retired into the sentry box,
on a rainy night, and he could have failed to see
something which occurred nearby.

The position of the body was another puzzle.
How could the body of a girl, weighing about
ninety pounds, be thrown over either wall, and
remain, after it struck the ground, in this posi-
tion, on her toes, knees and elbows? Would it
not topple over, and fall upon its side? But if
it had been brought into the cemetery, and
placed in position, why was it placed in that
position? Did some grotesque fancy cause the
murderer to arrange the girl’s body as if in
prayer? Or had the body already assumed this
posture in rigor mortis, when it was brought to
the cemetery?

The first man to be arrested was Cécile’s
master, the book-binder, Conte. She was in his
charge; it was alleged by a witness that Cécile
had complained of overtures made to her by
Conte; and it was definitely established that a
few years earlier he had been involved in a dis-
graceful scandal which concerned his sister-
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in-law. One of the visits paid by him on leaving
the Institute, was at the home of his uncle, who
lived in a street of notoriously evil character.
The suggestion was that the girl had really left
the Institute; had been lured to some house by
Conte, and there murdered. During the night,
her body had been taken to the cemetery. There
were flaws and weak points in this theory, but
not so many as in the case afterwards advanced
by the Government.

Conte, himself, at the time of his arrest, sug-
gested that the murder occurred in some dis-
reputable place in the city; he made no accusa-
tion nor suggestion against the brethren. Next
day, however, he sent for a magistrate, and de-
posed that when he entered the Institute on the
morning of Cécile’s disappearance, he saw two
of the brothers, Frére Jubrien and Frére Léo-
tade, engaged in conversation in the vestibule.
Both of them were confronted with Conte, and
both denied that they were in the vestibule that
morning. Nobody else, neither the porter, nor
Marion Rougmanac, nor anyone saw these two
brothers in the place Conte indicated. They
were both arrested, nevertheless, and finally the
prosecuting officers, abandoning all attempt to
convict anyone else, proceeded solely against
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Léotade. His real name was Louis Bonafous,
—*"in religion” known as Frére Léotade. Thus,
the accusation originated with a man previously
of bad character, who was at the time under
arrest, with a strong interest in clearing him-
self, at the expense of anyone.

Not until the following year, in February, ’48,
was Léotade put on trial. It was that week de-
scribed by du Maurier: “a warm wet wind was
blowing—the most violent wind I can remem-
ber that was not an absolute gale. It didn’t
rain, but the clouds hurried across the sky all
day long, and the tops of the trees tried to bend
themselves in two . . .” The Revolution of
1848 broke out during the trial; there was an
adjournment, and a second trial a few weeks
later.

Except for accusations against the moral
character of Léotade, made by Conte, nothing
had ever been suggested against him. It was
now contended that he had promised Conte some
rabbits; that on seeing Cécile in the vestibule he
had enticed her to the stable on pretence of giv-
ing her the rabbits for her master; that he mur-
dered her then and there, leaving the body in
the hay-loft until night, when he returned and
threw it over the wall into the cemetery.
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In support of this theory, the prosecution
now adduced evidence that there were found
under the dress and on the body of the girl some
straws of wheat, on which there were traces of
blood, and a feather. On her dress and shoes
were particles of hay and clover. There were
wheat, hay and clover in the stable.

“In addition,” says one account, “there were
found on the deceased’s clothes, incrusted in
other matter, certain grains, which turned out
to be grains of fig, and on a shirt found in the
Noviciat [one of the two buildings of the In-
stitute] were also found grains of fig, similar
in character to those found on the deceased, and
it was therefore assumed that the two articles
of dress had been in contact.”

The shirt in question was numbered 562;
Léotade denied that it was his, and the prose-
cution could never disprove his statement.

The prisoner had long been held in solitary
confinement, subjected to harsh and unfair in-
terrogations, and was finally treated by the pre-
siding judge as if his guilt were established.
Every point in the case was flatly contradicted
by the opposing side, and only one fact was
clearly established; neither prosecution nor de-
fence could bring any reliable witness who saw
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Cécile leave the Institute, or ever saw her alive
outside of it, after entering it that morning with
Conte. This, had Léotade been the sole occupant
of the buildings, would have been strong evi-
dence against him, but with 500 other persons
there, it merely left a cloud of suspicion upon the
whole organization. Conte’s unsupported state-
ment that Léotade was in the vestibule selected
the victim, and the strong feeling against the
religious bodies, which existed at that moment
in France, made it certain that a fair trial was
out of the question,

The testimony of M. Estévenet, the surgeon,
was minute and interesting. He found that par-
ticles of dust and earth on the head and body of
the girl corresponded to those on the wall of the
Institute. He also testified about the cypress
boughs and the geraniums. But it is noteworthy
that he did not arrive at the cemetery until two
o’clock. The discovery was made at half-past
six; the first police had arrived about eight.
But even when they came, some persons had
climbed the wall next to the street, while others,
curious to look at the body, had entered the
cemetery. This seems to negative much of the
testimony about foot-prints, or their absence,
and also about the state of the plants and
branches on the wall.
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Unluckily for Frére Léotade, his fellows
and superiors adopted methods which preju-
diced his interests, angered the officers of the
law, and infuriated the public. Sometimes they
offered a passive resistance to the efforts of the
police; sometimes, friends of the brothers put
forward witnesses who clearly perjured them-
selves in an ill-judged attempt to save Léotade.

Thus, at the first trial, a woman named Made-
line Sabathier, evidently a religious enthusiast,
testified that on the morning that Cécile came to
the Institute, she—the witness—had seen her
outside the buildings; had spoken to her; and
had seen a man in a cloak (assumed to be Conte)
come from the Institute and take Cécile away.
This, of course, if true, cleared Léotade and all
the other brothers. At the second trial, how-
ever, she recanted all this testimony, and fur-
ther admitted that she had been to the mother
of Cécile, since the murder, and offered her
money. The effect of this must be evident.

During the first trial the entire Court vis-
ited the Institute, with much ceremony. The
arrangement of buildings and rooms should
have given the jury strong doubts of the guilt
of Léotade, or, at least, have shown that in
those crowded quarters no one could have com-
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mitted such a crime without an accomplice. The
effect of the visit, however, was lost; first, be-
cause this trial was never concluded; and sec-
ond, because the attitude of the religious men,
in pretending to ignore the presence of the
Court, lent strength to the contention of the
prosecuting attorneys that the brethren were
hostile to the civil authority.

The reason why the prisoner’s room was
changed two nights after the murder was prob-
ably quite innocent, and the reason was given,
but the prosecution was able to make a point of
it, and assert that it had been done by the di-
rector to remove Léotade from a place which
easily communicated with the garden and the
stable, to a room from which the garden was
inaccessible.

The jury were out for an hour and a half,
and found Léotade guilty, but with “extenu-
ating circumstances.” Whether this was com-
parable to the verdict of murder in the second
degree, sometimes found by American juries,
when some of the jurors are in doubt about
guilt, does not appear. It is more probable that
the “extenuating circumstances” represented
the belief that this was a crime of passion, and
therefore not premeditated murder.
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Léotade was condemned to life imprison-
ment, and, fortunately for himself, died two
years later in the bagne at Toulon. He had al-
ways maintained his absolute innocence; had
given a reasonable but not wholly corroborated
account of all his actions on the day of the mur-
der, and declared with apparent sincerity that he
had not even known of the existence of Cécile
Combettes.

On the last day of his life, and fully aware
that he was a dying man, he sent for the chap-
lain, and one of the head officers of his prison,
and reiterated his declarations of innocence.
His conviction has gone down into criminal his-
tory as one of those errors of justice which
Englishmen and Americans are too apt to think
peculiar to France.



XIX
EIGHT PROFESSORS FROM YALE

The first scene is a lonely pasture in the vil-
lage of Rockland, near Madison, Connecticut;
the time, late in a pleasant afternoon of Septem-
ber. Through the grass and blueberry bushes
comes a rather tattered, stupid-looking man, a
farmer named Stannard. He peers into the
thickets, looks behind trees and rocks, and now
and then shouts the name of his daughter:

“Mary! Mary! Where be you, Mary?”

This is the final anxiety which his daughter
has brought upon him: to wander from home,
and get lost. Stannard is wretchedly poor, and
it cannot be said that his children have been of
much comfort to him. Mary is what some of her
neighbors probably call a fallen woman; al-
though only twenty-two, she is the mother of an
unwanted and unauthorized child, three years
old. This fact has been more or less forgiven,
however, and she has been working in another
village for about a year. Lately she has come
back to her father’s house, and there are ru-

mors that again she has ceased to “go straight.”
231
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Stannard knows nothing of this, and has not
asked. She went away into the pasture early
this afternoon, on some mysterious errand, and
her absence has caused her family to worry.

There was, at this period (it was the late
seventies), a poem in great repute with ladies
who gave recitations in public: a deep purple,
passionate poem, called “Ostler Joc.” I think I
have heard that Mrs. Langtry recited it. It told
about some siren or other who “lured men’s
souls to the shores of sin, by the light of her
wanton eyes.” I do not know if Mary Stannard
was guilty of any such misconduct as this, but I
think it unlikely. If she was a temptress, some
one has more than evened the debt with her.
Toward sunset her father discovers this.

At a place called the Whippoorwill Rock he
finds her at last: her body is lying composed, her
clothing tidy and in order, although her straw
sun-bonnet, placed nearby, is stained with blood.
Her arms are folded over her breast. And with
the usual strangely ironical result of such an
event, the name of Mary Stannard, known at
this moment only to a few people, in one or two
villages, is to become familiar throughout the
country, and her death is to agitate dozens of
learned men for more than two years to come,
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One of these learned men is a brilliant young
teacher at Yale—Professor Edward S. Dana—
and he, more than a year after that September
day, is standing in a Court at New Haven, dis-
cussing, and trying to make clear to a jury, “the
microscopic measurements of arsenical octahe-
drons.”

This is a queer business, and one apparently
far removed from Stannard and his dead daugh-
ter in the blueberry pasture. But it appears that
Mary on the days before her death had talked
to her sister, and to others. Again, so she
thought, she had cause to fear for her reputa-
tion, and she blamed no less a person than the
Methodist minister of Madison, the Reverend
Mr. Hayden. It was to meet him—so ran the
talk—that she went to Whippoorwill Rock, and
there he was to give her some “quick medicine.”

Mr. Hayden was a young country parson,
very poor, married and with two children; a
fiery preacher at camp-meetings. At one time
Mary had been a servant in his house. The
report of her accusations against him, together
with the fact that his occupations on that after-
noon were not wholly explained, caused him to
be put under arrest. While he was in jail it de-
veloped that in addition to the knife-wounds and
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a fractured skull which had caused the girl’s
death, she also had fifty grains of arsenic in her
stomach. Whoever had killed her believed in
being thorough. Now, Mr. Hayden had bought
arsenic on the day of her death,—but, so he said,
for the ancient and familiar purpose of “killing
rats.” During the hearing in the magistrate’s
court, a friend of the minister went to his barn,
and there, although others had searched the
place, found the full ounce of arsenic, the
amount he was shown to have bought. Where-
upon, for that and for other reasons which
seemed sufficient, the magistrate (a good Meth-
odist, it was remarked) spoke and said:

“If I was as sure of Heaven as I am that Mr.
Hayden is guiltless, I should rest content. Mr.
Sheriff, release the prisoner.”

Other law officers, however, were not sure of
anything whatever about the case. They sug-
gested that Mr. Hayden’s packet of rat poison
(to be known henceforth as the “barn arsenic”)
had been planted there by his well-wishers, and
that it was not at all the arsenic administered,
ostensibly as medicine, to Mary Stannard. The
minister was arrested again, and this time
stayed in jail all winter, while Professor Dana
was looking through his microscope at samples
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of the “barn arsenic,” the “stomach arsenic” and
numerous other varieties. Nobody in this coun-
try, it appeared, knew very much about this
popular poison, and in the summer Professor
Dana went to England to visit the factories
where it was produced. When he returned he
knew a tremendous deal about arsenic,—enough
to give him material for four days of the most
curiously minute expert testimony which had
ever been offered in an American court of law.

Briefly, it was this. Arsenic condenses in
eight-sided crystals, and is afterwards ground
under a roller. Some of the crystals are so small
that they remain unbroken. The number of
them so remaining, the shape and size of the
broken particles, and other aspects of them, vary
in arsenic coming from different sources. By
microscopic examination it was possible to say
that the “barn arsenic” was different from some
bought at the same time and from the same
druggist of whom Mr. Hayden said he procured
his arsenic for the destruction of rats. Some
arsenic from another shop in that town was
identical with that which had been given to
Mary Stannard.

This did not prove the minister’s guilt, but to
those who followed the Professor’s careful dem-
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onstration, and looked at his fascinating little
pictures of eight-sided crystals, it tended to
show that Mr. Hayden had lied about the source
of the arsenic found in his barn. It also served
to strengthen the State’s contention that the lat-
ter had been bought to replace poison which was
used to further some felonious little plans.

It was the theory of the prosecution that
Mary had become suspicious or violent after
swallowing the poison given her under the pre-
tense that it was an abortifacient, and that her
assailant then struck her upon the head with a
rock, and finally cut her throat. A pocket-knife
of Mr. Hayden’s was produced, and day after
day was devoted to argument in proof and dis-
proof that it bore traces of human blood. The
measurement of corpuscles was considered at
tragic length.

A gentleman who, as a young law student,
heard Professor Dana give his testimony on
these four days in October, fifty years ago, tells
me that it was an excellent example of scientific
reasoning, extraordinarily precise and convinc-
ing. The young Professor’s testimony marked
the highest point in the case for the State of
Connecticut.

October changes to November, and that
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month (in a very regular custom of its own)
into December, and still the trial goes on. Every
day, folk all over the country look at their pa-
pers to see what is happening at New Haven,
and New Yorkers turn each morning to the
third page of The Sun to read Amos Cum-
mings’s two columns upon “The Great Hayden
Trial.” One day they read, on the front page, of
the arrival in New York of two makers of light
opera, Messrs. Gilbert and Sullivan, and a few
weeks later there is a column about the opening
night of “The Pirates of Penzance.”

On a day in December, just before the pris-
oner goes on the witness stand in his own be-
half, his lawyers play their best card: Mrs.
Hayden gives her testimony. Every day she has
been in Court, serious, devoted, grief-stricken
to tears, and usually carrying a bouquet of flow-
ers from her admirers, or from her husband’s
friends. Now she stands in statuesque pose, her
hand raised to take the oath: a handsome and
noble-looking woman, gowned in black. She
wins the Court by her apparent truthfulness.
She alone, of all living persons, had some oppor-
tunity to know what her husband was doing in
the crucial hours of that afternoon, from one
to four, when the murder was committed. He
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was, 50 he says, in the wood-lot, piling a very
small amount of wood in a very long period of
time. He was, so the prosecutors aver, the uni-
dentified man whom another witness saw going
toward Whippoorwill Rock. The village was so
small that it was possible for the State to show
what every other inhabitant was doing that
afternoon.

Mrs. Hayden’s testimony does not prove a
complete alibi for her husband; perhaps it is the
more convincing for that reason. But it does
corroborate his story at many of the points.
When the cross-examiner attempts to ask her if
she would tell the truth against her beloved hus-
band, even if the truth should destroy him, the
question is excluded by the Court, and Mrs.
Hayden is excused from the witness stand.

The 1870’s vanish on the night “The Pirates
of Penzance” is first sung—and the 1880’s come
in, and the Hayden trial is soon in its third
month. The long-suffering jury has listened to
176 witnesses. There were twelve professors,
eight of them from Yale, who talked about ar-
senical octahedrons, and about the corpuscles in
the blood of goats, pigs, dogs, rabbits and men.
Some of them supported Professor Dana, while
others contradicted him. There were witnesses
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both for and against the theory of Mr. Hay-
den’s undue intimacy with Mary Stannard.
There was Mr. Hayden himself, who made a
good impression as a witness.

On a Friday afternoon in the middle of Janu-
ary, the jury goes out to consider their verdict.
They have heard a charge from the Court,
which Mr. Hayden’s friends and counsellors in-
dignantly describe as an argument for the prose-
cution. The spectators in the court room re-
main to hear the result. Monday has come; the
jurymen are still there; they have not gone
home, as they had hoped, for the Sabbath, Let
us look into the jury-room,—it is the last scene
of the drama which began so long ago in the
blueberry pasture.

It is a queer sight. The floor is ankle-deep
with wood-shavings, for these twelve Connecti-
cut Yankees live at a period before the old
American custom of whittling has gone out.
Nearly every one of them has a jack-knife, and
as there is a fire in the room (it is cold mid-
winter weather outdoors), there are plenty of
sticks to whittle. So, as they talk, and argue, and
chew tobacco or smoke pipes, as they ballot and
ballot again and again, and finally rage and roar
at the obstinate juror, they dissect these sticks of
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wood into long, sweet-smelling strips of soft
pine, until the carpet disappears and the jurors
wade in shavings.

Some of them are toasting their stockinged
feet before the fire; some are asleep on the
benches; a few of them ceaselessly walk, like
panthers, round and round the table. Others
play tic-tac-toe, or discuss the political situation
in Maine, which happens to be exciting at this
moment. One or two take turns in shaking their
fists and shouting at the obstinate juror.

This person is named David B. Hotchkiss, a
brown-haired farmer of thirty years. He is of
middle height, he has a thin face, his complexion
is tallowy, and, like Mr. Hayden, he has adorned
his chin with a scraggly goatee. He has ill-fit-
ting clothes and old-fashioned spectacles: I
fancy the lenses are rectangular, and that they
have brass rims. Altogether Hotchkiss is a comic
figure, and an object of loathing to the other
eleven men. On Friday afternoon he “hunched
up” on a chair in one corner of the room, and
“fended himself with both hands” when the
others approached. He makes his few remarks
in a squeak, and his favorite utterance is “No!
No! No!”

He wishes—most uncharitably, think the
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others—to see the Reverend Mr. Hayden in
prison for life. For one day and a night, with
two or three others to support him, he held out
for a verdict which would have sent the clergy-
man to the gallows.

On only one matter were they all agreed.
With the sound common-sense of the American
farmer (or the base stupidity of yokels, if you
prefer) they had thrown the expert testimony
overboard at the start. All of Professor Dana’s
travels among the arsenic works of England, all
of his days and nights with his microscope, all
of his learned testimony, as well as that of the
eight professors from Yale, and all the other
professors and doctors, were a total waste of
time so far as these twelve citizens were con-
cerned. The sole point which interested them
was this: was Mrs. Hayden to be believed ?

“Yes,” said eight of them.

“No,” said Hotchkiss, and three others. But
the three dwindled to two and then to one, and
finally the ridiculous-looking Hotchkiss was left
alone, squeaking out his defiance, and sticking to
his guns.

On Monday they file into Court, cross and
dishevelled. They cannot agree, and they are
discharged. And ten days later the Reverend
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Mr. Hayden is released on bond; ruined, but
free to go back to his wife, who has saved him.
She was a woman of noble appearance, and ap-

parent honesty. The eleven jurymen would put
no trust in expert testimony, but they relied on
their plain common-sense.

All, that is, except the egregious Hotchkiss.
He alone mistook her character. He was—so
they all said—a fuss-budget, a crotchety old
crank. He was certainly not an attractive
figure, but as we condemn his obstinacy and
wrong-headedness, there rises to mind the fa-
vorite remark of so many characters in the
polite English comedies:

“I wonder !”



XX

THE TIRRELLS OF WEYMOUTH

The Tirrells of Weymouth, Massachusetts,
were pursued by the Furies. They were farm-
ers and shoemakers, dwelling in a singularly
attractive town, but their lives in the years be-
fore the Civil War were clouded by bloodshed
and its vengeance.

Their first appearance in public was in 1846,
when Albert J. Tirrell was tried for the mur-
der of Maria Bickford. The careers of these
lovers, both separately and together, had regis-
tered a rather high percentage of moral turpi-
tude, gauged by the standards of any period,
and the chances for Tirrell’s escape seemed dark.
Luckily for him, he was able to benefit by the
services of the great advocate, Rufus Choate,
who contrived an ingenious defence.

Mr. Choate suggested to the jury that Mrs.
Bickford had committed suicide,—by cutting
her head off—or almost off—and then setting
the house afire. And we have it on the authority
of one of the courtiers in “The Mikado” that if
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a person only succeeded in cutting his head half

off,—that would be something.

The famous lawyer did not leave it at that,
for he relied chiefly on the theory that if his un-
fortunate client really did perform the fearful
deed of killing Maria Bickford, he did it while
asleep, and was, therefore, more to be pitied than
censured. Many tears were shed in the court-

room, during Mr. Choate’s speech.

This defence of sommambulism caused much
amusement among the more cynical lawyers for
many years afterward, and was as celebrated as
was the theory of the “brainstorm” twenty-five
years ago, or as the “king and slave phantasy,”
used in our own time to explain the pranks of
pairs of murderous young men in Chicago or
Atlanta.

Tirrell went free, but the Furies were on the
track of his clan. When they struck, it was in
their usual blind fashion. Thomas Hardy re-
marks that the wrong done to Tess in Cran-
borne Chase may have been retribution for simi-
lar deeds of her ancestors, but that it was hard
for mortals to see justice in it.

When next the name of a Tirrell of Wey-
mouth was heard in a Massachusetts court, it
was that of a person far different from her dis-
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tant cousin, Albert Tirrell, or from Maria Bick-
ford, whose career was scarlet, and whose death
was encompassed by blood and fire.

It is perhaps rash to assume cousinship be-
tween Albert and Betsy Frances Tirrell. The
same family name does not prove it. Penrod
Schofield, in Mr. Tarkington’s story, made the
mistake of thinking that the local aristocrat,
Mrs. Magsworth Bitts, would be flattered to
have her son exhibited as the only living nephew
of Rena Magsworth, who was then on trial for
poisoning eight people.

All I can say is that when Albert Tirrell was
set free, a little girl named Betsy Frances Tirrell
was then living in Weymouth. She was about
eleven years old, and was to grow up into a
quiet, well-conducted, rather pretty young wo-
man. Not a great deal is discoverable about her.
She went to “meeting” very often; so did they
all in the small American town in the 1850’s,
when the church, the Sunday School, the church
“sociable,” and the picnic were the only forms
of amusement. There was also the “Lyceum,”
or other lecture courses; while the promise of a
circus—in Fall River—was a novelty and a treat
to the Tirrells.

In 1860 Betsy Frances was about twenty-five,
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—an age which then brought a girl perilously
close to the reproach of being an old maid.
Probably her youthful good looks and her art-
less, rather simple manners saved her from this
disgrace. Her mother was dead, but her father,
Wilson Tirrell, had married again, and with her
father and step-mother and her little half-sister,
Louisa, she was enduring the melancholy
months of spring.

They were melancholy to Betsy Frances, for
one reason which everybody knew, and for an-
other which was still secret. Her sister, Mary,
had died suddenly, and I think, rather mysteri-
ously, on the day after New Year’s.

Mary had been betrothed to a young shoe-
maker named George C. Hersey. Mr. Hersey,
as the Newgate Calendar would say, was the
son of aged and respectable parents, of the town
of Hingham. Singular misfortunes followed his
love-making. He had black whiskers, and the
young ladies, on whom he cast a favoring eye,
found him all but irresistible.

Yet, where he loved, grim sorrows lurked. He
had once been married, but his wife, a beautiful
young woman, died after about a year. Then
he won the heart of Mary Tirrell, and their
marriage was arranged. When she was taken
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violently ill, in the very last days of December,
Mr. Hersey, as her affianced husband, was in-
vited to stay at her home. He came, and was
assiduous in his attentions at her bedside. After
a week’s illness, Mary Tirrell died, and George
Hersey and Betsy Frances, her sister, wept to-
gether at her grave.

As Mr. Hersey was out of employment, Mr.
Tirrell invited him to stay indefinitely. So here
was this visitor in the home of Betsy Frances
Tirrell, but the joy which she took in the com-
pany of the sorrowing man appeared to be grave
and restrained. As one of the learned counsel
expressed it:

“They were in sympathy as brother and sis-
ter, and their conduct well comported with that
relation. They were seldom in society. They at-
tended, both by day and evening, the ordinances
of religion; walked and rode together, though
not often unattended. She was, during a portion
of this period, somewhat sad and dejected, and
her friends thought they noticed a decline in
health.”

It was generally agreed that the two young
people were seldom alone together, and that so
far as Betsy Frances was concerned, the atten-
tions which she paid Mr. Hersey seemed to be
confined to mending some of his clothes.
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He, however, was not averse to an occasional
diversion elsewhere, and in the month of April
occurred the strange interlude with Miss Lo-
retta Adeline Loud. This lady was but sixteen
years old, but could not have been more clear-
minded as to the etiquette which governs en-
gaged couples, if she had been twice her age, and
had read Dorothy Dix or some other redoubt-
able guide to manners and morals, every night
of her life.

Briefly, as she put it, she secretly plighted her
troth to Mr. Hersey about April 1oth. On Sun-
day, April 29th, she diverged sharply from his
theories about the privileges of a fiancé, and
terminated the engagement on that very Sab-
bath evening. Her meetings with Mr. Hersey
were adjourned, sine dic, and Miss Loretta
never regretted it.

On the third day of May, early in the eve-
ning, the Tirrell family and Mr. Hersey drove
home together after a call at the house of a rela-
tive. In the village Mr. Hersey had been with
Louisa to the barber’s, while the little girl had
her hair cut. They reached home shortly before
eight,—early candle-light. The two men* put up
the horse, while the women went inside and took
off their bonnets and shawls.
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Anyone familiar with the New England
towns can, I think, imagine the scene. The
pleasant road, bordered by elms, and the white
farm houses. Apple trees in bud, but not yet in
blossom. The smells and sounds of a cool eve-
ning in spring; the shrill notes of the hylas, the
“spring-peepers,” and the trilling of toads from
the wet meadows along the way. The Tirrells’
house, with its large barn and stable. The fam-
ily driving up in the two-seated covered car-
riage. The women getting out—with difficulty.
Here is a moment we cannot visualize, unless
we have seen something of the kind in the mov-
ing pictures, for Mrs. Tirrell and Betsy Frances
must have worn the preposterous hoop-skirts
of the time—costumes which managed to com-
bine absurdity, inconvenience and immodesty.
Louisa, who was eleven, in her pantalettes. She
was excited over the recent trimming of her
curls, and over the prospective May festival.

And all this group of people, so pastoral and
so Victorian, on the verge of an event which
belongs not to Massachusetts, but to Italy of the
fifteenth century. One of them hiding her sor-
row and perplexity; one of them with his
schemes prepared, his secret weapon conve-
niently at hand.
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Mr. Hersey came in from the stable, an-
nounced that he had a head-ache, and went up-
stairs to bed. The evening paper had been
brought, and Betsy Frances sat reading it and
talking with her father and step-mother. Mr.
Tirrell spoke of the circus next day in Fall River
and offered to take his wife and daughters to see
it. Mrs. Tirrell accepted gladly, saying that she
had never been to a circus.

As the family sat there, an old custom, con-
nected with May Day, was observed; some of
the boys of the neighborhood hung May-baskets
on the outside door. These were intended for
Louisa, and as she had gone to bed, Betsy
Frances took two of the baskets upstairs for
her to see. One of them contained a small doll,
This bit of unintentional symbolism might have
come from a play by Ibsen.

They evidently took their May festival seri-
ously in Weymouth in 1860, since they were
still celebrating it on May 3rd. I wonder if this
custom was general at that period, and if it has
altogether died out.

Betsy Frances came downstairs again; dis-
cussed plans for breakfast with her step-mother;
and finally everybody went to bed at nine o’clock,
according to the habits of those who rise early.
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Besides, there was to be an early start for the
circus next day.

Mrs. Tirrell was already in bed when she
heard Louisa, who slept with Betsy Frances,
calling for help. Her calls were followed by a
shriek, and almost instantly afterwards, Mr.
Hersey, who seemed to have been roused
promptly, came to the door of the older people,
and announced that,—

“Frances is in a fit or something.”

They all ran to the girls’ room, and did what
was possible—which was nothing at all—to help
Betsy Frances. The person who dies by strych-
nine dies a cruel death, and I believe that I will
not relate what they saw, nor what the family
doctor, who was soon called, described in his
testimony.

In about half an hour Betsy Frances Tirrell
had died, without saying anything which gave
information. Mr. Hersey again had been most
thoughtful in his attentions.

Behind a fire-board in the girls’ room, some-
one found a spoon which seemed to have held
some preserved fruit. Otherwise, nothing un-
usual was observed. The doctors determined
upon an autopsy, although Hersey strongly ad-
vised the family against it. He described such
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investigation as “brutal.” However, he changed
his mind, and asked to be allowed to attend,
and represent the family. This was permitted,
and he was present for a short time. The au-
topsy revealed the unexpected fact of pregnancy,
and the doctors requested him to leave the room.
He tiptoed out.

The subsequent analyses showed the presence
of strychnine in large quantity, and the scien-
tific testimony was interesting to experts in legal
medicine, since this was one of the first Amer-
ican cases of the use of this poison. Strychnine
was also found on the spoon in the dead girl’s
room. It had, apparently, been mixed with the
preserved fruit, and taken by her after she had
been told that it was a drug of an altogether
different nature.

Thus, the poisoner anticipated the methods
of the Reverend Mr. Richeson, fifty years later.

Since the police promptly discovered the
source of the strychnine, and found, in Boston,
the man who had sold it to Mr. Hersey, that
subtle gentleman was arrested and put upon his
trial. The defense was that Betsy Frances had
committed suicide, and a strong argument was
made that she had sufficient motive, and that the
prisoner lacked the incentive to murder.
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This jury, however, refused to be hoaxed:
there was no evidence to show that the girl had
access to any poison except that which was
traced to Hersey. That she had been deceived
by him into taking it, was clear.

Mr. Hersey made his petition to “His Ex-
cellency, John A. Andrew, Governor, and the
Honorable Council of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts.” He signed the statement that
“your petitioner now, in most solemn form, as
he hath ever hitherto said, says, after trial, ver-
dict rendered, and sentence pronounced, that he
is not guilty of the crime of which he now stands
convicted; and that he believes that in time he
will be able to prove the same.”

The Governor and Council heard his lawyers,
as well as the petitions of a large number of
citizens of Weymouth and vicinity. Everybody
was a little distracted, that week, by the recent
battle between the Monitor and the Merrimac.

In the end, the yeas and nays were ordered,
and it appeared that the vote was unanimous in
the negative. The Governor and Council “were
not impressed.”

Long after Mr. Hersey was hanged, then, did
some one make “a death-bed confession” which
might have cleared the poor soul? That would
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have been the way in the tales which supply one
form of criminal lore.

Nothing of the kind happened. On the Fri-
day in August, when he was hanged, more than
two years after the crime, he signed a confes-
sion that he murdered Betsy Frances. He
added, also in most solemn form, that he was in-
nocent of the deaths of the two other women—
his wife, and Mary Tirrell.

This may be true. But there were persons who
at last had got some insight into his callous dis-
position, and they suspected that, even upon the
gallows, George Hersey was parsimonious with
the truth.



XXI
THE “LEARNED” MURDERER

Edward Rulloff was a “career man,”—in
fact, almost a two-career man. He pursued
learning fitfully, as a man woos a casual sweet-
heart; but all his life he was faithful to his old
doxy, which was Crime. He experimented in
philology, and one writer asserts that he had
studied law, medicine, mineralogy and conchol-
ogy. There is no essential antagonism, said
Oscar Wilde (who was not unbiased), between
culture and crime. We know how some writers
described the alleged profound learning of
Loeb and Leopold, and in the light of their ex-
aggerations, I am disposed to question Rulloff’s
erudition.

Professor Goldwin Smith called him a “‘great
philologist,” which means, probably, a great
philologist,—for a murderer. Rulloff may have
carried on his studies as a mask to hide his real
business; or more probably he had the sincerity
of a genuine crank. His pet diversion was the
invention of a universal language; and the ex-
treme enthusiast for Volapiik, Esperanto, or
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any of the hundred others, is not far removed
from the man who seeks to find perpetual mo-
tion, or to square the circle.

Rulloff was born in St. John, New Bruns-
wick, and appeared as a school-teacher in the
town of Dryden, New York, in the 1840’s.
Here he married his pupil, Harriet Schutt. He
moved with her to the neighboring town of
Lansing, and remained for a few years. There
came a day when there were Mr. and Mrs.
Rulloff, and the little Rulloff child; and then,
suddenly, on the following day, there was only
Mr. Rulloff. Where the other two,were, no one
knew; Mr. Rulloff replied to the few inquiries,
either with polite evasions, or else bluntly, and
rather disagreeably.

Since a man, about the time of the disappear-
ance, had helped him lift a large and heavy box
into a wagon, and as Rulloff was seen next day
returning with the box, which he was now able
to lift from the wagon unaided, there were un-
charitable suspicions about the disappearances.
Rulloff found it convenient to vanish; but he
came back again, and was arrested. He was
tried and convicted for the abduction of his
wife. He did not seem able to produce her; nor
were the officers of the law able to find her body,
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as they sought to do, by dredging Lake Cayuga.

Rulloff served ten years at Auburn prison
for abduction,—rather a strange incident. On
his release, the inhuman legal authorities sought
to indict him again, this time for murder. Mrs.
Rulloff was still missing, although an engineer,
who once on a clear day looked down into Ca-
yuga’s waters, with its waves of blue, and saw
a box resting at the bottom of the lake, thought
he knew where she was. Rulloff pointed out to
the learned Court that he could not be tried
again in connection with his wife’s disappear-
ance, and his law was deemed good. There was
little Dottie, however; he could be tried—and he
was tried and convicted—ifor her murder, al-
though he and his lawyer called loudly and in-
dignantly for the well-known corpus delicti,—
such an essential element in a trial for a felony.
While his objections were awaiting review by
the Court of Appeals, a team of black horses
were driven up to the jail one evening, and
Rulloff, with help from the jailer’s son, van-
ished into the inky shades of night.

His next appearance was before the Presi-
dent of Allegheny College at Meadville, Penn-
sylvania. He impressed the President and Fel-
lows by his learning, and suggested that they
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give him a professorship. Almost they did, but
not quite. Instead, they recommended him to a
Southern college, then in need of a teacher of
languages. Rulloff had been studying the clas-
sics during his term at Auburn. He started
South with a letter of recommendation, but
raised money for the trip by robbing a jeweler.
He was caught, was released on bail, and after
a short sojourn in Ohio, returned to one of the
western counties of New York. Here he was
recognized and again sent to jail, so that the
Court of Appeals might consider the question
of the corpus delicti,—the total absence of the
remains of little Dottie.

Rulloff was seen in jail at this time by an ob-
servant man, who found him “gentle and win-
some” in manner, his voice “gentleness itself.”
He was now to have his brightest criminal
years: a long campaign of burglaries and mur-
ders, varied by etymological research. In this,
for a quarter of a century he was sustained by
his own cleverness and courage, and his ability
to escape either by physical means, or through
the law’s loopholes.

A young lawyer, later a distinguished judge,
Francis M. Finch,* told the Court that mere

*Author, I think, of “The Blue and the Gray,” which we used
to recite on Memorial Day.
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absence did not establish the fact of death, and
suggested that for all the Court could say, Dot-
tie might be in full enjoyment of life, some-
where or other. The Court seemed disposed to
agree. As Rulloff’s release became imminent,
some young men among his former neighbors,
with whom he always enjoyed considerable un-
popularity, distributed circulars, asking every-
one in the county to attend a little informal
lynching of the eminent scholar. A courageous
sheriff whisked Rulloff away; he could not
know that he had far better have pushed him
overboard. Now, once more, the prisoner was
free; to illustrate the advantages of “giving the
poor fellow another chance.”

For ten years philology languished. Rulloff
served two years and a half at Sing Sing for
burglary. For receiving stolen goods in Con-
necticut: two months. For engineering a bank
robbery in New Hampshire (where he had ap-
peared in the guise of a retired Episcopalian
clergyman, late of Oxford University) he was
sentenced to ten years. He escaped after three
months. He turned again to scholarly pursuits,
dwelt on Third Avenue in New York (where
his landlady highly esteemed him), and studied
in “the great libraries.” My colleagues of what
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used to be the Astor Library do not seem to re-
call him, although they have honored him in
their catalogue by re-spelling his name for him:
Rulloffson. Perhaps he was then passing un-
der the pseudonym he used in learned circles.

He was at work on a manuscript about Greek,
and also upon his universal language. As “Doc-
tor Edward Lurio” he attended the convention
of the American Philological Association in
Poughkeepsie in 1869, and proffered a manu-
script on “The Origin or Formation of Lan-
guages.” The work, says someone, “showed
wonderful research, great knowledge, and was
written in a copper-plate hand.”

My doubts persist. I believe in the “copper-
plate” hand-writing : a frequent accomplishment
of fanatics. As for the wonderful research, 1
have seen examples of it in persons of this va-
riety. The correct description of it is gigantic,
useless, and misapplied industry. A committee
examined “Doctor Lurio’s” manuscript, and re-
garded the author as a crank. Here we have a
competent opinion, from first-hand knowledge
of his work.

Rebuffed, and accompanied by two other un-
appreciated sgvants (described by the police as
burglars), Rulloff appeared in 1870 at Bing-
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hamton. The place was a shop; the time, after
midnight. Two clerks, who slept in the shop,
objected to the proceedings of the three as they
tried to crack the safe. Rulloff shot and killed
one of the clerks, and with his two friends es-
caped. The friends tried to cross a river in the
darkness and both were drowned. Rulloff was
caught, shortly afterwards, but nobody could
identify him as connected with the burglaries.
At all events, a judge who happened to enter the
Court where he was being examined recognized
him as Rulloff. The scholar-gypsy instantly
admitted his identity; said he knew that there
had been a burglary and murder, and feared
that if he were found in the vicinity he might be
unjustly suspected, on account of the ill-feeling
which existed in the matter of the accusation re-
garding his wife and little Dottie. The district
attorney apologized, shook hands with him,
hoped that Mr. Rulloff would pardon the law’s
blunder, and once more the persecuted man was
free to go whither he listed.

He departed, but in a few hours someone re-
called that a shoe, found at the scene of the
murder, gave unmistakable signs of belonging
to a man who had lost a great toe. Such a dis-
aster had happened to Rulloff through frost-
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that he did not, himself, actually shoot Merrick.
But this was no defense, even if true.

The opponents of capital punishment signed
a petition to save his valuable life. They did
this on two grounds: first, that he was insane;
and second, that his was a matchless intellect,
and that if he were hanged, a light of learning
would be extinguished. (Another similarity of
his case to that of Loeb and Leopold.) It was
of no interest to them how many other lives,
really valuable, might have been sacrificed if
this savage were again spared. The Governor
appointed two commissions to inquire into these
contentions, and both commissions reported in
the negative.

Rulloff passed his final days in prison discuss-
ing his universal language; relating ribald anec-
dotes; and interviewing visitors. One of these
was an emissary from Horace Greeley. The
editor had become interested in the convict, and
it happened that the man whom he sent to the
prison carried with him some proofs of Bayard
Taylor’s translation of Faust. Rulloff looked at
these, and delivered a short discourse on the
poem, and the merits of this version. Yet the
relentless officers of the law stayed not their
hands, and Rulloff, shortly afterwards, was duly
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hanged for the murder of a mere clerk,—just as
if he were not the master of four or five lan-
guages.

His brain proved to weigh nine or ten ounces
more than the average, and he had the forehead
which indicates intellect.* The width of the
head between the ears, however, gave it the ap-
pearance of a bull. To-day, he might have been
saved from execution, but the persons whom he
would have killed would have been just as dead
as if he had known but one language, and had
never studied “law, medicine, mineralogy and
conchology.”

*Cornell University, so I am told, now owns this brain,



XXII
ACCOMPLISHED FEMALE LIARS

A famous police official, once at the head of
Scotland Yard, said that he had sometimes
wished that girls, at the age of fourteen, could
quietly be “put to sleep” by the State, and al-
lowed to remain unconscious until they were
eighteen, and ready to become normal and harm-
less women. Between those ages they caused al-
together too much trouble to the police.

The adolescent liar flourishes at about that
time, although it is hard to fix the limits. Ann
Putnam was only twelve when she led the little
band of hell-cats and kittens who caused nine-
teen persons to be hanged, and one to be pressed
to death, in Salem in 1692.

She and her friends began by dabbling in
spiritualism and the divination of dreams: to-
day their amusement would be thought intelli-
gent and even fashionable; it would be called
psychic research and Freudian interpretation.
It is impossible to say how far they lost control
of themselves, and were helpless hysterics; and
to what extent they knew they were swearing
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away the lives of innocent persons, because they
were in so deep they dared not turn back.

Elizabeth Canning, the first famous victim of
an “abduction,” was eighteen. She became fa-
mous in London, in 1753, but she died in Weth-
ersfield, Connecticut. She was carried off in a
“hackney coach,”—and she is the spiritual an-
cestress of all the girls of to-day who come back
after a two or three days’ escapade, with tales
of big, gray motor-cars, masked ruffians, and
imprisonment in dank cellar or dismal attic.
Their stories painfully lack originality.

The Canning sisterhood, however, have a
definite object for lying. It is not art for its
own sake with them; they have need to account
for their mysterious absences. If they are in-
ventive enough, if they can be carried into Mex-
ico, and be forced to walk for miles over the hot
sands, they may even become romantic heroines.

The adolescent liar gets over it; the congeni-
tal liar may keep it up for long years. It is not,
with her, an amusement of the golden years of
youth. I know of a woman who apparently had
not ceased her elaborate inventions at the age
of thirty. She was, at first, an unattractive,
quiet, well-behaved young woman of eighteen
or nineteen, who was liked by a few women,
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and gifts were received. All that prevented the
marriage was the fact that the bridegrooms
were as fictitious as sister Violet.

This, of course, was pitiful,—especially for
relatives and friends to whom it brought acute
embarrassment. What made it curious was that
for three-quarters of the time, Gertrude was a
particularly correct, apparently normal, and to-
tally uninteresting person.

These are usually cases for the physician or
learned alienist; not for the law. All that the
law should do is to take care that no innocent
person suffers as a result of accusations made
by one of these lying ladies. Since they almost
invariably do make accusations; and usually
against men; and since their accusations are al-
most always of a nature which four out of five
persons are instantly ready to believe, whether
the man is a saintly archbishop, or a school-
boy, it is depressing to reflect how many men in
the past have dangled at the end of a rope, or
dragged out long years in prison, because of the
glib inventions and detailed accusations of some
girl of fifteen or sixteen.

The imaginary injuries and the imaginary
betrothals in the case of Gertrude and Violet
were duplicated in two trials, each famous in its
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day, in England and France. One was merely
annoying and expensive to its victim; and amus-
ing to everyone else. The other was extremely
odd, but rather tragic.

On St. Valentine’s Day, in 1846, Miss Mary
Elizabeth Smith, then aged nineteen, brought
suit in London for £20,000 against a peer of the
realm, only a few years her senior. He was the
Earl Ferrers, and he had been known, before
his grandfather’s death, as the Right Honorable
Washington Shirley, Viscount Tamworth. And
he—so said Miss Smith, through a formidable
array of eminent lawyers—had most cruelly
withered her young heart, by marrying another,
when he was engaged, betrothed, plighted and
sworn to love and marry only her,—Miss Smith.

He had loved her, this wicked nobleman, for
six years, or ever since she was a little maid of
thirteen. He rode across country—on his great
horse Zimro—from his estates, to her more
lowly home, to pay court to her. He wrote her
letters ; dozens, scores of letters. They were pro-
duced in Court. The date of the wedding had
been set for the summer that Lord Ferrers came
of age. The trousseau was ordered, and so was
the cake. The bridesmaids had been nominated,
and everything was ready, when a notice ap-
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peared in the papers that the scoundrel Earl had
married somebody else.

How Miss Smith’s lawyers came to take up
with the case, and how such a great legal gun as
the Solicitor General for the Crown came into
it on her side, it is hard to see. For when the
tale of the aching heart was laid before the
Court, and all therein sat aghast at the wicked-
ness of this peer of highest station, one of his
lawyers arose and unfolded his defense. And
this was that he had never written her a letter;
had never ridden over on his great horse Zimro,
nor any other; and had never spoken to her, nor
even seen her in his life.

And he proved it. Miss Smith had written all
these dozens of love-letters to herself; had ar-
ranged the marriage; hoaxing her parents, or at
least her father; had bought millinery for the
imaginary wedding; and concocted the whole
business out of the depths of her fancy and her
supernatural equipment as a liar.

In this suit, at all events, there was a material
object: the cash damages. The romance had
been built up—in her own mind—long before.
But in the French case, the explanation is more
difficult, and more certainly belongs in the class
of abnormalities. This is not to say that it could
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not have been checked, at the beginning, by some
simple physical remedy,—of one kind or an-
other.

It was in 1834,—one of those dull periods of
history which may be interesting, and are often
pleasant to live in. The scene was the Cavalry
School of the French Army, at Saumur. The
commandant was General the Baron de Morell,
whose family lived in Paris, but came to Sau-
mur in the summer. They were Madame de
Morell; a son, aged twelve; and a daughter,
named Marie, aged sixteen.

The de Morells had been bothered in Paris by
anonymous letters, and now, in this summer at
Saumur, the plague broke out again. Everyone
seemed to get them: the general, his wife, their
daughter, and her English governess. Strange
incidents began to happen; unknown men
pushed notes in at doors, or peered in at win-
dows. No one seemed to notice that only Marie
saw these unknown men; in fact, all the strange
things happened to her.

She was insulted one evening, after a dinner
party, by Lieutenant de la Ronciére, who com-
pared her beauty most unfavorably with that of
her mother. This young subaltern was the son
of another titled general,—one of Napoleon’s
distinguished veterans.
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The letters, which now began to come in a
flood, were often signed by his initials—E. de
la R. Sometimes they were avowals of affection
for the mother; more often they were expres-
sions of hatred for Marie. Modern psychology
would probably have explained this, quickly and
correctly. It is strange that the explanation did
not occur to anyone at the time.

Officers began to get the most outrageous let-
ters; some of them containing words so shock-
ing and indecent that nobody thought it possible
that such words could even be known to “an in-
nocent young girl.”

Finally, at two o’clock one morning, the pri-
vacy of the virginal bed-chamber was invaded
by a man in deep disguise. He climbed in at the
window ; called out that he was bent on revenge;
tied and gagged the terrified girl; stabbed her
two or three times with a small knife; and bit
her right wrist. The governess came, in re-
sponse to the cries of Marie, and found her
lying on the floor in her chemise, a handkerchief
around her neck and a cord round her body. But
the man had gone; the governess did not see
him. Nobody saw him, except the persecuted
Mademoiselle de Morell. The glass from the
broken window-pane, where the man entered,
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had fallen outside, instead of in. Mademoiselle
told the governess that she thought she recog-
nized M. de la Ronciére. Later, she was sure
of it.

Marie was able to attend a dance two or three
nights later, and did not tell her mother of the
knife wounds for several weeks. Meanwhile her
distracted father, the general, received a letter
from the monster, in which he gloated over all
the injuries he had inflicted upon the poor child.
Some of them—so the letter said—were of a
kind which in many countries are punished by
death.

The anonymous messages continued; the
lieutenant was involved in a duel with another
officer ; and finally, owing to the almost univer-
sal opinion of his brother officers that he was the
letter-writer, was coerced into signing a partial
confession of guilt. He did this, believing the
evidence against him was so overwhelming that
it was his only hope of escape from a long sen-
tence.

His trial became an enormous political sen-
sation, which divided France into two camps,
and was notorious throughout Europe. A num-
ber of experts testified that the letters were not
in his handwriting, and that they were unmis-
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takably in the hand of Marie. Moreover, the
paper on which one of the letters was written
was conclusively shown to be of a peculiar kind,
matching exactly with some which the girl used.

All this availed nothing against her testi-
mony. By the time the trial came on she was
having periodical “attacks” of a nervous char-
acter, which occurred at certain precise times
each day. The only possible hour for her to tes-
tify was at midnight. So, with the same care
for dramatic effectiveness, and the same protec-
tion against cross-examination, which charac-
terized the appearance of the Pig-Woman at the
Hall-Mills trial, Marie entered the Court at a
special midnight session, and was conducted to
a large arm-chair. She absolutely identified
de la Ronciére as the man who came into her
room, and treated her so cruelly.

As a result, he was found guilty of “attempt-
ing to commit an outrage,” and of having wil-
fully wounded her. He was sent to prison for
ten years. He actually served eight. There was,
later, after his release, a legal investigation,
which seems to have been equal to a reversal of
the sentence. He was made a Commandant in
the National Guard, and afterwards held high
appointments, retiring with the Legion of
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Honor. Here was a belated official apology; a
resemblance to the Dreyfus case.

A few years after the trial, Marie married a
Marquis, and lived in sanctity: a good mother
and a gracious and bountiful lady. I wonder if
she was ever troubled by thoughts of M. de la
Ronciére; his eight years in prison and his dis-
graced father. Her patient malice is hard to ex-
plain or excuse altogether on the ground of ab-
normality, and, however shocking to psycholo-
gists the suggestion may be, it is conceivable
that, at the very beginning, the devils could have
been cast out by three sound spankings.






XXII1

A RATHER MYSTERIOUS CHAN-
CELLOR

At dusk, on a stormy December afternoon, a
gentleman of venerable appearance descended
into the lobby of the old City Hotel in New
York. He was strongly built, rather tall, and
dressed in black, with a tight-bodied coat in the
style affected by the Quakers. His hair was
powdered, and he carried a huge umbrella.

The old gentleman was an honored patron of
the hotel, and the hall-boy carefully brushed his
coat, before opening the door for his departure.
He walked out into the twilight, and vanished
from human sight.

One hundred and one years have elapsed since
Chancellor Lansing left the City Hotel, and to
this day nobody knows what happened to him.
Of all the mysterious disappearances, this alone
concerned a man really distinguished,—familiar
by name to the whole community, and by sight
to most of it.

John Lansing, then aged seventy-six, was as
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widely known to his day as Mr. Elihu Root or
Chief Justice Hughes to ours. As New York
was then a smaller town, he was probably more
quickly recognized on the street. He had served
in the Revolution, as military secretary to Gen-
eral Philip Schuyler ; had been elected again and
again to the Assembly, and had been Speaker.
He was once Mayor of Albany. With Alexan-
der Hamilton and Robert Yates, he went to the
Constitutional Convention at Philadelphia. His
course there was not his most useful service, for
then and thereafter he nearly kept New York
out of the Union. John Fiske calls Lansing and
Yates ‘“‘the two irreconcilables,” but a more
friendly view credits them with helping to se-
cure the first amendments to the Constitution,
known as the Bill of Rights.

Lansing was once nominated for Governor,
but declined to run. His most valuable work
was done in his twenty-four years as judge. He
occupied the posts of Chief Justice of the Su-
preme Court of New York, and Chancellor.*
He presided at the extraordinary trial of Levi
Weeks, for the murder of Miss Sands, in 1800.
For fifteen years he had been retired from pub-

*As Chancellor, he presided over the Court of Chancery. The
office was abolished in New York, I think, in 1848.
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lic office, and was living in his native city of Al-
bany.

The Chancellor came to New York the morn-
ing of Saturday, December 12, 1829, and stayed
at the City Hotel, on Broadway, not far from
Trinity Church. He had breakfast there, and
also dinner,—the latter meal probably at about
two in the afternoon. After dinner, he went to
his room, and wrote some letters.

It has sometimes been supposed that when he
left the hotel he was going to take the five-
o’clock boat back to Albany. This is improba-
ble, because he left his luggage in his room, and
also because he had an engagement for tea, at
six o’'clock, with Mr. Robert Ray, at 29 Mar-
ketfield Street, near the Battery. It is reason-
able to guess, however, that he may have in-
tended to go first to the boat, in order to mail
the letters he had been writing. At all events,
he was never seen at the boat, or at Mr. Ray’s
house.

If such an eminent man vanished to-day, we
can imagine what the newspapers would do
about it. There was the greatest concern and
excitement over the Chancellor’s disappearance,
but for more than two weeks the New York
papers utterly ignored the event. This may have
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been because local news was supposed to be
known by everyone, and therefore was not
worth printing; or it may have been for con-
siderations of good taste. At last, on Decem-
ber 29th, The Evening Post, The Spectator and
The Commercial Advertiser, alluded to the mys-
tery, in notices of about three lines in length.
This was done almost apologetically, and merely
to call attention to an inconspicuous advertise-
ment, offering the modest reward of $100 for
information concerning the missing man’s
whereabouts.

This is the advertisement, from The Evening
Post:

ONE HUNDRED DOLLARS REWARD.

& On Saturday morning, the 12th of December
inst. JOHN LANSING, Jun. of Albany, formerly
Chancellor of this state, arrived in this city and put
up at the City Hotel. He breakfasted and dined
there. Between 4 and 5 o’clock, he retired to his
room and wrote for a short time, and between that
time and six o'clock in the afternoon of the same day,
he was observed to leave his room, with his surtout
coat on, and with his umbrella. He has not been seen
or heard of since he left his room. He had an engage-
ment at the house of Mr. Robert Ray, No. 29 Market-
field street, fronting the battery, at six o'clock that
evening. It stormed very violently, and it is feared
that owing to the storm, he mistook his way and fell
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into the river at the foot of Marketfield st. This,
however, is merely an inference from the preceding
facts.

The Chancellor was a man of muscular frame,
about five feet nine inches in height, and about 76
years of age. He was dressed in black, and wore
powder in his hair. His surtout coat was made of a
dark mixed broadcloth. He wore an old fashioned
English gold watch, the outer case of which, how-
ever, had been lost—a large white cornelian seal was
attached to the chain or ribbon of the watch. He car-
ried in his pocket a large magnifying glass, which he
used in reading instead of spectacles. His name was
written in his hat and on his umbrella. His tight
bodied black coat was cut in the old fashioned style,
resembling the coats worn by the Quakers, except
that the collar was made in the style of coats that are
now generally worn.

He was in good health, and has never been known
to have been affected by any mental aberration. His
trunk and all his baggage were left in his room.

The efforts of his friends to recover his body, or
procure any precise information in relation to him,
having been unsuccessful, the above reward of ONE
HUNDRED DOLLARS will be paid to any one
who will find the person of Chancellor Lansing; and
a liberal compensation will be given for any informa-
tion which may throw light upon this melancholy
and mysterious transaction.

JACOB SUTHERLAND,
EDWARD LIVINGSTON.

New-York, December 28th, 1829.

N.B. Application for the above reward may be
made to either Robert Ray, Esq. of 29 Marketfield
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st.; John A. King, Esq. at Niblo’s, Broadway, or at
W. W. Chester’s, Esq. No. 79 White st.

This reward was unclaimed, and the Chancel-
lor, living or dead, remained undiscovered.

Now, there are two events which provoke
even more interest than a notorious murder.
One is the abduction of a child for ransom,—a
crime often more cruel than murder, and more
certain to cause public wrath. The other is the
unexplained disappearance of an adult person,
who has no apparent motive for flight or self-
destruction.

One reason for the perpetual interest in dis-
appearances, is that the possible causes are so
many: the field is open for such a variety of
guesses. There is abduction, murder, accident
or suicide. To some owlish people there is only
one explanation: a scandal. They nod their
heads with the profound wisdom of the Com-
plete Cynic.

“Oh, it’s perfectly well known what happened
to him—or her!”

If it is a man, there are difficulties about
money; if a woman, surely a shameful love af-
fair. The Complete Cynic is always in style,
but, since we all are permitted a surmise, I
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should like to offer a guess that some of the dis-
appearances are, on the part of the missing per-
son, quite innocent. The forcible abduction of
an adult person, who comes from the ordinary,
respectable class of society, is a very rare thing.
But disappearance due to an undetected mur-
der, or an unexplained accident is not an impos-
sibility. Nor, if the body of a missing person is
never found, is there proof that the police, or the
relatives, are concealing knowledge. Because
the bodies of suicides are usually discovered, and
the bodies of murdered persons are very hard to
conceal, it does not follow that concealment is
not occasionally successful.

“Oh, the police know who killed Mr. Elwelll”
say the wiseacres. Begging pardon of these
wiseacres—my unsupported assertion is pre-
cisely as good as theirs—the police do not know.
Why should they always know? Why shouldn’t
there be, once in a while, a crime too puzzling to
discover?

“Oh, the family know what happened to such-
a-one, who disappeared!” Again apologizing to
these owls, the family are sometimes as badly in
the dark as the rest of us. There are successful
murders, in which the body disappears. There
may easily be accidents or suicides in which the
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body is swept out to sea, and never discovered;
or if discovered, is unrecognized.

There was something of a panic in New York
in the winter of 1829-30, following the disap-
pearance of the old Chancellor, and some other
similar events, which were reported. The ter-
rible stories of Burke and Hare, the Edinburgh
murderers, had recently come across the ocean.
Doctors were supposed to be snatching not only
dead bodies from the grave, but living people
from the streets. One tale, which went about,
was that missing children had been found in
houses, “the haunts of the burkers,” seated in
chairs, their feet immersed in warm water, an
artery cut, and the poor creatures left slowly to
bleed to death.

Women and children were not allowed to go
out at night, even to walk a few steps to church,
without a male protector armed with a cudgel.
Mr. George Halsey remembered coming out
from an evening service with his father, and ob-
serving that his parent was only one of a num-
ber of men who carried big hickory clubs.

“I recollect,” wrote Mr. Halsey, “that the
coloured population were even more excited,
none of them then being so bold as to leave home
after dark. The other day I asked a venerable
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old Ethiopian, whom I have known from boy-
hood, when his aunt was a domestic in my
parents’ house in Liberty Street, whether he rec-
ollected the ‘burking’ affair; he answered, al-
most to the verge, apparently, of trembling, that
he did fully remember, and that the reminiscence
was painful.”

More than half a century after all attempts to
find Mr. Lansing had been given up, the curtain
was half raised, and then let fall again in an ex-
asperating fashion. The incident recalls one or
two books by English police officials, in which
the authors hint that they knew who Jack the
Ripper really was!

In the early 80’s, there were published the
memoirs of the journalist and politician, Thur-
low Weed. The author, Mr. Weed’s grandson,
says that his grandfather was the confidant for
many secrets, and that one day there came to
him “a gentleman of high position,” with some
documents. These papers proved, not only that
Chancellor Lansing had been murdered, but
showed the motives for the murder, described
the circumstances, and even named the guilty
person or persons.

This gentleman instructed Mr. Weed to make
all this known, when those who were implicated



286 INSTIGATION OF THE DEVIL

should be dead. They were “men who had lived
useful lives, and died with unblemished reputa-
tions.” In the year 1870, the conditions were
fulfilled, and it might have been possible to pub-
lish the information. Mr. Weed’s informant, as
well as the men implicated, had all passed from
the earth. The journalist, however, found that
the news would strike elsewhere, and do harm to
the innocent. The murderers, or the conspira-
tors, were beyond the law’s reach, but others,
immediately associated with them, and “sharing
the strong inducement which prompted the
crime” still survived. They “occupied high po-
sitions and enjoyed public confidence.” Any
stone thrown at their predecessors might bring
them down in ruin.

Mr. Weed, in great doubt, consulted two
friends, R. M. Blatchford and Hugh Maxwell.
They considered the question from all view-
points, and decided that if the original inform-
ant were alive he would change his mind. Mr.
Weed never spoke to anybody else of the mat-
ter. He survived these two friends, and with
him, in 1882, perished the secret of Chancellor
Lansing’s disappearance.

Was Mr. Weed contriving to darken the mys-
tery, or was he dropping some hints? There are
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possible clews in his story, as the astute Sher-
lockian has already perceived. What profits ac-
crued to the murderers of the judge? Some-
thing more, evidently, than the old watch, the
white cornelian, and the magnifying glass!
Something which could be transmitted to de-
scendants. Who followed the Chancellor as he
plodded down Broadway, under his big um-
brella? Had they tracked him all the way from
Albany, waiting for this opportunity ?

Did he take a carriage, which was already
waiting for him, or was he decoyed into a house?
The speculations are as interesting, now, as they
were in that long-past winter—and they have
exactly the same end.






XXI1V
THE DEATH OF GULIELMA SANDS

One of the curious facts about a celebrated
murder trial is that it may spring from an event
so innocent or so obscure. All the public ex-
citement ; the rally of great lawyers and judges,
may begin in surroundings as trifling and harm-
less as a children’s birthday party.

A gardener’s daughter goes to a rustic dance,
and, on her way home, across the fields, falls
into a pond, and is drowned. All the country,
all the highest legal officials of the land, for
years to come, are agitated over her fate, and a
century thereafter men are writing learned
bocoks about the cause célébre of Mary Ashford
and Abraham Thornton.

Two brothers-in-law go into a garden, on
July 4th, to amuse themselves at target practice.
One is accidentally shot, and a year later their
State rocks with excitement over the trial, for
murder, of the survivor,—‘“a Harvard profes-
sor.”

Some bandits kill a paymaster and another
man in a little New England town, and by an
unexpected succession of events, noted literary

389



Did Miss Sands and her lover, young Mr.
Weeks, leave the house together on a December
night more than a century ago? If it was proved
they did, there was no doubt what would happen
to Mr. Weeks. Did he really take the bells off
his brother’s sleigh, so that he might drive it
silently to a lonely spot in Lispenard’s Meadows,
—that dismal swamp on the outskirts of New
York? If so, he would surely climb the gallows,
in some public place, so that all the people could
observe, and benefit by the spectacle. I do not
think that they had begun to have hangings in
Washington Square at that time,—it was too
far uptown, too remote and rurai to be con-
venient for the citizens.

It was a Sunday night, three days before
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Christmas, and the year was 1799. New York
had probably heard the news of Washington’s
death, which had occurred a week earlier, at
Mount Vernon. The city was to have, on the
last day of the year, a great funeral procession,
led by the commanding general of the army,
Alexander Hamilton. Yet New York, which
stretched from the Battery almost up to the
ditch which is now Canal Street, was not too
large to get thoroughly excited about the disap-
pearance of a very pretty girl, named Gulielma
Sands.

She was twenty-two years old, and although
not herself one of the Friends, lived with her
Quaker cousins, Elias and Catherine Ring, in
Greenwich Street, near Franklin. You may like
to stand in that thoroughfare, under the shadow
of the Elevated Railroad, and wonder where, in
that neighborhood, now so depressing, their
pleasant cottage could have been situated.

The boarders at the Rings included a young
carpenter, Levi Weeks, and his apprentice; two
youths named Russel and Lacey; Hope Sands,
the sister of Mrs. Ring; and others. Weeks had
been paying particular attention to Miss Sands;
to Gulielma—or Elma, as, for the sake of brev-
ity, they called her. In fact, his courtship had
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given a household of active snoopers, listeners
and eavesdroppers the time of their lives. Some-
body, as was afterwards testified by the per-
sons themselves, was forever taking off his or
her boots, and pussy-footing up-stairs to apply
an ear at a keyhole.

When, therefore, on the Sunday afternoon,
Elma told Hope Sands and Mrs. Ring that she
was going out with Levi Weeks that evening,
for the purpose of getting married, neither of
the ladies cautioned them about haste, or advised
them to think it over. The lovers were generally
thought to have been rather deliberate.

At eight o’clock—it was a cold night, with
snow on the ground—Mrs. Ring had heard
Elma come in, and now she heard her go out
again. She had heard Weeks in the house, and
thought she heard the two whispering together
on the stairs. She thought that the young man
went out with Elma, but she did not know. She
did not see them together. All that she could say
was that Weeks did come in about ten o’clock,
pale and agitated, and asked for Hope and for
Elma.

Neither was in. At breakfast, next morning,
Elma was still absent, and although this was
not unprecedented, the family began to inquire.
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A day or two later, a boy wandering near an un-
used well in Lispenard’s Meadows, found a
woman’s muff. He took it home, but did noth-
ing more. The funeral procession of the great
ex-President occupied everybody’s interest un-
til New Year’s.

On January 2nd, somebody looked down this
Manhattan Well, as it was called, and discov-
ered the body of Elma Sands. The well had been
recently dug, but was covered and curbed. It
was in a spot so lonely that tales about spirits
and ghostly fires, hovering over the well-curb,
soon had a wide acceptance.

If, like me, you are sufficiently curious about
old murders, you may stand near the brink of
that well, by going into a dirty little alley, near
Number 89 Greene Street. The hole in the con-
crete pavement may not be the actual site of the
well, but it is near it. And it is a fine exercise
for your imagination to try to see this region as
a deserted morass; an open field, where, in sum-
mer, the cows grazed all day long, and, at night-
fall, took up their slow march, to the melancholy
clanking of cow-bells, down that pleasant coun-
try lane called Broadway.

The trial of Levi Weeks, for murder, was
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held in the old City Hall, corner of Wall
and Nassau Streets, where the Sub-Treasury
stands. The Chief Justice, John Lansing, was
on the Bench, assisted by Mayor Varick and the
Recorder. The People were represented by an
Assistant Attorney General, but even his re-
doubtable name, Cadwallader Colden, must have
been hardly enough to sustain him against the
heavy guns trained on him by the defense.

The brother of Levi Weeks was wealthy, and
the prisoner was able to come into Court with
the most distinguished array of counsel ever
seen in a murder case. One was Brockholst
Livingstone, but the other two were the politi-
cal rivals: Alexander Hamilton and Aaron
Burr. Hamilton had already been Secretary of
the Treasury, and Burr, within a year, was nar-
rowly to miss the Presidency, and to become
Vice-President instead.

The session began on a Monday morning and,
in the custom of that period, continued until
half-past one on Tuesday morning. The Chief
Justice was for going on, but the jurors com-
plained that they could not keep awake. There
was a recess until ten on Tuesday morning,
when the second and final session began and
lasted until half-past two on Wednesday morn-
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ing. Seventy-five witnesses had been examined,
and the prosecuting attorney said that he had
been without “repose” for forty-four hours, and
that he was “sinking” under the fatigue. By
mutual consent, closing addresses of counsel
were omitted, and after a brief charge, the jury
were given the case.

There are, in our records, few trials so dra-
matic. The eighteenth-century atmosphere, pres-
ent in the ceremonious conduct of judge and
counsel; and present also in the unruly behavior
of the crowd, who wandered about and pressed
close to the bar; the dark Court, lighted here
and there by candles; the handsome and distin-
guished faces of the two statesmen; and the
troop of witnesses—some of them Quakers and
some of them young rascals of the town—all
these made the Weeks trial a strange event in
our legal history.

The case against the prisoner was rather fee-
ble. On that evening, nobody had seen him out-
side the house with the girl. About all that could
be said was that she was cheerful and seemed in
no mood for suicide. A woman’s cries for help
were heard coming from the vicinity of the
well. A woman with two men in a sleigh, a
sleigh without bells, was seen going toward Lis-
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penard’s. And Susanna Broad, “an aged and
very infirm woman,” testified that she heard a
sleigh, without bells, come out of Levi’s broth-
er’s yard about eight that night.

Prisoner’s counsel, however, in cross-exami-
nation made Susanna’s infirmities of mind quite
apparent to the jury; she acknowledged that the
incident might have happened a week before, or
a week after Christmas. And one Demas Meed,
who took care of that horse and sleigh, testified
that there was no indication that they were out
that night. The medical testimony was contra-
dictory; some of the doctors thinking that the
bruises on the body were not wounds, inflicted
by another, but merely incidents of the girl’s
fall into the well. The famous Doctor Hosack,
who testified for the State, only saw the body as
it lay, strangely enough, exposed to public view
for a whole day in the street.

The judge charged strongly in the prisoner’s
favor, and the jury acquitted him in four min-
utes. Public opinion was hostile, nevertheless,
and he had to vanish from the city.

One of the oddest incidents in the trial was
the appearance of a witness who gave testimony
rather prejudicial to Weeks, and was accused
of personal enmity. He admitted a quarrel with
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the prisoner about Elma; and it was alleged, by
other witnesses, that he had been active in stir-
ring up hostility to Weeks; that he had himself
been near the well on the night of the murder;
and that he had published handbills, directed
against the prisoner, and describing ghostly fig-
ures which were to be seen around the well. This
man, who flits in and out of the record of the
trial, now as a witness, and now as a spectator,
but always as a suspicious and malevolent fig~
ure, had the astonishingly apt name of Croucher.

Finally, one William Dustan testified: “Last
Friday morning, a man, I don’t know his name,
came into my store——"

Then occurs this note in the report: Here one
of the prisoner’s counsel held a candle close to
Croucher’s face, who stood among the crowd,
and asked the witness if it were he, and he said
it was.

This is probably the foundation of a story
which has been related in the biographies of
both Burr and Hamilton. James Parton, in his
life of Burr, tells the story as he got it on the
authority of a friend of Burr, who had heard
the latter relate it. It was that the candles were
used by the lawyer to throw a sudden light on
the face of Croucher. As the evil-looking man
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drew back in great alarm, Burr exclaimed:

“Gentlemen, behold the murderer {”’

This, according to Burr, influenced the jury
to acquit the prisoner. It is perfectly reasonable
to suppose that Burr did tell such a story, but
the event may have happened in another trial,
and have become confused in his mind, in his
old age, with the simpler and less dramatic in-
cident in the Weeks trial.

Henry Cabot Lodge, in his life of Hamilton,
tells the story, names Croucher, but attributes
the candle incident to Hamilton. This was on
the authority of Hamilton’s son. He merely
places the candles where they will throw a
strong light on Croucher’s face, during cross-
examination, and bids the jury mark “every
muscle of his face, every motion of his eye.”
Croucher breaks down in his testimony, and the
prisoner is saved.

Later historians have rejected both stories,
relying on the less striking incident which hap-
pened while William Dustan was testifying.
This comes from the report of the trial pub-
lished by William Coleman, who was present in
Court. (Coleman was to become, the following
year, first editor of the New York Evening
Post).
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Senator Lodge finally recanted, and also at-
tacked Parton for using the story. But it is
apparent that Parton’s authority was good,
coming at second hand from Burr himself.
And, as I said, the incident may have happened
in some trial. That the candle incident, in the
Weeks trial, was trifling, as Senator Lodge con-
cluded, is not altogether certain, merely because
it is dismissed in few words in Coleman’s brief
report.

Richard David Croucher was a sufficiently
sinister character to figure in such an incident.
He was an Englishman, who had been in Amer-
ica only about a year. He lived at the Rings’,
and about the time of the Weeks trial commit-
ted an offence which brought him before a crim-
inal court. Margaret Miller, a young girl,
charged him with rape, and in July, 1800, he
was convicted and sentenced to prison for life.

Senator Lodge writes that he was afterwards
pardoned and went to Virginia. Here he com-
mitted a fraud, and fled to England, where he
“is said to have been executed for a heinous
crime.”

Legends sprang up from the Weeks trial, and
an atmosphere of doom surrounded its partici-
pants. The Chief Justice, John Lansing, was
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the victim of a mysterious fate, described else-
where in this book.

It was only four years after the trial that
Aaron Burr killed Hamilton in their duel.
When this occurred, people are said to have re-
called a remark made in Court by the Quaker-
ess, Catherine Ring, as she heard the verdict of
acquittal. In her opinion, the betrayer and mur-
derer of her poor young cousin was escaping
all punishment.

Turning to his chief counsel, Alexander
Hamilton, she said, with great solemnity:

“If thee dies a natural death, I shall think
there is no justice in Heaven!”



XXV

THE CRIME IN THE SUNDAY
SCHOOL

Murder, that ravening wolf, has intruded his
gaunt and savage form into some odd places.
But never into one so utterly incongruous as the
Sabbath School of the Warren Avenue Baptist
Church of Boston, on a Sunday afternoon in
May, 1875.

Here were certainly gathered an innocent
flock of sheep and ewe-lambs. Not one had the
faintest idea that the Enemy was in the fold,
wearing the traditional disguise of sheep’s cloth-
ing, and modulating his snarls to a pious bleat.

The day was warm and pleasant. Sunday
School was over: it had lasted from half-past
two till half-past three. The pastor of the
Church, felicitously named the Reverend Doc-
tor Pentecost, had been acting as Superinten-
dent of the school,—possibly to keep watch and
ward over teachers and pupils, and prevent any
secession. In this congregation there had been
some tendency to stray off for worship at an-
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other church, to which their former pastor had

gone.

Doctor Pentecost closed the exercises, and
dismissed the school. He spent five or ten min-
utes talking with this one and that, and then de-
parted to make a call upon one of his ailino
parishioners.

The others, children and grown-ups—for
there were a few adult pupils in the school—
streamed through the Church, to the Sunday
School library, or to the vestry, into the vesti-
bule, and thence to the side-walk and street.
They were chatting together in little groups:
the usual innocuous talk of those who have
ended their formal devotions for the day. For
most of them this was the only time in the week
for the mild pleasure of social conversation.

There were Eddie Jordan and the Roundy
boys, George Barker, the little Wiggin boy, the
two Mayhew children, Jennie Knight, Callie
Smith, Flora Leland, Charles Haven, Forrest
Goodwin, Freddie Jacobs with his brother and
sister, and little Winnie Tufts. There were
many more, besides, but afterwards nobody
could say how many had been at Sunday School.
Probably sixty to a hundred, and some of them
must be living to-day.
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There were also the officers and teachers:
Miss Rosamund Pentecost, the minister’s sis-
ter; Miss Forristall and Miss Root and Miss
Silena Hinman; and there were William Oster-
halt and Miss Hannah Dwyer and Philander ]J.
Forristall. There were also Mr. Dufheld and
Mr. Haskell, Mrs. Wiggin and Miss Hattie
Morrison, all teachers; and there was Deacon
Norris, who came over every Sunday from
Charlestown and stayed around the Church all
day long. It was no day of rest for the Deacon,
for there were evening services to follow.

Also, there was Mr. Walter Sawyer, the
assistant librarian of the Sunday School, busy
in getting the Bibles picked up, and afterwards
in giving out books to the applicants.

Mark Twain, in one of his stories, is scorn-
ful about the librarian of a Sunday School, as
a self-important busybody, full of splutter and
fuss. But Mr. Sawyer, in a few minutes, was to
show that he possessed resolution and a right
arm which was strong indeed for one who was,
after all, only an assistant librarian.

All of these folk, as they walked decorously
out under the trees, were dressed in the bizarre
styles of the 1870’s: the gentlemen inclining to
beards, side whiskers, and low-crowned derby
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hats; the ladies to enormous skirts, basques and
bustles; and the children to sundry archaic ab-
surdities.

These costumes, so we may suppose, typified
Victorian prudery, the intense bigotry of the
Old Black Walnut Era, when people asked for
a slice off the “bosom” of a chicken, and carried
about with them a supply of conversational fig-
leaves, with which to drape speech and thought.
We may believe that, if we like, for it is a com-
forting creed, accompanied with the assump-
tion that we of to-day are noble, broad-minded,
and free from superstitions and taboo.

However we regard these artless people,
standing in the sunlight of that far-away sum-
mer afternoon, whether we look upon them in
mockery, or with sympathetic amusement, a
few of them appear in such a tragic plight that
nobody can see them without horror and pity.

One of these is a little girl, named Mabel
Young. She was less than six years old, and
I fancy that the picture of Alice in Wonder-
land, receiving the thimble from the Dodo, may
look like her. This idea arose partly from a
crude picture of Mabel which I have seen, and
partly from the fact that she wore a round
comb, of the kind which we associate with Alice.
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It is a mistake to do so, for in the first of the
Alice books she wears no comb nor other fast-
ening on her hair, while in the second, she uses
a ribbon. Yet the general costume of Lewis
Carroll’s heroine, and the little girl in the Bos-
ton Sunday School, were similar.

Mabel Young had come to the Church that
afternoon with her aunt, Miss Augusta Hobbs.
During the hour of the school, she sat in Mrs.
Roundy’s class, and afterwards went with her
aunt to get a book. Mrs. Roundy said that no
books were to be given to the younger children
that day, but that an exception could be made
for little Mabel. So Miss Hobbs gave her niece
a book called “Apples of Gold.” I think we can
imagine its appearance and character.

The child took the book, went into the vesti-
bule, and vanished from sight. Miss Hobbs re-
mained at the bookcase, defending it from an
onslaught by two or three small boys; perhaps
weakening a little, when the eye of Mrs. Roundy
was not upon her, and granting their demands
for books. Other people came into the room,
and the lady talked with them for a few min-
utes, before going after her charge.

Mabel was not in the vestibule, and her aunt
ran into the street and asked some ladies if they
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had seen her. Not learning anything, she went
back into the Church, into what was called “the
audience room,” and called out the child’s name.
Others of the grown-up people, and some of
the children, became interested, and began to
hunt for the little girl throughout the building,
and adjacent grounds. Miss Hobbs and Mrs.
Roundy hurried to the home of the latter, to see
if Mabel had already gone there. She was a
timid child, and it was unlikely that she would
go anywhere alone.

There were dozens of witnesses to the events
of the next fifteen minutes, and it is possible to
learn the story from twenty different angles.
Miss Hattie Morrison, one of the teachers, went
upstairs, to the library, called out, and listened,
to hear any foot-steps or cries {from the lost
child. Everything was silent. Then she de-
scended, went outdoors, and was crossing the
strect when she noticed a great fluttering and
commotion among the pigeons who usually
lived at peace in the belfry of the church. As
she stood looking at them, she heard, from the
belfry, a shriek of distress. This was repeated,
and Miss Morrison ran back into the church to
spread the alarm.

Others were already bringing the news: peo-
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ple who lived across the street had noticed the
excited pigeons, flying in and out, and they had
also heard cries from the top of the bell tower.

Two or three of these persons went, in the
course of the next few moments, to the man
who was responsible for the care of the church:
the sexton. This official did not prove very
helpful. e said that it was quite impossible
for anyone to be in the belfry. The doors lead-
ing to it were locked, and neither he nor any-
body else had been up there for months. Where
were the keys? He said he had no keys, and if
there had been any keys, he had lost them, and
did not know whcre they were.

Other neighbors were arriving all the time,
passersby were entering the church, and small
crowds were gathering outside and in. Groups
of people stopped on the side-walk, watched the
pigeons, and listened to the occasional faint
screams from the tower.

Meanwhile the sturdy librarian, Mr. Sawyer,
finding the sexton indisposed to help, and dis-
covering that the door leading to the tower was
securely locked, took off his coat, and with the
aid of a pair of pincers, tore off the lock or bar,
and opened the door. Followed by one other
man, and at some distance and with much hesi-
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tation by the sexton, he rushed up a long, steep
stairway to the first deck of the tower. Above
that was another long, ladder-like stair, and
above that was a closed and heavy scuttle, open-
ing to the upper deck. This he raised, and from
among the nests of the pigeons, lifted the body
of the little girl.

Her head had been terribly injured by a num-
ber of blows. The little Sunday School book
was still in her hand. Her eyes were open, but
she was unconscious, although she continued to
scream at intervals. Her skull was so fractured
that no operation was possible; she lived for
twenty-four hours at the house to which she
was removed. Then, without recovering con-
sciousness, she died.

The police found a blood-stain on the lower
deck of the belfry, and also, under a loose board,
found a blood-stained cricket-bat with which
the murder had been done. This bat had been
seen, earlier the same day, in the Sunday School
rooms below. The murderer had enticed, or
carried, the child to the first deck of the tower,
and there killed her. He had then raised the

scuttle-door and thrown her body to the upper
deck, hoping that it would remain hidden there
until night, at least, when perhaps it might have
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been buried in the cellar of the Church. The
fright of the pigeons, and the cries of the child,
who, to his dismay, still lived, defeated his
plans.

The police held an unfavorable opinion of
the sexton, and took him in charge that after-
noon. He was a native of Nova Scotia, and
about twenty-six years old. His name was
Thomas W. Piper. He was arrested for a va-
riety of reasons; one of them being the fact that
he had, about a year before, been charged with
the murder of a girl. On this earlier occasion,
lack of evidence caused his release.

During the first twenty minutes after the
vanishing of Mabel Young, he was absent, and
unable to show where he had been. Then he ap-
peared and began noisily to slam some of the
chairs, as he folded them up, as if to attract at-
tention to himself. He was, moreover, caught
in a number of lies. For example, when he was
searched at the police station, the “lost” keys to
the tower were found in his pocket.

One or two witnesses testified that they had
seen a man, that afternoon, leap from the low-
est window of the tower to the ground,—a dis-
tance of about twelve feet. The theory was that
as Piper came down the tower stairs, he heard
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Miss Hobbs calling for the child. He feared to
descend openly from the tower, and therefore
jumped to the ground below, ran around the
church on the outside, and appeared with a
show of innocence in some room where he had
lawful occasion.

He was tried twice. At both trials, the prose-
cution was led by the Attorney General, Charles
R. Train, whose son is Arthur Train. The jury
at the first trial were unable to agree. At the
second, they deliberated an hour and forty-five
minutes, and found the prisoner guilty as
charged. He was hanged in May, almost ex-
actly a year after the crime.

As the conviction was obtained chiefly on
circumstantial evidence, it is satisfactory to be
able to report that no mistake was made. Only
a day or two after his arrest he made statements
to Doctor Pentecost, which were in the nature
of admission of guilt. Then he denied his guilt
at the trial, and let his counsel suggest that some
unidentified boys had caused the death of Mabel
Young. Another theory of the defense was that
the little girl had wandered up there by herself,
raised the trap-door, which a man could barely
lift, and had been killed when it fell upon her.
To whom the learned counsel attributed the
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blood-stained cricket-bat, I do not know. Per-
haps to Mrs. Roundy.

After all legal recourse had failed him, Piper
made a detailed confession to his counsel, and
later put it in writing. In it, he confessed the
murder of Mabel Young, and also of Bridget
Landregan, of which he had been accused. He
also confessed a murderous assault upon one
Mary Tynan,—who became a lunatic as the re-
sult of his attack upon her, with his favorite
weapon, a club.

He was not insane; he was undoubtedly ab-
normal. It requires a very soft heart, and a
rather soft head, to allow one to weep for the
fate of Thomas Piper. Until a way is found to
keep such persons {rom being born at all, so-
ciety will wish for some effective protection
from human wolves. Life imprisonment may
afford that protection—but not until life im-
prisonment means prison for life.






XXVI
MR. SPOONER’S IN THE WELL

There was much that was shocking, but lit-
tle that was new in the murder of Mr. Snyder
of Long Island by Mrs. Snyder and Mr. Gray.
The destruction of a middle-aged husband by a
younger wife, cheered on by the prospect of
financial gain, and aided by a lover of her own
age, had in it few elements of originality. The
murder had three or four striking points of sim-
ilarity with one which scandalized Massachu-
setts, and the other American colonies, as long
ago as the early years of the Revolution.

In 1778 the country was full of wandering
soldiers. Burgoyne’s recently captured army
was at Cambridge; many New Englanders who
had served in the early campaigns were return-
ing home. At Brookfield, near Worcester,
Mass., lived Bathsheba Spooner, and her rather
insignificant husband, Joshua. Mrs. Spooner
was a woman of striking beauty; thirty-two
years old; rather arrogant in manner,—or, if
you prefer, with a sense of her own dignity and
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social position. For she had that position by
birth, though it had not been enhanced by her
marriage to Mr. Spooner.

Her father was one of the most distinguished
men of the Colony,—Timothy Ruggles, a grad-
uate of Harvard, Chief Justice of the Court of
Common Pleas, and a brigadier general under
Lord Jeffrey Amherst, when that commander
was proceeding against the French and the In-
dians, as they sing at Ambherst College even to-
day.

General Ruggles was wealthy; he lived in a
style fairly baronial, preserving deer and keep-~
ing a pack of hounds; he was a good citizen and
an honest public official. Willing to serve his
own and the other colonies up to the point of
rebelling against the King, he was not willing
to proceed as far as that. Consequently, with
many other Americans, he was considered, in
1778, a traitor to his country. He had gone into
exile in Canada; his estates were confiscated.

Whether twelve years of married life with
Joshua Spooner, her residence in the small town
of Brookfield, and her father’s misfortunes, had
caused Mrs. Spooner to become demented is a
questioned point. When her story was dis-
cussed, some years ago, before the American
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Antiquarian Society, a venerable colleague of
mine, a librarian, arose to defend her memory.
Claiming her as a distant relative, he said that
she was undoubtedly insane. His reasons were
that her own family had always said that she
must have been crazy; and that she was guilty
of the double offence of murder and of an amo-
rous intrigue with a young man.

These things may be strong proofs of in-
sanity when the subject is a relative, but of
themselves, they are hardly convincing. That a
perfectly sane woman may plot and commit a
brutal murder, and fail to take the most ordi-
nary precautions to conceal the crime, has been
proven in recent years in the case of Mrs.
Snyder. And Bathsheba Spooner is a pitiable
figure, without the nced of any argument as to
her sanity.

The other person in the triangle was Ezra
Ross, eighteen years old. He was an American
soldier, returning from the war,—probably
from the campaign against Burgoyne. He
seems to have returned toward his home and
his “respectable parents” in Ipswich, and to
have fallen sick in the hospitable care of the
Spooners. They treated him with great kind-
ness; Mr. Spooner liked the youth, and after his
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recovery made trips with him to various places
in the vicinity. And long years afterwards there
was an old gentleman of the town who remem-
bered seeing young Ross and the handsome
Bathsheba riding on horseback together. They
made a fine pair, said he, for Ross was also
good-looking.

Quite in the manner of the notorious lovers
of Long Island, they discussed, during their
rides, the best methods for removing Joshua
from the picture. Poison and other fancies were
entertained. At last, Mr. Spooner and Ezra
Ross went away on a trip to a neighboring town.
They were gone for a week or two, and the
young soldier had taken with him, in his pocket,
a small vial of poison,—just for luck, and in
case anything should turn up.

Nothing happened to either of them, but at
home in Brookfield a more resolute spirit was
at work., Possibly because she shared her fa-
ther’s political opinions, and thought more
highly of the resolution and efficiency of the sol-
diers of the King than of the colonial troops,
Mrs. Spooner posted one of her servants on the
highway, with orders to bring in the first pair
of British soldiers who came that way. In this
method she easily enlisted Sergeant James Bu-
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chanan, a Scottish veteran, about thirty years
old; and Private William Brooks, an English-
man, three years younger. The affair had now
assumed a somewhat international flavor.

The soldiers understood that they were in-
vited to breakfast, and made no difficulty about
accepting. To their surprise, the meal was not
served in the kitchen, but in the dining-room,
where the lady herself ate with them. For a
week or two thereafter they were about the
place, well provisioned, and, as one of them
said, ‘‘very merry.”

Mr. Spooner returned and was as much an-
noyed to find them, as was Sam Weller when he
saw Mr. Stiggins enjoying buttered toast and
pineapple rum at the Weller fireside. Sergeant
Buchanan and Private Brooks sat around the
Spooner hearth, drinking mugs of flip, rum
noggin, and other decoctions whose names make
life in the eighteenth century seem so pleasant
and desirable. It was late in February; snow
was on the ground, and the fireside of the
Spooners was much to be preferred to the cold
highway and the dismal road to Canada. More-
over the beautiful lady had told them what an
annoying person her husband was; and what
rewards in cash would be theirs if they could
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but see their way toward obliging her in a little
matter,—one which could not be difficult for
soldiers, so big and strong and brave.

On the morning of March 2, one of Mr.
Spooner’s servants came into Cooley’s Tavern
in Brookfield, and anounced that nobody could
find Mr. Spooner. This seemed—to the people
in the tavern—rather strange. The missing
gentleman had been at the tavern the evening
before, and had started for his home, half a
mile distant, at an early hour. Although he
lived at a time when strong drink was uncurbed
in the land, he had gone home in a condition of
far greater sobriety than that which attended
the unfortunate Mr. Snyder, who lived under
the full blessings of Prohibition. Yet at the
Spooner house, they simply could not lay their
hands on Mr. Spooner.

The neighbors came to the place in a body,
and although Mrs. Spooner was in a state of
great distress, it soon struck everyone that the
previous search had been made in a manner
closely approaching gross and culpable negli-
gence. The snow was much trampled in the
yard; there were blood-stains upon it in more
than one place; and there was more blood on
the wellcurb. In the well, as anyone might see,
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unless he were afflicted with myopia in its very
worst form, was the battered corpse of Mr.
Spooner.

The body was brought into the house, where
an inquest was held. Except for a small daugh-
ter, no member of the dead man’s family would
go near him. Finally, and at the request of the
doctor, Mrs. Spooner drew near, put her hand
on her husband’s forehead and said, “Poor little
man!” Why the doctor asked her to touch the
body is not clear, unless it was an attempt to
submit her to the “ordeal of touch,” to see if
the murdered man’s wounds would bleed again
under the hands of his assassin. This supersti-
tion has been trusted more recently than 1778;
but not usually by physicians. However, per-
haps the doctor had another and a psychological
motive for his request.

The coroner’s jury and the neighbors took
a highly unfavorable view of Mrs. Spooner’s
conduct. This was not improved when Bu-
chanan and Brooks were found, a little over-
taken by drink, in Worcester, and displaying
articles of clothing which seemed familiar to
the persons who had known Mr. Spooner.
Brooks had a pair of silver shoe-buckles with
the initials J. S. on them, and nobody recalled
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that anything of the kind was issued to
in His Majesty’s forces.

The murder, and the arrest of Mrs. Spooner,
Ross, and the two British soldiers caused a
great and painful sensation. The prisoners had
an eminent lawyer to defend them, but, in view
of the confessions of all, there was little which
he could do except raise the question of sanity
and deal in technicalities. As in the Snyder
case, the plot had been ruthlessly formed, with
a childish disregard for any reasonable at-
tempts at concealment. Shortly after the mur-
der was discovered, all the participants broke
down and made either confessions or damaging
admissions,

Testimony of the gravest character was pro-
duced as to the conduct of Mrs. Spooner before
and after the crime. One Obadiah Rice testified
that he had heard her say that she “wished Old
Bogus was in Heaven.” There seems to have
been no attempt by the defense to prove that
Old Bogus was really an ailing cart-horse, nor
anybody but the master of the house.

Another man, who lived at the Spooners’, but
was conveniently asleep during the crucial two
hours which followed Spooner’s return from
the tavern, swore that later in the night he rose
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and went to the kitchen. Bathsheba and her
three partners were merrily burning some
clothes; other garments were being distributed
among the men. Ezra Ross put on the late Mr.
Spooner’s jacket and breeches. Buchanan al-
ready had on one of Mr. Spooner’s shirts; Pri-
vate Brooks drew a shirt and a handkerchief,
in addition to the silver buckles. There was
much talk of a money reward; $1,000 had been
promised, but only about $450 was paid. -

Mr. Lincoln, for the prisoners, made a plausi-
ble argument to show that Mrs. Spooner was
insane, but the jury found them all guilty. The
trial lasted sixteen hours, and Mrs. Spooner was
perfectly composed throughout. The detailed
confession of the two soldiers involved in the
plot a number of the Spooners’ servants, but
only the three men were in the actual murder.
They had been stalking Mr. Spooner for two
weeks, but on the final night Brooks knocked
him down with his fist, as he entered his house.
Then Brooks “partly strangled” him. They
robbed the body, and afterwards all three put
him into the well, head-first. On going back to
the house, they found Mrs. Spooner “vastly con-
fused”” but able to go upstairs, bring down the
strong-box and pay them the price of blood.
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The four were condemned to die in June, The

parents of Ross made a pathetic petition to the
Council, as for a youth “seduced from virtue
and prudence by a lewd and artful woman.” A
respite was granted for one month for the men
that they might have further time to prepare
themselves, spiritually, for death. Mrs. Spooner
made the request for another reason: that she
was several months advanced in pregnancy with
a lawfully begotten child.

The latter request led to the issuance of a
document rare but far from unknown in crimi-
nal law—a writ de ventre inspiciendo. It having
been represented by Bathsheba Spooner that she
was “quick with child,” the Sheriff of Worces-
ter was commanded to assemble “two men mid-
wives, and twelve discreet and lawful matrons”
of the County, and after due investigation to
report upon the truth of the prisoner’s assertion.

The jury of matrons and the other experts
made due return on this writ, on June 11th, and
gave as their verdict that Bathsheba’s statement
was not correct. Sixteen days later another
document was addressed to the Council, and
signed by the two “men midwives” and Hannah
Mower, not on the original jury, but herself a
“woman midwife.” This reversed the opinion,
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and agreed that Mrs. Spooner was “now quick
with child.” On the same date, however, Eliza-
beth Rice, one of the original matrons, and a
new-comer, one Molly Tattman, after investi-
gation at the prisoner’s request, confirmed the
opinion of the jury, and found against Mrs.
Spooner. In view of this contradiction of au-
thorities, and probably also because of recollec-
tion of this plea as a favorite device of female
convicts from the earliest times, nothing further
was done in the matter. The plea is still being
made, however, not only in fact, but on the
stage,—when Roxy Hart, the heroine of Miss
Maurine Watkins’ play ‘“‘Chicago,” adopted
similar tactics.

A false account of the execution represents
it as taking place in Boston, and declares that
Mrs. Spooner was hanged “in white satin.”
This, or at any rate the Boston part of it, is
untrue. The scene was Worcester, and the exe-
cution was in public, and in the presence of
thousands. The three men went to the gallows
on foot; Mrs. Spooner was carried in a chaise.
A terrific thunderstorm burst shortly before
they reached the place, and produced, says the
historian, “a dreadful scene of horror.”

Mrs. Spooner bowed pleasantly to many of
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her friends, as she sat in the chaise. When her
companions were prepared for execution, she
smiled gently, stepped out of the carriage, and
“crept up the ladder on her hands and knees.”

At an autopsy, which was performed that
night, the fact was discovered that she had been
right, and that the jury of matrons were wrong
in their statement about her condition. This
produced a terrible revulsion of feeling, and
much condemnation of the authorities in that
they had not granted a further respite. The
crime and its expiation seem to belong neither
to the eighteenth nor to the twentieth century,
but to some ruthless tragedy of the Elizabethan
theatre.



XXVII
RULES FOR MURDERESSES

“A woman with fair opportunities,” said
Thackeray, “and without an absolute hump,
may marry whom she likes.”

That is an understatement. A woman’s privi-
leges are even greater—for if she will observe
a few restrictions she may murder whom she
likes. It is three to one that she will go scot-
free. If she is treated with severity it is because
she has disregarded one of the obvious rules.

I have been looking over the histories of about
thirty more or less charming ladies who have
chafed under the suspicion of having removed
some person or persons from the earth by vio-
lent means. They are the more remarkable of
the sisterhood and range in time from Miss
Mary Blandy, who fell foul of the law more
than a century and a half ago, down to Mrs.
Le Beeuf of Louisiana, whose name figured
grimly in the newspapers in 1929.

The women who appear in my survey have
dotted the earth from the rainy Scottish moors,
where Katherine Nairn made her home, to the

azs
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burning plains of the Punjab, where flourished
Mrs. Fullam of Agra and Meerut.

Augusta Fullam, although little known to
fame in America, was one of the most extraor-
dinary of all time. It was she who penned that
Napoleonic sentence, admirable alike for terse-
ness and decision:

“So the only thing is to poison the soup.”

Eight of the thirty women—three of whom
lived more than a century ago—actually paid
the law’s highest price. These eight, who per-
ished at the hands of the executioner, chosen as
they are from the records of one hundred and
seventy years, are women who disregarded one
of the great rules for murderesses. And this
brings me back to my remark at the beginning:
that the wise murderess will take care to observe
a few simple restrictions. She overrides these
at her peril. Briefly, the regulations are as fol-
lows:

1. If you decide to murder your husband you
must never act in concert with a lover.

In comment upon this rule it must be added
that a lover should appear nowhere in the rec-
ord; not a sign, not a suspicion, not even a shoe
lace of his. The careful murderess of her hus-
band removes him, unaided, and then proceeds,
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helped by a clever lawyer, to blacken the dead
man’s character. This is always successful, and
very popular : she usually becomes a heroine.

All women who find their husbands annoying
—and it is astonishing how many there are of
these—make her cause their own. By the time
the trial is over, people are wondering how so
wicked a man as the dead husband was allowed,
by Heaven, to live as long as he did.

2. [Itisinaduvisable for a maidservant to mur-
der her mistress under circumstances of extreme
barbarity.

Kate Webster, about fifty years ago, in Eng-
land, killed her mistress for the purpose of rob-
bery. Webster was a big, muscular and rather
savage-looking woman; her employer, Mrs.
Thomas, was small and frail and alone in the
house. Webster was heard by the neighbors
pounding and chopping, and was afterward
known to be boiling something in the copper
wash boiler.

A day later she was making calls on her
friends and joining them at tea, carrying with
her a small black bag. When still later the dis-
appearance of Mrs. Thomas and the flight of
Webster began to be investigated the black bag
was found and its contents examined. There-
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after, throughout Great Britain, Kate Webster
was regarded with considerable distaste, and
this never ceased nor diminished until the sen-
tence of the law was executed.

Webster blundered at every opportunity. She
made the mistake of operating in England, in-
stead of America, and of limiting her murders
to one. As I hope to show, by further exam-
ples, a woman’s immunity from severe punish-
ment increases according to the number of per-
sons she murders.

3. Even in the murder of a father or mother
the astute murderess will take care that no lover
appears upon the scene.

Plain murder is often forgiven by a jury.
But murder combined with a love-affair is al-
most always disapproved. The fecling is that
somebody has been having too much fun. The
famous Miss Mary Blandy, of Henley-upon-
Thames, found certain obstacles in the way of
her marriage with Captain the Honorable Wil-
liam Cranstoun, a Scot of ancient lineage. One
of these—or, rather, two of them—were the
captain’s wife and daughter. More serious,
however, was her father’s dislike of Cranstoun.
Still, as Mr. Blandy was old and a man of
wealth, and as Miss Mary was his only heir,
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almost anything might happen. So the captain
sent his sweetheart some powders, described as
a “love philtre,” and supposed to awake, in the
old gentleman, sentiments of warmest affection
for military men in general and for Captain
Cranstoun in particular.

Miss Blandy administered these powders to
her father—in his tea and in his gruel—and
continued to administer them, even when, so far
from causing him to conceive a liking for the
captain, they merely made him very ill. Finally
he died of them; Cranstoun fled to Europe; and
the officers of the Crown hanged Miss Blandy
upon a gallows at Oxford. She died with nota-
ble modesty, however, remarking as she climbed
the ladder:

“Gentlemen, do not hang me high, for the
sake of decency!”

A hundred and forty years later in Massa-
chusetts a similar situation arose, with far dif-
ferent results. A lady of about Miss Blandy’s
age, and also the heiress of a wealthy father,
fell under grievous suspicion of having caved
in his head—and also that of her stepmother—
with a hatchet. Her name was Miss Lizzie
Borden, and the State showed evidence of mo-
tive, animus, opportunity and guilty knowledge
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of the crimes. Indeed, it has been very hard to
understand how anyone except the lady could
have committed the two murders, at an interval
of more than an hour, and escaped unseen.

Some cynical persons, weary of the hymns to
her innocence chanted by her admirers, sug-
gested that perhaps the old people murdered
each other. And a newspaper man offered the
sarcastic theory that the shocking wounds on
the heads of the victims should be disregarded
and, in view of the warm weather at the time
of the tragedy, the deaths should be put down
to heat prostration.

One thing, however, the law could not show,
and that was the existence of any love-affair.
Despite unsubstantial gossip, nothing appears
in the record about any entanglement with a
man. The jury had a fine disregard for logical
proof and preferred to rest on the theory that
what seemed unheard of, was therefore impos-
sible. The State asked them to believe that the
lady secretary of the Young People’s Society
for Christian Endeavor had, in broad daylight,
and in the manner of a Mohawk warrior, at-
tacked and slain two elderly persons with a
hatchet or an ax—one of the sufferers being her
own father.
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The gossip of some of the townsfolk, in order
to account for the mysterious absence of blood-
stains on her clothes, went still farther and ad-
vanced the fantastic theory that she had given
the scene an unusual flavor of indelicacy by
stripping herself stark naked before she com-
menced the slaughter.

This orgiastic touch does not appear, of
course, in the case for the State, but it is a fa-
vorite legend, always related when the tale of
the crime is told. It is even set down in print,
as if it were an accepted fact, by Mr. Algernon
Blackwood, the novelist of the supernatural and
the macabre. And this not in a novel, but in his
memoirs—i{rom his recollections of newspaper
days.

No lover appeared (except in vague gossip)
on Miss Borden’s even most distant horizon.
The jury promptly acquitted her amid the ec-
static applause of hundreds of persons, who
were content with the simple assertion that “a
woman couldn’t do such a thing.” The lady re-
tired to a life of affluence; to a pleasant villa,
to theatre parties, motor cars and improving
travel. And after thirty-five years of this agree-
able existence she passed on as serenely, and as
little troubled by horrific visions, I have no
doubt, as any of the rest of us.
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A woman couldn’t do such a thing! How
often that is said, even by persons who have
heard all that happened on that night in Mr.
Snyder’s bedchamber when Mrs. Snyder en-
tered with the picture cord and the window
weight.

4. If you commit murder for insurance
money or for mere pleasure make st wholesale.
Never stop at one.

This regulation bears with equal force against
men; women are not especially restricted at this
point. The person who kills some one obscure
individual, who does it quietly and with mod-
erate civility, is in a rather perilous position.
Perilous, that is, for a murderer. There are
about three chances in a hundred that he may
be executed.

It is the wholesale poisoner, or the shockingly
cruel and unusual murderer, who attracts the
sob sisters and sob brothers of the yellow press;
causes quack alienists to rally to his defense like
buzzards around a carcass; invites the windiest
oratory and the most unmitigated flapdoodle
from his attorneys; and finally, if he be con-
victed at all, makes thousands of persons move
heaven and earth, slander the living and vilify
the dead, in order to save his precious body
alive.
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Mrs. Lydia Sherman, who confessed that she
poisoned three husbands and eight children, has
been described in this book.

“Of course,” someone will say, “she was in-
sane.”

There is really no “of course” about it. She
was well aware of what she was doing, and was
careful to be furtive and to try to avoid detec-
tion. She never acted on an “irresistible im-
pulse” to kill these people; there was never a
time when she could not have controlled herself
if she had been observed. The deaths of these
persons brought her profit, or they relieved her
of care and annoyance. The qualities of selfish-
ness and callous disregard for others—qualities
present in all of us to some degree—were de-
veloped in her to an unusual extent, and she slew
people as you or I would kill a mosquito, or as
some folk will club an egret to death for its
feathers, or shoot a sea-gull pour le sport.

Sarah Jane Robinson of Massachusetts also
illustrates the fact that the poisoner when dis-
covered is usually no greenhorn at the business.
One or two successes always create boldness
and she proceeds upon her career.

Mrs. Robinson did not confine her efforts to
her immediate family, but went farther afield.



334 INSTIGATION OF THE DEVIL

In her enthusiasm for insurance and in her skill
with arsenic she is generally supposed to have
included in her attentions a brother-in-law, a
nephew, and even her landlord, a gentleman
called Oliver Sleeper. These, added to her hus-
band, her son and her daughter, brought her
total score up to at least six persons. It was on
account of the death of her brother-in-law,
named Prince Arthur Freeman, that the courts
at last put an end to her activities. When
it came to allowing a lady—“an American
mother’—to perish, the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts proved as tender as the rest and
Mrs. Robinson was permitted to retire to prison
and to loud and sanctimonious professions of
religion.

In the same state, Miss Jane Toppan, ‘“dear
Aunt Jane,” arose to a brief but disturbing
fame. Miss Toppan, whose real name was Ho-
nora Kelly—not all of New England’s sins
come from Plymouth Rock—was a nurse. She
was much in demand for her warm-hearted,
motherly, big-bosomed and gracious presence—
simply beaming with health and good spirits;
the very personification of healing. It is not
surprising if death sometimes follows the ar-
rival of a nurse: we do not call in these helpers
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for trivial ailments. Yet death seemed to fol-
low in strange and perplexing forms when dear
Aunt Jane was around. And when investiga-
tions began, the startled physicians and officers
were suddenly aware that they had pried the lid
off a section of hell into which none of them had
ever peered.

With a few exclamations the cover was
quickly replaced: Aunt Jane was put in an in-
sane asylum and the greater part of her history
remains unknown to this day. Except to a very
few, it was never known. To the established
facts, which account for four or five poisonings,
a great many robberies and one case of arson,
there is added, in legend and gossip, the tale of
an enormous list of murders—ten, twenty, forty
—which may or may not have any foundation
in fact. A nurse’s opportunities are many, yet
the popular tendency is always to exaggerate.

Four of her murders were committed within
forty-eight days and some of these seem to have
had no motive but sheer sadism. Yet the dis-
tinguished alienist, Doctor C. F. Folsom, who
vouched for her “moral insanity,” says that
from 1892 to 19goo—or the last eight years of
her career—she had the reputation of being
“the best nurse in Cambridge.” Furthermore,
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until her crimes became known, “of all the many
people who knew Miss Toppan there was not
one who . . . had the least thought of her be-
ing in any form or degree insane or a degen-
erate, defective, mental or moral imbecile, or,
poetically speaking, even a deviate.”

Of Mrs. Gunness, beloved and perpetual hero-
ine of the Sunday newspapers, and of her In-
diana “murder farm” it is unnecessary to speak.
Nearly everybody in America has heard of her
and her wondrous success in tempting middle-
aged Scandinavians and Teutons into putting
all their bank deposits into their pockets and
joining her in her rural home: object, matri-
mony. And of how these trusting gentlemen
thereupon vanished from human sight, never to
be met with again, until the exhumations began.

Mrs. Gunness never came into conflict with
the law. She disappeared. If she had been ar-
rested I have no manner of doubt that she could
have found a lawyer unscrupulous enough to
foul the characters of all her victims and repre-
sent her as a lamb of innocence. She could have
hired an alienist or psychiatrist to testify that
she played with dolls as a child and was, there-
fore, subject to a complex which made it impos-
sible to hold her responsible for anything what-
ever.
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Chocolate creams masked the deadly pur-
poses of the Englishwoman Christiana Ed-
munds and the American, Cordelia Botkin.
Each struck with a cruel disregard of conse-
quences; Miss Edmunds put strychnine in her
confections while Mrs. Botkin adhered to the
simple and inexpensive recipe so long favored
by lady poisoners: powdered arsenic.

Miss Christiana Edmunds conceived the bril-
liant notion of removing the doctor’s wife. That
lady was practically an-apple-a-day in Miss Ed-
munds’ life, since she was keeping the doctor
away from his adoring Christiana. She mod-
estly prepared her sweets and took them with
her to tea at the doctor’s house. The plan was
discovered, however, and both doctor and doc-
tor’s wife told Miss Edmunds, quite plainly,
that a gift of chocolate creams, plus strychnia,
constituted a breach of friendship which they
were not disposed to pardon.

How was the rejected one to regain favor in
their sight? A happy thought: simply by poi-
soning all, or nearly all, the chocolates at the
local confectioner’s and thereby, in the face of
a general slaughter of the townsfolk, put the
blame upon the confectioner. So she slipped
her deadly chocolates into his stock. Only one
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victim perished, however—a little boy—and in
spite of the judge’s remark about method in her
madness, the jury found Miss Edmunds to be
mentally incompetent.

Mrs. Botkin struck from across the conti-
nent. Her loaded bonbons travelled by mail
from California to Delaware and poisoned six
harmless people—four women and two children.
Two of the women died. All were unknown to
Mrs. Botkin, but one of them was the wife of
the California lady’s lover. Mrs. Botkin, thanks
to the uncertainty of the courts and laxity of
the law, spent some years—with many privi-
leges—confined in jail. Her husband’s name
was one of the incongruities of the case. In
view of her aversion from him, it is amusing
to learn that he was christened Welcome A.
Botkin.

Mrs. Fullam of Agra (whose astounding tale
was in the English newspapers in 1913) used
to write to Lieutenant Clark:

The way, not mine, O Lord
However dark it be;

Lead me by thine own hand,
Choose out the path for me.
I dare not choose my lot,

1 would not if T might;

Choose Thou for me, my God,
Then shall I walk aright.
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She would copy these model verses and add:
“These lines are just what my poor sentiments
now express, Harry darling, my own very pre-
cious sweetheart.”

All the Fullams and Clarks were queerly in-
spired when they took pen in hand. The lieu-
tenant used to write to his wife, saying:

“I am fed up with your low disgusting ways,
for I am quite sure you don’t care a damn what
becomes of me.”

Then he would sign himself :

“With fond love and kisses to self, and the
rest at home, I remain

Your affectionate husband,
H. L. Clark.”

The four persons in the tangle were Lieu-
tenant and Mrs. Clark of the Indian Medical
Service, and Mr. and Mrs. Fullam of the Mili-
tary Accounts Department. Mrs. Fullam was
purely English; the others, I believe, were Eu-
rasian. Clark and Mrs. Fullam, desiring the
total destruction of Mrs. Clark and Mr. Fullam,
contrived, not without difficulty, and the writing
of hundreds of incriminating letters, to slay Mr.
Fullam. It was during their campaign that Mrs,
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Fullam wrote the sentence about the soup, which
I quoted earlier in this chapter.

Clark was rather brutal in appearance and
manner. He was given, among other more
commonplace diversions, to the curious sport of
“duck fighting,” a fact which makes me form
a low opinion of his character. The man who
forces such agreeable birds into combat seems
to be somewhat lacking in the finer sensibilities.

The course of slow poisoning to which Mr.
Fullam was subjected was finally ended by
Clark. Under pretense of acting as his physi-
cian he killed the wretched man by injections of
gelsamine, an alkaloid poison.

A year later, the assassination of Mrs. Clark
was carried out by hired murderers in the em-
ploy of her husband. The actual perpetrators
were Indian natives, budmashes, or loafers from
the bazaar. Their fee for work of this kind is
very moderate ; they came into her room at night
and killed her with a sword. (The method of a
“brave man,” according to “The Ballad of
Reading Gaol.”)

When Mrs. Fullam’s bungalow was searched
the police found all the correspondence with
Clark. It revealed the entire plot: all this evi-
dence had been preserved with the same fatuous
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care with which Bywaters kept the letters of
Edith Thompson.

Mrs. Fullam was sent to prison and soon died
there. One or two of the budmashes were
hanged, and with them, I am glad to say, there
also died by the noose, Lieutenant Henry Lovell
William Clark, the patron of duck fights.
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APPENDIX
SOURCES AND NOTES

1. MRrs. WHARTON'S HoUSE-PaRrTY :

This lady’s brief celebrity is preserved in the “Trial
of Mrs. Elizabeth G. Wharton . . .,”” published by
the Baltimore Gazette, c. 1872.

She was also in the New York newspapers, and
was made the subject of an excellent critical essay by
John T. Morse, Jr., in the American Law Review
(July, 1872), reprinted in his “Famous Trials,” Bos-
ton, 1874.

2. THE CoLT-ADAMS AFFAIR:

This trial is reported in ‘“American State Trials,”
edited by John D. Lawson, LL.D., but the news-
paper, pamphlet and miscellaneous material is more
amusing. There is an “Extra” of The Sun, January
30, 1842, from which the picture of the fght is
copied. I have a “‘Life and Letters of John C. Colt”
—a pamphlet with a portrait on the cover. Mr.
Colt's face looks out through the most umbrageous
display of whiskers and hair that I have ever seen.
There was “An Authentic Life” published in Bos-
ton. The later writers—Dunphy and Cummings,
Sutton, and Alfred Henry Lewis—have described
the murder. Mr. Lewis's story is, as usual, interest-
ing, and mingled with fiction. Some of his varia-
tions from fact are unexplainable: the ship Kalama-
goo, for instance, in his telling becomes the Dalmatia.

3. WHAT Does A Murperer Look LIke?

The British members of this sextette are all in the
345
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“Notable British Trials.” Mr. Richeson is in Doctor
L. Vernon Briggs's “The Manner of Man that
Kills* The portraits of Mrs. Thompson, Doctor
Lamson, Major Armstrong and Ronald Tyne are
by courtesy John Day Company. That of Mr. Riche-
son by courtesy Doctor L. Vernon Briggs.

4. THE Wickep DUKE:

Among numerous sources in French is the “Cour
des Pairs de France, Assassinat de Mme. la Du-
chesse de Praslin. Procés-Verbal . . .”

Victor Hugo’s observations are in his “Things
Seen.”

The case is in Armand Fouquier's “Causes
Célébres,” and, in English, in Dunphy and Cum-
mings’s ‘‘Remarkable Trials,” and in Mrs. Belloc-
Lowndes’s “Noted Murder Mysteries” by ‘‘Philip
Curtin.”

5. Frve TiMes CoNVICTED:

The article upon which this chapter is founded was
in the American Low Review for July-August,
1922, under the title “The Strange Case of Ervin
Pope.”

Since my article was first printed, Mr. Sterne has
very kindly sent me some further details of this pe-
culiar and amusing affair. He writes:

A rather acute collateral issue in the case was
the question as to what became of a certain cap which
Pope was supposed to have worn when he visited
McClurkin’s mill the afternoon before the murder.
Numerous witnesses swore that he wore a cap at that
time. When arrested no cap was to be found. He
swore on the stand that the witnesses were mistaken
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and that he had not worn a cap on that occasion nor
possessed a cap at any time within recent years.”

After Mr. Sterne’s connection with the case had
ended, he happened to meet Mr. B., one of Pope’s
advisers. Mr. B. revealed the fact that on a visit to
the prisoner in jail, Pope had called him over to a
corner and remarked:

“Here is that cap that they have been talking about
so much.”

With these words, he gave Mr. B. a crumpled
package. On the way home in the train Mr. B.
opened the paper and found a blood-stained cap. To
the question, “What did you do with it?” Mr. B.
replied :

“I waited until the train was going over the river
and threw it out of the window.”

Mr. Sterne adds: “You can readily see, however,
why, when I was besought to recommend clemency
for Pope, I consistently refused to do so.”

He adds:

“In connection with the cap episode, B. told me
the manner in which Pope concealed the cap. To my
mind, it was a stratagem as brilliant in its simplicity
as the device which was employed in Poe's story of
‘The Purloined Letter.’

“Pope was out in his back yard—I presume, dis-
posing of various incriminating articles—when he
looked up and saw the officers approaching his house.
He had not yet disposed of the cap, but was wearing
it at the time. He knew that if found it would be
terribly incriminating. There was no time to hide it.
With a quickness of wit which must have been light-
ning-like, he stepped in the house and took off the
hat-rack his hat which was hanging there. He put
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this hat on his head, over the cap, and went out to
meet the officers. From that point on, whenever he
took off his hat he took off the cap with it. The of-
ficers searched him; they searched his house; they
searched the neighborhood; hour after hour and day
after day the men having Pope in custody searched
for that cap, and all the while Pope had the cap on his
head or within two feet of his person. Don’t you
think that was doing pretty well for an ignorant,
Alabama corn-field darky?

“You will recall that Pope is officially reported to
have escaped from the penitentiary, but rumor per-
sisted in the contention that the supposed escape was
a mere subterfuge, and, as a matter of fact, that he
was quietly put to death. Some years after his es-
cape was announced this same Mr. B. received from
a far western state a copy of a little newspaper which
called itself ‘The Rambling Word of God.” The sub-
head indicated that it was printed by a travelling
minister who published it when and where God’s will
permitted. (Pope, as is the case with many con-
demned negroes, became a preacher of the Gospel
while in jail.) Mr. B. thought that the folder en-
closing the publication was in Pope’s handwriting.
Furthermore, it spelled, or rather misspelled, his name
in a most peculiar way—the exact spelling which
Pope always used in writing to B. Another signifi-
cant circumstance was this: Pope always addressed
his letters to Mr. B. ‘Please your honour.’ This
newspaper was addressed to ‘Mr. B.—please your
honour—Anniston, Alabama.’”

6. For THE BorGia MEDAL:
The Messrs. Barclay & Co., of Philadelphia, evi-
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dently decided that they had no libel suits to fear
from Mrs. Sherman. They published her biography
as “The Poison Fiend! Life, Crimes, and Conviction
of Lydia Sherman (The Modern Lucretia Borgia)

. .7 The illustrations, also, are conceived in no
spirit of compromise. One of the more polite of the
pictures is reproduced with this chapter.

7. References in Text.

8. TuE TicHBORNE CaAsE:

My excuse for including a case so celebrated is
that there are few conveniently available accounts
in print. It was probably the most impudent attempt
in history to seize a great estate by fraud. In this
respect it was a predecessor of the Patrick case in
New York. The latter included a murder, but not
the ever-attractive problem of identity.

The masterly, brief account of the Tichborne case
is in J. B. Atlay’'s “Famous Trials"—now out of
print. The separate reprint of it may also be out
of print. I have consulted this, as well as Sergecant
Ballantine’s “Experiences”; the essay in John T.
Morse’s “Famous Trials”; and newspapers and pe-
riodicals of the time. My only original discovery, or
re-discovery, is modest if not trivial, but it was with
glee that I recognized in the Barrister, of “The
Hunting of the Snark,” the features of Doctor
Kenealy.

9. A YounG Lapy NaMEDp PERKINS:

The two pamphlets named in the text, and:
“Faith Gartney's Girlhood,” by Mrs. A. D. T.
Whitney, Boston, 1863.
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“A Summer in Leslie Goldthwaite’s Life,” by the
same author, Boston, 1867.

“The Ego and the Id (Das Ich und das Es),” by
Sigmund Freud, London, 1927.

“Aus der Geschichte einer infantilen Neurose,”
von Sigm. Freud.

“Hemmung, Symptom und Angst,”’ von Sigm.
Freud.

“Zur Psychopathologie des Alltagslebens (Uber
Vergessen, Versprechen, Vergreifen, Aberglaube und
Irrtum),” von Professor Doctor Sigmund Freud.

10. TaE FirsT BUTTERFLY OF BrROADWAY

“American State Trials.” Also many pamphlet
biographies of Robinson, as entertaining as they are
unreliable. Writers of the thirty or forty years fol-
lowing the crime had a luscious job in describing the
two principals. One crabbed old person—to judge by
his handwriting—Ileft a pencilled note on one of the
pamphlets, to say that Helen was not especially beau-
tiful, but was of a “peasant type.” In holy indigna-
tion, I erased his comment.

11. “You MURDERING MINISTERS!" :

“Trial of the Rev. Geo. W. Carawan . . . be-
fore the Superior Court of Law of Beaufort County,
North Carolina, Fall Term, 1853 . .. Together
with a Sketch of the Murderer’s Life . . ., New
York, 1854.

12. THAT DaunNep FeLLow UpsTAIRs:

Sir John Hall’'s admirable account is in his “The
Bravo Mystery and Other Cases.” I have also con-
sulted The Annual Register; The lllustrated Lon-
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don News; The Times; J. Irving’s “Annals of Our
Time,” 2d ed.; “Notes and Queries”; The Illus-
trated Times; and that curious and interesting work,
Boase’s “Modern English Biography.”

13. References in Text.

14. Was PoE A DETECTIVE?:

Doctor Thomas Ollive Mabbott, who knows much
more than do most people about Poe and his writ-
ings, has been good enough to read my article. He
finds no serious errors in it, and he seems to share
my suspicions of the confessions alluded to in Poe’s
later foot-note. He points out that the New York
Brother Jonathan (the newspaper which Poe calls
L’Etoile) gave much attention to the case, and that
there is a file of this in the American Antiquarian
Society at Worcester. Poe, however, combats the
notions of L’Etoile.

There have been numerous brief accounts of the
murder and Poe’s supposed solution. I believe that
the spiritualistic writer, Andrew Jackson Davis, de-
votes some chapters of his “Tale of a Physician” to
this crime.

My scepticism about confessions is strengthened
in this case by a publication from New Orleans, dated
1851, called: “A Confession of the Awful and
Bloody Transactions in the Life of Charles Wallace,
the Fiend-like Murderer of Miss Mary Rogers
. .." This work, like Toddie's description of the
fight between David and Goliath, is “all bluggy,”
but the author of it neglected to post himself on the
murder he wished to claim as his own. He did not
even know that Mary Rogers disappeared on a Sun-
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day, nor that she had already left the employ of the
cigar-dealer.

15. THE OccasioNALLY VEILED MURDERESs:

“Henrietta Robinson,” by David Wilson, New
York and Auburn, 1855.
“American State Trials.”

16. THE MaN PAys—SOMETIMES:

The Twitchells are splendidly treated in “The
Trial and Conviction of George S. Twitchell, Jr.,
. .., a pamphlet published in Philadelphia about
1869. From this work comes the picture of their

passage through the streets.

17. TRE HaNGING oF Hicks THE PIRATE:

Hicks is adequately described in “The Life, Trial,
Confession and Execution of Albert W. Hicks, the
Pirate and Murderer . . .,” published by Robert M.
De Witt, in New York, probably in 1860. The illus-
trations are charming, although the full-length draw-
ing of Hicks, smoking a cigar, looks disappointingly
unlike a pirate. He seems to be about six feet, seven
inches, and in his badly pressed trousers, frock coat,
and chin beard looks like a caricature of an Amer-
ican Senator in Punch.

Mr. Herbert Asbury’s very readable “Gangs of
New York” devotes some pages to Hicks, with an
account of the slaughter on board the E. A. Johnson.

18. THE Mysterious Murper oF CéciLe Com-
BETTES:

There is a report, in French, published in Leip-
zig, which, however, I have not seen. I have exam-
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ined the long essay in Armand Fouquier’s “Causes
Célebres” (Paris, 1858) from which come the two
pictures, and the English accounts in William Otter
Woodall's “Collection of Reports of Celebrated
Trials,” and James Fitzjames Stephen’s “General
View of the Criminal Law of England.” The case is
one of the most curious that I know, and it certainly
has not become hackneyed in this country.

19. E1GHT PROFESSORS FROM YALE:

There is good reason for believing that Amos
Cummings wrote the excellent reports of the Hay-
den trial for The Sun.

After the trial, Mr. Hayden published an “Auto-
biography” (Hartford, 1880) on the whole, a dig-
nified book.

A curiosity entitled “Who Killed Mary Stannard?
Two New Witnesses. Clairvoyance and Psychom-
etry Demonstrated,” was published by the author,
William Denton, at Wellesley, Mass., in 1880. The
author procured a lock of what somebody told him
was Mary Stannard’s hair. This was pressed to the
brow of a “sensitive’—a young man who was then
enabled to see visions and reveal the truth. The troub-
le with a lock of hair is the difficulty in determining
its provenance. See the adventures of the learned
Doctor Fian of Scotland.

20. THE TIrRRELLS OF WEYMOUTH:

“Report of the Case of Geo. C. Hersey, Indicted
for the Murder of Betsy Frances Tirrell, before the
Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts . . .,” by
James M. W. Yerrinton, Boston, 1862.
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21. THE “LEARNED” MURDERER:

“The Man of Two Lives! Being an Authentic
History of Edward Howard Rulloff . . .,” New
York, 1871.

“Life, Trial and Execution of Edward H. Rul-
Ioff, the Perpetrator of Eight Murders . . .,” Phila-
delphia, ¢. 1873.

There is much interesting information in “Rul-
loff, the Great Criminal and Philologist,” an address
by Honorable Samuel D. Halliday, before the De
Witt Historical Society of Tompkins County, N. Y.,
Ithaca, 1906.

A visit to Knaresborough, in England, caused
Goldwin Smith to set down in his “Reminiscences”
some recollections of Rulloff, the supposed Amer-
ican counterpart of Eugene Aram.

The learning of Aram, the English schoolmaster-
murderer, has also been exaggerated. The crime
which he committed has, perhaps, the most extensive
bibliography of any murder not a political assassina-
tion. In addition to everything else, plays, a poem,
and a novel were founded on it. Mr. Eric Watson’s
careful history of Aram (“Notable British Trials”)
also contains a brief bibliography of Rulloff, with
references to trials and to newspaper articles.

22. ACCOMPLISHED FEMALE LiARs:

The Trial of Miss Smith’s suit has been published
in London, but my acquaintance with it comes solely
through Mr. William Roughead’s amusing essay:
“The Ambiguities of Miss Smith,” in his book : “The
Fatal Countess.”

The case of Marie de Morell and La Ronciére is
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given in English in H. B. Irving’s “Last Studies in
Criminology.” In 1924, Maurice Talmeyr published
“La Ténébreuse Affaire La Ronciére.” Recently, a
German work, by Hans Aufricht-Ruda, partly his-
tory and partly that variety of fiction which is called
“psychological interpretation,” has been translated
and published in America under the title “The Case
for the Defendant.” For those who wish to learn
what is really known of Marie de Morell, and not
what some one thinks she thought, the essay by H.
B. Irving is recommended.

23. A RATHER MYSTERI0US CHANCELLOR:

A newspaper article, source and date unknown,
but written by James Parton, interested me in this
case. Information ahout the Chancellor is scattered.
I have consulted the newspapers of the time; Joel
Munsell's “Annals of Albany”; the “Memoir of
Thurlow Weed,” by T. W. Barnes; and “A Tour
around New York,” by John Flavel Mines.

24. THE DEATH OF GULIELMA SANDS:

William Coleman’s “Report of the Trial of Levi
Weeks . . . taken in short-hand by the Clerk of the
Court,” New York, 1800.

Coleman mentions, with indignation, two hasty
reports, which were rushed into publication. One was
by Hardie, which is said to be like that of Coleman.
The other, which Senator Lodge was unable to see,
is by Longworth : “A Brief Narrative of the Bloody
and Mysterious Murder of the Unfortunate Young
Woman in the Famous Manhattan Well.” The
writer of it sympathized with Weeks, but his pam-
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phlet is interesting chiefly as a curiosity. In the style
of some journalism of that day, practically no one
is mentioned by name.

The trial is in “American State Trials.”

The Manhattan Well Murder, as it is called, has
almost a “literature” of its own. You will be dis-
appointed by its supposed treatment in fiction, in
Theodore Fay’s “Norman Leslie.” With one or two
exceptions, what treatment of a real criminal case in
fiction is not disappointing? A writer who thought
that the acquittal of Weeks was a miscarriage of
justice discussec it in Harper's Magazine, May,
1872. Senator Lodge’s article, and Miss Ethel Par-
ton’s reply, are in The Outlook (N.Y.) for August
206, and September 16, 1911.

25. THE CRIME IN THE SUNDAY SCHOOL:

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts published
“The Official Report of the Trial of Thomas W.
Piper for the Murder of Mabel H. Young . . .,”
Boston, 1887.

My copy of this Report was, to some former
owner, whose name is unknown, an ‘‘association
copy” in agrim sense. He has annotated it, on part
of a blank page, with a description of the hanging
of Piper, which he witnessed. The execution took
place in the rotunda of the prison, in the presence of
spectators on the floor and in the galleries. The
Sheriff and his deputies, it is rather grotesque to
learn, were clad in dress suits, and silk hats; and the
Sheriff carried a sword in his hand, as the procession
marched across the pavement and ascended the plat-
form. Piper sat in a chair while the Sheriff read the
black-bordered warrant.
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This reading of the warrant to the condemned
man, at such a time, was a refinement of cruelty
which seems to have vanished. Bad as it was, it
may have been an improvement over the atrocious
custom of an earlier period. When Josiah Burnham
was hanged at Haverhill, N. H,, in 1806, for the
murder of two men, the Reverend David Sutherland
kept him waiting with the rope about his neck, while
he preached to him (and to about 10,000 spectators)
a sermon, an hour long. And it was far from an en-

couraging sermon, when it touched upon the next
world.

26. MR. SPOONER’S IN THE WELL:

The second volume of Peleg W. Chandler’s
“American Criminal Trials,” Boston, 1844, contains
the account upon which most of the later writers
have founded their descriptions. There is probably
pamphlet material, as well, but all that I have seen
are two mutilated copies of the gallows-sermon.

27. RULES FOR MURDERESSES :

Mary Blandy and Kate Webster, of course, are
in the “Notable British Trials.”” Mrs. Fullam has

been put into a book by Sir Cecil Walsh: “The Agra
Double Murder.”




































